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Performance Report 
Statement from the Accountable Officer and Chair 
During 2016/17 we have continued to work in our local communities to improve 
health services, patient experiences and clinical outcomes. This report details our 
performance throughout 2016/17 including our financial performance, governance 
and how we work with our partner organisations across the health and social care 
sector to achieve our aims. 

The performance report describes our objectives and strategies as a commissioning 
organisation and our successes. It outlines the projects we have led on and how they 
have improved healthcare in our communities. Examples of these are procuring a 
new integrated urgent care service, providing seven day services to improve patient 
experience, enabling high-need service users to gain control of their own integrated 
health and social care budgets via the Integrated Personal Commissioning (IPC) 
programme and helping pregnant mums and 0-3 year olds through the Fairer Start in 
Stockton scheme. 

It also describes our involvement in two key transformation programmes, 
Sustainable Transformation Plan (STP) and the Better Health Programme. 

The report also shows areas where our performance can be improved such as 62 
day and two week wait cancer waits and A&E performance. 

The financial section of this report shows that our resources have been appropriately 
and efficiently managed throughout the year and we have invested in a range of 
services including urgent care and mental health  

This year we have continued to build upon the success of Community Health 
Ambassadors initiative, an innovative way to actively involve local people in the 
decisions we make. The Ambassadors are recruited from different areas of our 
community to ensure we engage effectively with our diverse population. 

Whilst Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees (HaST) Clinical commissioning Group 
(CCG) and Darlington CCG have informally been working together since May 2015. 
From the 1 May 2016 we took the first step to bring together a shared management 
arrangement by my appointment as single Accountable Officer (known as the Chief 
Officer). 

We strongly believe that this collaboration will not only support the delivery of our 
statutory responsibilities but in addition help to deliver the transformational 
challenges and aspirations for our respective communities. The collaboration is 
intended to create two successful and sustainable organisations through shared 
learning and development. 
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We would like to take this opportunity to thank all of our staff and partners who have 
helped us to achieve our goals this year and our local communities who have helped 
identify local priorities and help shape our response to those. 

We hope that you find this Annual Report informative and interesting. If you would 
like to find out more about us or get involved in the work we do, further information 
about NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is available on our 
website www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk 

 

 

 

Ali Wilson Accountable Officer    Dr Boleslaw Posmyk, Chair 

30 May 2017 
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Performance Overview 
The purpose of the overview section is to enable you to understand the CCG, our 
purpose, our objectives and any associated risks to the achievement of those 
objectives. It also tells you how the CCG has performed during the year and should 
enable the lay user to have an overview of the organisation without the need to look 
further into the Annual Report. 

About Us 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG was established as a statutory body in 
April 2013 as a result of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The CCG is 
responsible for planning and purchasing a range of local healthcare services on 
behalf of patients across the Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees areas. 

The CCG represents all 36 GP practices across the two boroughs and our 
population of almost 300,000. Our headquarters are in the heart of the communities 
we serve at Billingham Health Centre, Queensway, Billingham. 

We are a clinically-led membership organisation made up of all the GP practices in 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees. We are committed to creating an accessible 
health service that provides safe, high quality care in the best place for our patients. 

We believe that good healthcare is everybody’s business and we are dedicated to 
developing effective working relationships with partners, stakeholders and the public 
to deliver more joined up healthcare that will benefit everyone. The services we were 
responsible for commissioning in 2016/17 include; 

• Mothers and newborn children 
• Mental health 
• Learning disabilities 
• Emergency and urgent care 
• Routine operations 
• Long term conditions 
• End of Life 
• Continuing healthcare 

The CCG has also had fully delegated commissioning of primary medical services 
(since 1st April 2016). 

The North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) provides a wide range of 
commissioning support on the CCG’s behalf to enable us to deliver our duties and 
priorities. It allows us to draw upon experienced commissioning support from 
experts. Due to the size and geography that NECS covers, they are in a good 
position to advise us, offer value for money and share best practice with us.   
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Our vision  
Our strategic vision that has provided the focus for our work during 2016/17 has  
been:  

To develop outstanding, innovative and equitable health and social care  
services, ensuring excellence and value in delivery of person centred 
care working across both health and social care 

Our aims  
• Work with our patients to promote and support healthy living and self-care  

• Involve service users, carers, staff, providers, partners and the public to develop 
services and reduce health inequalities  

• Work in partnership to transform services and ensure transparency through 
inclusion of all stakeholders to meet patient needs  

• Make use of and contribute to the evidence base that drives service transformation, 
embracing opportunities to innovate  

• Commission sustainable services as close to the patient’s home as possible  

• Ensure services are safe, high quality and cost effective  

• Plan and respond to the identified needs at a locality level for the residents of 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 

Our priorities 
The health of people in Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees is generally worse than the 
England average. Deprivation is higher than average with about 29.8% children 
living in poverty in Hartlepool and 21.9% in Stockton. Life expectancy for both men 
and women is lower than the England average.  
 
There are also higher rates of adult and childhood obesity, alcohol specific hospital 
stays amongst the under 18s and higher levels of teenage pregnancy, breastfeeding 
and smoking at time of delivery. Amongst adults the rate of alcohol related harm 
hospital stays is worse than the average for England as is the rate of self-harm 
hospital stays. The rate of smoking related deaths was is worse than the average for 
England and the estimated levels of adult excess weight, smoking and physical 
activity are worse than the England average. [Public Health England Health Profile 
2015] 
 
In common with other areas of the UK, we have a growing elderly population, many 
of whom suffer from a range of long-term conditions. 
Our strategic priorities for improvement in 2016/17 are; 

• Bringing care closer to home  
• Tackling health inequalities  
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• Caring for an ageing population  
• Addressing our priority health conditions  
• Improving quality in primary care  
• Ensuring quality and patient safety  
• Improving patient experience  
• Seeking best value for money within budget 

We prioritised the following areas in 2016/17 to improve the health outcomes of our 
population; 

• Cancer 
• Dementia 
• Diabetes 
• Learning disabilities 
• Maternity 
• Mental Health 

By working with our patients to promote and support healthy living, self-care and 
early intervention where this can deliver better health outcomes, we are:  
 

• Involving service users, carers, staff, providers, partners and the public to 
develop services and reduce health inequalities 

• Working in partnership to transform services  
• Working transparently and inviting feedback to ensure we meet patient needs  
• Driving service transformation and embracing opportunities to innovate  
• Commissioning sustainable services as close to home as possible  
• Planning and responding to the needs of residents 

Two year operational plan 
The CCG has developed a two year operational plan. Our joint management 
structure with Darlington CCG Group sees us coming together this year to produce 
an ambitious shared delivery plan along with a shared performance framework 
across the two CCGs; however as both CCGs remain separate Statutory Bodies, the 
subsequent operational plans will also remain separate, albeit with strong 
similarities. 
 
Across our three localities of Darlington, Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees we are 
committed to a health service that provides high quality and safe care to all local 
people that meets our growing challenges and helps us reduce the inequality that 
exists across our communities.  
This two year plan articulates how we will deliver transformation at scale and pace in 
order to deliver the requirements of the ‘Five Year Forward View’. Building on the 
progress already made during 2016/17 and focusing on the following areas;  
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• Further strengthening of our partnership working with all providers and 
other CCGs across our STP footprint in order to understand the shared 
opportunities and wider impact of our respective plans 

• Continue to build on our history of working in partnership  to drive 
improvements in the health and wellbeing of our local population 

• Detailing the quarter on quarter benefits of the transformation 
programmes we plan to deliver and the expected outcomes 
 

In June 2016 a vision of “meeting our communities needs now and for future 
generations, with consistently better health and social care delivered in the best 
place” was set at STP level. This was supported by a clear articulation of the 
challenges associated with an overreliance on hospital based services.  To do 
nothing is not an option.  
 
Our plan is ambitious, and will deliver a transformed system for our workforce and 
local population. We want to see everyone get healthier, but we want the health of 
the most vulnerable around us to be as good as that of the most fortunate. A finite 
budget and increasing demand will need us to make choices about the services we 
commission. Initially this will be focused on reducing unnecessary demand and 
reducing waste and inefficiency, whilst maintaining quality services. These are the 
challenges we must face up to. “We” being the GP practices, the patients, the 
community, the providers of services and other partner organisations we work with. 
“Good health is everyone’s business”. This will lead to better patient outcomes with 
shorter hospital stays, improved access to GPs and a financially sustainable system. 
  
These important points are at the heart of our strategic outcomes. These are difficult 
to achieve. We must have the confidence to take the difficult decisions. We must do 
the right things, in the right way, at the right time to meet the needs of the people.  
 
Reflecting that of the STP we will deliver a shift towards improving ‘population health’ 
- moving from fragmentation to integration in care delivery, but also tackling the wider 
determinants of the health and wellbeing of our population. Working together as a 
Health and Care system enables us to focus on early intervention and prevention, 
integration, reconfiguration of hospital based services, and technology.  
 

STP vision for 2020 
To date we have relied more on hospital based care than in other parts of the 
country.  We want to strengthen care delivered outside of hospital so that 
neighbourhoods, communities and individuals are able to take more control of their 
health and maintain independence for longer, whilst preventing or delaying the need 
for more services in acute and community care. 
 
We have ambitious plans to strengthen services delivered in primary care, attracting 
more GPs to the area and growing the work force, developing new roles that can 
support the primary care team to manage their workload, improve integration with 
social care and expand services that were previously provided in a hospital setting. 
The new model will enhance proactive care planning and delivery for patients at risk 
of hospital admission that require wider service support. 
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We will increase the number of services that are delivered outside of hospital 
settings.  We will be developing health and social care hubs each covering a 
population of 30,000 to 50,000 people.  Health and care organisations will work 
together in developing new models of care taking responsibility for the health and 
care of the population budget.  This new way of working will enable us to reduce the 
number of people that require admission to hospital.  When people require hospital 
admission they can often stay in hospital longer than is necessary so we are working 
closely as health and social care partners to improve support for patients leaving 
hospital, so that they can be discharged quickly when it is medically safe to do so. 
We recognise that we need a strong focus on creating sustainable nursing and 
residential care provision. 
 
We plan to strengthen links between health and social care commissioners.  Plans 
are being developed to integrate commissioning functions where it makes sense to 
do so and we want to build and encourage the development of the voluntary sector 
so they can support patient care in the community, ensuring health and social care 
services are used effectively. 
 
We will increase the number of patients and service users who have access to a 
Personal Health Budget enabling greater choice and control over their healthcare 
and the support they receive. These principles apply for both physical and mental 
health and service users with a learning disability. The improvements in services in 
our neighbourhoods and communities will impact on the way that our hospital based 
services will be delivered. 
 
In response to the vision of the STP and the focus on primary and community care, 
we have started to develop local plans that focus on the bottom two tiers of the STP 
vision, as identified in the diagram below. Local GP practice services and integrated 
community hubs. This is where we feel we can make local improvements to primary 
and community care, whilst supporting and working to achieve the identified overall 
vision of the STP. Local plans are aligned to the STP vision and have been 
developed to ensure that they support the wider STP proposed changes to higher 
complexity care. 

Our Achievements 2016/17 
Working across our local health and social care system 

We work with a broad range of stakeholders including healthcare service providers, 
neighbouring CCGs, Healthwatch organisations, Hartlepool Borough Council and 
Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council as well as community and voluntary 
organisations to ensure a joined up approach to the provision and resourcing of 
healthcare in our community. We know that by working closely with partner 
organisations who have similar priorities and challenges to ourselves we can achieve 
so much more. 

CCG 360 Survey 
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The CCG undertook a 360 survey with member practices and other stakeholders 
during April 2016. Headlines from the respondents included; 

• 73% feel that they have been engaged a great deal/fair amount by the 
CCG 

• 65% stated they were very satisfied/fairly satisfied about the way in 
which the CCG has engaged with them over the past 12 months 

• 70% rated the working relationship with the CCG as very good/fairly 
good 

• Only 28% believe the working relationship had got better/a little better 
• 63 % agreed/strongly agreed the leadership of the CCG has the 

necessary blend of skills and experience 
• 78% agreed there is clear and visible leadership of the CCG 
• 80% agreed there is clear and visible clinical leadership of the CCG 
• 58% had confidence that the CCG effectively monitors the quality of 

the services it commissions 
• 63 % agreed they had been given the opportunity to influence the 

CCG’s plans and priorities 
• 48% agreed the CCG’s plans and priorities are the right ones 

 
North of Tees Partnership Board 

The North of Tees Partnership Board acts as a Unit of Planning (where the various 
organisations who make up the health economy come together to identify strategic 
priorities, a Unit of Planning can include CCGs, Area Teams, providers, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and local authorities). The Board reviews and agrees its priorities 
and plans to deliver health and social care services that will improve health and 
social care outcomes for the people of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees.   

This ensures a co-ordinated approach to the delivery of Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans (STPs) locally; the 2 year operational plan; QIPP / efficiency 
programmes; Better Care Fund Plans; as well as a number of service improvement 
and related activities and initiatives developed by member organisations.  

The specific tasks of the Board are to:- 

• Oversee the delivery of the STP across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 
including associated annual plans and the Better Care Fund 

• Oversee, facilitate and guide associated projects  
• Successful deliver required service changes  
• Maintain high quality clinical, community and social care services whilst 

protecting the financial stability of the local health and social care economy 
• Co-ordinate and align all cross-organisational activities across the health and 

social care economy aimed at delivering service change  
• Raise awareness in relation to issues that might impact on the strategy and 

plans to deliver the programme of work 
• Agree contingency and risk management arrangements in the event that 

planned schemes do not deliver to agreed timescales.  
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• Coordinate and share how decisions will be taken within each organisation 

The outcomes of the Board are to:stockt 

• Agree a portfolio of projects and how they will be implemented to support the 
delivery of high quality, safe health and social care, improved productivity and 
cost efficiency. 

• Ensure financial sustainability for the health and social care economy 
• Deliver plans across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees (Unit of Planning) to 

support decision making across the relevant bodies and within local 
governance arrangements. 

• Align initiatives,  reduce duplication and streamline management and 
administration of initiatives across the health and care system 

Working with local voluntary and community services 

We continue to develop our working relationship with each of the local Healthwatch 
organisations. Healthwatch are members of our locality meetings and are 
represented on the CCGs primary care co-commissioning joint committee. 

Integrated Personal Commissioning – My Voice, My Choice  

Integrated Personal Commissioning (IPC) is a partnership between NHS England, 
the Local Government Association (LGA), the Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services and the sector partnership (ADASS) and Think Local Act Personal (TLAP). 
The IPC programme was set out in October 2014 and went live in April 2015 with the 
first wave of nine demonstrator sites including Stockton-on-Tees. The aim is to 
enable over 10,000 high-need service users to gain control of their own integrated 
health and social care budgets. 

The programme in Stockton-on-Tees focuses on people aged over 65 with a long 
term respiratory condition, in particular Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD). IPC is based on five core elements; 

• Improving an individual’s experience of care 
• Focusing on what is important to the individual rather than the system 
• Shifting control to the individual  
• Developing social capita at a community level 
• Development of a more diverse service offer to better meet the needs of the 

individual  

The CCG is working closely with Catalyst and the voluntary and community sector, 
Stockton –on-Tees Borough Council, North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation 
Trust (NTHFT) and people with lived experience to create an asset based 
community development approach, building a model of care with patients.  

As a result patients have developed a person-centred care planning approach with a 
multi-agency team including clinicians from primary care, secondary care, 
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community services, social workers and VCS organisations and peer leaders with 
lived experience. This approach has empowered patients and enabled them to work 
with clinicians and professionals to create person-centred, outcome focused, 
integrated care plans that are shared with all professionals involved in their care. 

A Fairer Start in Stockton 

A Fairer Start (AFS) is a community led approach to improving the lives of pregnant 
mothers and 0-3 year olds living in Stockton-on-Tees Town Centre. The initiative is 
funded jointly by the CCG and Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Public Health. 
AFS focuses on nutrition, cognitive development and speech and language 
development and offers a holistic approach to family health and wellbeing with an 
overall aim to improve life chances. 

AFS is managed by Catalyst, the voice, representation and support for Stockton-on-
Tees voluntary, community and social enterprise sector. It engages with partners 
from primary, secondary, community and social care including voluntary, private and 
public sectors to offer an integrated and unified response to the needs of local 
families. 

The Community Champions Programme is a three year project (now in year 2) 
delivered by Big Life Families as part of AFS. The Champion Programme includes a 
team of 20-30 volunteers representing a wide range of communities, ages, ethnic 
backgrounds, geographic areas and experience/skills, who work with families and 
local partners to increase social support in tackling isolation, provide 
earlier/consistent access to health appointments, signposting to local services, 
increase Early Years knowledge, support home child development, promote 
community empowerment and family independence. Local businesses and 
organisations contribute to the programme through volunteer placements and 
rewarding volunteers with free access to family activities.  
 
The AFS Workforce Development strand has progressed in 2016/17 with the 
implementation of a multi-agency Culture Change Training Programme (CCTP) in 
November which will launch the Personal Development Plan (Sector wide early 
years Competency Framework) and cover the below areas. The CCTP is crucial in 
motivating all professionals to work with and support families differently as per the 
AFS approach and includes keen commitment from managers/supervisors.  
 
The AFS approach has continued to influence Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council’s 
Children Centre review since Phase 1 in 2015/16, with a public consultation currently 
underway regarding the proposal to change Children’s Centres into ‘family hubs’. 
These will aim to have a volunteer/community empowerment focus which provides 
holistic, whole family support similar to the activities of the Champion Programme. 
 
Further to this, the AFS Steering Group are working with Stockton’s Children & 
Young People’s Partnership (CYPP) to improve Information Sharing processes 
between Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council and NTH Foundation Trust to better 
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integrate their family/community services and significantly improve outcomes for 
families. 
 
Working with member practices and clinicians 

The CCG continues to operate with the strong clinical leadership of local practices to 
commission and improve local services. Just as our clinicians’ experience gives us a 
deep insight into local health and care services, we recognise that users of these 
services, and the public play an equally important role in establishing the priorities 
we set and the decisions we take. 

GPs are central to organising and coordinating patient care. Their clinical leadership 
brings real added value to the commissioning of local services. As professionals 
working on the frontline with patients every day, Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 
clinicians understand the local health economy and are well placed to work with 
colleagues across health and social care to improve quality and outcomes for local 
people. Our GP members and clinical leaders are also attuned to their patients’ 
views and the choices they make in practice consultations. 

The CCG has two localities to reflect the needs of the two communities of Hartlepool 
and Stockton-on-Tees.  
• Hartlepool – Locality lead Dr Nick Timlin.  
• Stockton-on-Tees – Locality lead Dr Saleem Hassan  
 
The practice representatives from each locality have a responsibility to:  
• represent the needs of their patients  
• ensure that local intelligence supports improvements within quality and service 
provision  
• ensure that they take leadership of their aligned workstreams and support member 
practices to achieve the outcomes and ambitions. 
 
Practice engagement 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is committed to ongoing engagement with 
our member practices. In addition to regular Council of Members meetings we also 
hold Time Out education sessions and Clinical Reference Groups to seek clinical 
engagement on our commissioning plans.  

This year, our clinical reference groups have asked our local GPs and nurses to 
input into plans for new models of care featuring integrated community hubs, to 
design pathways of care for patients with diabetes and frequent urinary tract 
infections and also to finalise plans for a new team of care co-ordinators working in 
practices providing care plans for the most vulnerable patients. 

We have continued to build on our engagement with practice nurses and have 
offered four Nurse Time Out sessions in addition to our long standing GP Time Out 
events. Topics covered in 2016-17 include wound care, medicines management and 
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diabetes care. GPs have received training on Mental Health in older people, NICE 
guidance updates, Diabetes and the new local urgent care model.  

A new development for 2016-17 has been the provision of education sessions for 
practice clerical staff. As part of a Practice Medicines Management scheme, clerical 
staff from our practices have received education sessions to understand how they 
can tailor processes to reduce medicines waste and ensure prescriptions are 
handled systematically and safely within GP practices.  

GP Federation 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees’s local GP Federation is called Hartlepool and 
Stockton Healthcare (HASH), which is a collaboration of all 36 GP practices working 
together for the benefit of patients. 

HASH is responsible for delivering a range of services commissioned by the CCG 
including urgent care services and improving access to general practice.  

In 2017/18 we will continue to offer more GP appointments in Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees, provided by HASH. There are pre-bookable GP and nurse 
appointments available during evening and weekends. The service is available to all 
patients registered with a HaST GP practice and patients can make an appointment 
by calling their GP practice or NHS 111. 

Working with local authorities 

Hartlepool Matters 

In 2015, Hartlepool Borough Council set up a Working Group with the CCG to 
identify priorities for health and social care. The outcome of this work was used by 
the Hartlepool Health and Wellbeing Board and the CCG to develop a Hartlepool 
Local Health and Social Care Plan.  

The report, called ‘Hartlepool Matters! Shaping the Future of Health and Social Care 
in Hartlepool’ has been written by Professor David Colin-Thomé, the Independent 
Chair of the Local Health and Social Care Plan Working Group. The report was 
presented to the town’s Health and Wellbeing Board on 17 October 2016. 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
The CCG works as part of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) for each local 
authority. The HWB is responsible for understanding the health and wellbeing needs 
of local populations and co-ordinating the NHS, public health and social care in 
collaboration with other local agencies.  
 
Senior clinical leaders and the Chief Officer sit on the HWBs in each locality with 
Public Health colleagues and wider partnership groups. This ensures that there is 
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clinical and strategic awareness of the locality priorities which can be reflected in the 
health and wellbeing workstream and the CCG plans. 
  
The Health and Wellbeing Board is also represented at CCG Governing Body 
meetings to ensure an awareness of our commissioning priorities and plans 
including our annual report. We have an agreed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
for each locality based on our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment which clearly sets 
out our shared health and wellbeing goals for the next five years. 

As part of the consultation on the annual report a copy of the draft annual report was 
provided to the Chair of both Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Health and wellbeing 
Boards for their comments. Their responses and any issues have been incorporated 
into the annual report.  

Better Care Fund 
Dementia 

In 2014/15 the CCG agreed a Dementia Strategy which identified that, with an aging 
population it is expected that in five years the numbers of people with dementia will 
significantly increase, and the CCG needed to ensure that services and capacity are 
available to respond to this. The strategy which we have developed draws upon the 
concept of the ‘Dementia Journey’, described by Dementia Partnerships UK. The 
Dementia Journey helps focus thinking on the way dementia affects people at 
various stages and how support needs vary from stage to stage.  

In 2016/17 we have delivered key areas of the Dementia Strategy. Ensuring we are 
aware of all of those who have dementia is critical to the delivery of the right care at 
the right time to help people and their families deal with dementia. We have 
increased the dementia diagnosis rate from 78% in January 2015 to over 85%. The 
Dementia Strategy supports practices and highlights dementia identification and care 
during GP attendances.  

In line with the National Dementia Strategy, we are continuing to improve the local 
system so people affected by dementia:  

• Know where to go for help  

• Know what services they could expect  

• Seek help early for problems with memory  

• Get high-quality care and an equal quality of care wherever they live  

• Are involved in decisions about their care  

 To achieve this, we are committed to working in partnership with a range of 
colleagues from each local authority, Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
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Trust, primary care, voluntary and community sector and service users.  The Better 
Care Fund has supported a number of initiatives/ schemes including: 

Stockton: 

Dementia Awareness and Information: 

General awareness and information including a Delirium video a resource available 
for care homes and carers and advice and information leaflets. 

Hub and Dementia Advisor Service: 

Jointly commissioned the LiveWell Dementia Hub (the Hub) is now the central point 
of contact for dementia specific information and activities.  The ethos is based on the 
integrated community model by co-locating information and support services in one 
venue. 

Mental Cognitive Stimulation Therapy (MCST): 

This scheme aims to promote early intervention, cognitive function, psychosocial 
wellbeing, independence and the ability to cope with dementia.  It offers education, 
support and advice for carers to improve their resilience and encourage them to take 
short breaks while the individuals are having the MCST. 

Training for Professionals: 

Aimed at skilling up the workforce in terms of awareness of people with Dementia 
including: Housing, Telecare and Home Care Providers.  

Proactive Intensive Community Liaison Service (PICLS):  

Scheme to offer a proactive and integrated model of care to people living with 
dementia to support them to live at home as long as possible and reduce their risk of 
admission to hospital. 

Young at Heart: 

Provide social activities for people with Dementia and carers respite 

Hartlepool: 

The Bridge/ Dementia Advisory Service: 

The Bridge is a drop in and information centre for those living with dementia and 
their carers and also hosts the Dementia Advisory Service commissioned through 
the Hospital of God.  They also provide day opportunities to people with dementia, 
providing respite.   

Family leadership course with those living with Dementia: 
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Designed to consult and involve users and carers in policy and decision 
making.  Ensures ownership of condition and seeks to develop transferable skills 
within the community. 

A Dementia Liaison Service and Specialist Mental Health Worker 

Focused on supporting early discharge from hospital with an element of crisis 
management in the community. 

Multi-Disciplinary Service (MDS) in Stockton-on-Tees 
Since September 2015, a Multi-Disciplinary Service (MDS) has been operational in 
Stockton-on-Tees as part of the Better Care Fund (BCF) plans. Initially targeted at 
the over 65s, including people with dementia and particularly focusing on those with 
long term conditions and targeting interventions to reduce inequalities, the ambition 
is for this integrated approach to be rolled out to deliver services to the whole adult 
population.  
 
The MDS supports two distinct care pathways with the following aims: 

1. Delivering targeted early intervention and preventative approaches to reduce 
the individuals need for health and social care services and; 

2. Effective crisis management to ensure the individual can maintain their levels 
of independence and maximise their health and well-being. 

 
What makes this service different is that we have created a new team of people with 
skills across health, social care and the voluntary sector. Using a population based 
risk stratification tool to identify target population, every person identified as being at 
risk will have a joint health and social care assessment with a single care plan and a 
care coordinator responsible for ensuring that the plan is carried out, coordinating 
the persons care for up to 6 weeks.  
 
The services involved in the MDS are: 

• Community Integrated Assessment Team (CIAT) - supports patient discharge 
from hospital and provides preventative interventions to keep people safely at 
home. 

• Community Matrons which support GP practices and care homes. 
• Single Point of Access (SPA) - a centralised seven day contact centre for GPs 

to access health-based community services. From 1st August 2016 clinical 
input into SPA has been piloted. 

• Enhanced Integrated Community Liaison Team – for dementia. 
• Intermediate Care and Reablement 
• Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Front of House 
• Stockton Welfare and Advice Network 
• Falls Service  

 
The anticipated outcomes of the MDS are: 

• A reduction in the number of avoidable admissions to hospital 
• A reduction in the number of residents being admitted to nursing and 

residential care homes, from both acute and community settings 
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• A decrease in the number of delayed discharges and lost bed days from acute 
settings for those patients medically fit for discharge 

• Benefits of new ways of working for other teams and the potential to rollout 
the approach more broadly across health and social care 

• Improved patient experience 
• Faster response times and more integrated support to both individuals and 

their carers/families 
• Improved efficiency through streamlined care, reducing activities that are 

carried out by multiple organisations ensuring the right services are available 
in the right place. 

• Workforce development – development of shared skills and knowledge across 
health and social care 
 

Safeguarding 
The CCG has a close and effective working relationship with partner agencies which 
includes both Local Authorities and the police. We work closely together and share 
expertise to respond to early warning indicators, and address these in a timely and 
efficient manner.  
 
A multi-agency Performance Management Framework (PMF) has been accepted 
and adopted by all four Tees Local Safeguarding Children Boards and the CCGs 
Director of Nursing and Quality has been fundamental in chairing this group and 
driving forward this work to allow for its implementation. This provides a common 
data set for all agencies to collate, analyse and compare data to inform current and 
future practice to produce better outcomes for children.  
 
The CCG is a statutory member on the Hartlepool Borough Council Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB), Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (SLSCB), and the Teeswide Safeguarding Adults 
Board (TSAB).  
 
The Adult and Children’s designated leads attend the providers Safeguarding 
meetings and provide expertise and challenge to these groups. 
 
The Director of Nursing and Quality and Head of Quality and Adult Safeguarding 
nurses actively work with the Tees wide Safeguarding Adults Board.  The CCG 
works with the the Care Quality Commission in relation to provider quality concerns.. 
The CQC links include both the NHS providers and nursing home providers, so this 
involves additional close working across the Health and Social Care economy.. 
 
The CCG continues to actively engage with the residential and nursing home care 
providers and developed a quality incentive scheme. This has a number of aims 
including support to current providers of nursing care as well as encouraging other 
nursing home providers into the CCG catchment area. The CCG together with the 
BCF has commissioned NTHFT to deliver training to all care homes in the catchment 
area. 
. 
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The Designated Nurses for Children and Adults continues to seek assurance from 
provider services relating to performance and has refreshed the Local Quality 
Requirements to include Special Educational Needs and Disability.   
 
The Designated Nurse offers expert advice in relation to safeguarding children and 
looked after children. This involves participating in a variety of multi-agency sub-
groups and currently chairing the Hartlepool Learning Improving Practice sub group 
and Stockton’s parental mental health sub group. A Looked After Children forum is 
run by the designated nurses involving the provider Trusts gaining assurance that 
the needs of these children are being addressed and effective services are being 
delivered. Further assurance is sought from the compliance rate of the key 
performance indicators discussed at the Clinical Quality Review Groups. 
Collaborative work between the CCG and provider Trust has been effective in 
improving the compliance rates of health assessments for looked after children. 
 
Across the reporting period there have been safeguarding reviews, inspections and 
assurance exercises undertaken by NHS England, CQC and Ofsted. These have 
included the following: 

• two extensive exercises undertaken by NHS England relating to safeguarding 
adults and children and looked after children (April and May 2016) 

• an Ofsted inspection for Stockton Local Authority which the CCG contributed 
to and participated in (June 2016) 

• a CQC and Local authority local area inspection for children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) involving Hartlepool Local 
Authority and HAST CCG (October 2016) 

• an audit of safeguarding arrangements by Audit One (December 2016) 
 
The learning from these reviews is being addressed through single and multi-agency 
approaches as appropriate, based upon the recommendations and responsibilities of 
each agency. 
 
Response to national drivers continues, such as mandatory reporting of Female 
Genital Mutilation in children. The Channel Duty guidance and PREVENT strategy 
from HM Government have been disseminated to GPs and work is ongoing to 
progress compliance with the NHS England PREVENT Training and Competencies 
Framework. 
 
The Head of Quality and Adult Safeguarding attends the Teeswide Silver PREVENT 
group and the Regional PREVENT group.  She also attends the regional NHSE 
group in relation to Deprivation of Liberty and Mental Capacity. 
 
The Adult Safeguarding leas has also ensured that all health care professionals have 
a copy of the Adult Safeguarding information booklet and the 
app www.myguideapps.com/nhs_safeguarding   
 
The adult and Children’s safeguarding leads attend the LA domestic abuse strategy 
groups and have been contributing to the Domestic Abuse Strategies in relation to 
Domestic Abuse. 
 

http://www.myguideapps.com/nhs_safeguarding
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The named GP is continuing with a work programme in primary care. Visits to GP 
surgeries are undertaken and stakeholder links established with partner agencies. 
Peer engagement sessions continue to be held on a 2-3 monthly basis with lead 
GPs safeguarding children. This work has included producing and disseminating GP 
bulletins identifying issues such as;  
• Information sharing (including SystemOne and other electronic records) 
• Child sexual exploitation risk assessment tool 
• Non-accidental injuries in immobile babies and children (including SAFER form)  
• Domestic abuse, substance misuse and mental health 
• Looked after children and adoption 
 
A Safeguarding Children officer supported the designated nurse role and programme 
of support visits to primary care. This post is currently vacant and is to be advertised.  

Integrated Urgent Care Service 
The CCG has procured a GP led service provision for Integrated Urgent Care which 
from 1st April 2017 will provide services 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 365 
days a year including bank holidays and public holidays to deliver a timely, highly 
responsive, joined up care that encompasses what was traditionally referred to as 
minor injury, urgent primary care walk-in provision and GP out of hours services.  

The Integrated Urgent Care Service will be provided at two venues, one at University 
Hospital of North Tees, alongside A&E and one at University Hospital of Hartlepool. 
The service will provide assessment, diagnosis and treatment for service users who 
present with an urgent care issue and enhanced out of hours elements of care such 
as Home Visiting and Prison visiting as part of the integrated model. 

The North Tees and Hartlepool Local A&E Delivery Board (LADB) replaces the 
System Resilience Group (SRG) and acts as a forum where partners from across the 
health and social care economy together to discuss strategic aims, objectives and a 
whole system approach in relation to improving A&E performance.  This 
transformation was mandated by NHS England in their correspondence to CCG 
Accountable Officers in July 2016 following a review of SRGs which identified the 
need for local leadership structures to focus specifically on Urgent and Emergency 
Care, and to be attended at the Executive level by member organisations. The 
County Durham and Darlington LADB was formed in September 2016 with Julie 
Gillon, Deputy Chief Executive, NTHFT as Chair and Ali Wilson as Vice Chair to 
deliver the national A&E Improvement Plan. 

The LADB takes a whole system approach to improve A&E performance. Primarily 
this is about recovery of the 4 hour target but the LADB is also working with 
Sustainable Transformation Plan (STP) groupings and the Urgent and Emergency 
Care Network (UECN) on the longer term delivery of the Urgent and Emergency 
Care Strategy. 
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We obtained additional funding to aid pressures during the winter period where 
demand for services increases due to inclement weather and winter illnesses, in 
particular for frail elderly patients. We implemented a number of schemes to help 
alleviate pressures upon services, including:  

Increased decision making in A&E – in order to increase the number of senior 
decision makers at peak times in the A&E Department to support the assessment of 
patients. 

Workforce resilience – which has provided additional resources to the hospital Trust 
in order to manage pressure in the hospital, as we know that over the winter period 
there is significant pressure within the hospital due to the number of patients who are 
admitted. 

Access to primary care at bank holidays – which has meant that patients can call 
111 and gain urgent appointments with their GP to avoid people attending urgent 
care centres or going to A&E. These have been provided on each bank holiday, the 
day preceding and following each bank holiday at a number of what we refer to as 
‘hub’ practices so that patients would see a GP, but not necessarily from their own 
practice. 

Care co-ordinators – are working with each GP practice to offer additional support 
and care planning to those patients who are more at risk of being admitted to 
hospital than other patients. The co-ordinators will: work with each patient for a time 
limited period to develop a care plan which is supported by the patients GP; link in 
with other services which may be available to provide support; and engage with 
patients and their families about how to manage their health utilising the support 
within their care plan. 

Hospital discharges – additional resource has been provided to local authorities in 
order to offer a responsive care at home service for patients who had care at home 
support prior to being admitted, to ensure there are no delays because of this, when 
being discharged from hospital 

Additional assessments for patients  

We worked with colleagues in our mental health and acute Trusts to support the 
timely assessment, care planning and support for predominantly elderly frail adults 
with confusion, delirium and/or diagnosed or suspected dementia. This ensured that 
people received a rapid assessment, a care plan and were able to return home as 
soon as possible to reduce the time that people needed to stay in hospital for.  

Clinical Hub  

We have invested further in the regional clinical hub, which provides clinical support 
in the form of GPs, Nurses and other specialists to triage calls and offer clinical 
advise to patients coming through 111 and 999 to ensure that patients receive the 
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most appropriate services when they need them, this could include attending a 
pharmacy for self-care, seeing a GP or attending an urgent care centre as examples. 
Clinicians have access to a local directory of services which means that information 
provided clearly links to those that are available to where the patients live.  

Stay Well Winter Campaign 

As a North East region, all CCGs have worked together to develop a regional 
marketing campaign for winter. This work was developed using a social marketing 
approach using the insight developed through the behavioural analysis as part of the 
North East Urgent and Emergency Care Network. 

The campaign used ‘plasticine people’ will help to highlight good self-care, raise 
awareness of the expert advice available free at every pharmacy in the region, and 
promote the new NHS Child Health app, which helps parents of under-fives look 
after their children’s health.  

The campaign started on 14 November, to coincide with National Self-Care Week 
and will continue until the end of March 2017. 

The CCG also supported the Stay Well this Winter campaign which was launched by 
NHS England and focused on people aged 65 years and over or people with long-
term health conditions and their carers, family and friends to take specific actions to 
stay well over the winter, including seeking advice from a pharmacist at the first 
signs of illness and having the flu jab. 

Mental Health 
A new national performance indicator around first episode psychosis implemented. 
The requirement with the indicator is that 50% of people referred with a first episode 
of psychosis are to be seen by a specialist early intervention in psychosis team and 
offered NICE concordant treatment within 2weeks of referral. Although the target of 
50% appears low there are very specific rules around this target, which includes all 
referrals and does not exclude did not attends (DNA’s)  

The CCG have undertaken detailed work around the incidence of first episode 
psychosis, identifying the areas where additional resource is required in 2017/18.     

The position with this target at the end of February 2017 was 82.95%. There was an 
assurance visit that took place in relation to this indicator, where Tees, Esk and 
Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) were identified as delivering at a good 
standard with the potential to be an outstanding organisation in 17/18.  
The Recovery College and Stepping Forward service were reviewed in 2015. The 
review resulted in the development of a new specification.     

The new specification was developed following extensive engagement with service 
users and stakeholders, which was carried out in both Hartlepool and Stockton. A 
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key feature of the service is to engage clients in the process of recovery regardless 
of where they are in their mental health journey.  

A new service was procured and awarded in September 2017 and went live in 
November 2017. 

Within the first quarter of delivery 

• The service received 87 new referrals 
• 29% were self- referrals and 3% from G.P’s. 
• 11 people have been discharged from the service following completion of 

treatment 
• The service have achieved all KPI’s 

To develop an understanding of the level of need within primary care, relating to 
Medically Unexplained Symptoms (MUPs). Also to raise the awareness of MUPs 
within primary care in order to improve management and outcomes for patients 

Also worked with the network to develop a project brief to be submitted to the health 
academic network, to gain resources to roll out a pilot in primary care to understand 
need, and test new ways of working with this cohort of patients. 

The bid for funding was successful and a pilot project is going to be implemented in 
early 17/18- the aim of the pilot will be to; 

• To improve management of patients with MUPS in primary care. 

The objectives with this pilot will be to  

• To reduce the burden on GP services 

• To increase GP understanding of MUPS and raise awareness of alternative 
treatment options 

• To improve the patients’ experience of care by receiving more appropriate 
treatment 

• To improve overall healthcare outcomes for patients. 

The pilot will be tested in a HAST practice and then rolled out to a further two 
practices in 17/18 

Improving Access to Physiological Therapies 
There is a requirement for CCG to improve access to psychological therapies, 
ensuring access is within a timely manner and recovery rates are maximised. The 

Collaborated with the clinical network, in developing a training session that could be 
delivered to primary care.  
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targets which are set nationally around this are for 15% percent of the population to 
have been reached, for 75% of the population to have received treatment within 
6weeks and 95% of the population to have received treatment within 18weeks. 

There is currently an any qualified provider (A.Q.P) framework in place, offering 
choice of five providers currently. A number of the providers have struggled to 
achieve the targets which have been set out, however they have been supported 
through provider management through the use of action plans in an attempt to drive 
up performance. 

The activity in relation to the national targets as at the end of February are below; 

Access- 21% exceeding the national target and putting HAST in a good position 
when that target is stretched. 

6 Week access- 81% again exceeding the national target- work continues with those 
providers who are struggling with this target as a single organisation 

18 Week access- 99% again exceeding the national target-    work continues with 
those providers who are struggling with this target as a single organisation 

Recovery- 50%- this target is only just being achieved, there is work to support 
organisations with this target and will be considered with the re-procurement of the 
IAPT service. 

Transforming Care: Review of Respite Services for People with Learning 
Disabilities and Complex Needs 
 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG NHS South Tees CCG are working 
together to carry out a review of health respite services for people with learning 
disabilities and complex needs, and their families and carers, across Teesside. 

The review will focus on health respite services for people with complex needs. 
There is an Easy Read summary of the review in the document below. 

The CCGs are working in partnership with the four Local Authorities across the 
South Tees and Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees areas to ensure that the review 
considers complex health and social care needs. 

The review will ensure that health respite services appropriately meet the needs of 
the local population now and into the future. It is being carried out in the context of 
the Transforming Care programme. 

Transforming Care is a programme of work to enable more people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism who have complex needs to live in the community, with the 
right support and close to home.  
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Both Transforming Care and the NHS Five Year Forward View include a strong 
emphasis on personalised care and support planning, personal budgets and 
personal health budgets to put people at the centre of their care to enable maximum 
choice and control about how their own needs are met. 

The review of health respite services for people with learning disabilities will help the 
CCGs to make sure that families and carers of people with learning disabilities and 
complex needs are supported, valued and recognised within their roles. 

As part of the review, the CCGs want to talk to people with learning disabilities and 
complex needs, and their families and carers, to understand more about: 

 What the expression ‘respite services’ means to them 
 What they think works well with current respite services 
 How they think respite services could be improved. 

 
Engagement activity took place from December 2016 until the end of February 2017. 
This included discussion groups and questionnaires. The aim is to ensure that 
people with learning disabilities, their families and carers are influential in the 
development of appropriate services to meet their needs now and into the future. 

To ensure that people with learning disabilities and complex needs can have their 
say, the CCGs have worked in partnership with Inclusion North, a not-for-profit 
organisation that promotes the inclusion of people with learning disabilities, their 
families and carers. 

The engagement activity has helped to inform the development of a number of 
possible ‘scenarios’ for the provision of health respite services for people with 
learning disabilities in the future. These scenarios will be ideas on how learning 
disability respite services could be further developed or delivered differently to best 
meet the needs of the local population. 

Any proposals for significant change will be subject to formal consultation with 
people who use respite services and the wider public. If any proposals for change 
are not significant, these will be subject to a further period of informal engagement, 
as opposed to formal public consultation. 

The CCGs have produced a ‘‘Respite Needs and Responsibilities’ paper. This 
contains background information that will help people take part in the review. 
 

Assisted Reproduction Unit (ARU) 
Following NTHFT advising the CCG that they could no longer deliver a safe and 
clinically effective assisted reproduction service (IVF, IUI) at University Hospital of 
Hartlepool we, along with NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG, NHS 
Darlington CCG and NHS South Tees CCG undertook a formal public consultation 
between 31st May and 15th July 2016.  

Unfortunately, due to a limited response from the provider market and the bids 
received not meeting the required quality standards, we were not successful in 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/HaST_STees_RespiteReview_Engagement_NeedsResponsibilities_Final_191216.pdf
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securing a provider that can offer both licensed and unlicensed fertility services at 
Hartlepool. 

The priority of the CCGs is to ensure that patients can continue to have as much of 
their care delivered locally at the Hartlepool site and on this basis we are working 
closely with existing NHS commissioned providers in the region to deliver unlicensed 
services at the Hartlepool site. The proposals include: 

 
Model 1 Shared protocol of unlicensed treatment delivered from University 
Hospital Hartlepool with licensed element at Gateshead or Newcastle- Patients 
will have a choice of provider of licensed services following this pathway; reducing 
the additional travel time for the majority of appointments/treatments for those 
patients wishing to choose either of these providers  

 
Model 2 Unlicensed treatment delivered form University Hospital Hartlepool 
and all elements of assisted fertility by patient selected provider - Those 
patients accessing NTHFT for unlicensed treatment, who are then identified as 
requiring licensed Assisted Reproductive Services, and who choose South Tees 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (STHFT) as the contracted licensed provider would 
immediately commence their pathway at STHFT.  This would mean a patient having 
all appointments and treatments for their licenced care provided at the James Cook 
site. 

Musculosketal (MSK) Service 
 

A new model of care was agreed and implemented from 1st July 2016. 

GPs were informed that: 

• All referrals to orthopaedics (apart from red flags / exclusion 
criteria) should be initially directed through MSK – this includes 
referrals for joint injections. 

• Exclusion criteria including red flags should still be referred 
direct to secondary care. 

• Conditions treated, exclusion criteria and red flags have been 
updated on Choose & Book and circulated to clinicians for 
information. 

• Patients who require onward referral from MSK will be offered 
choice at point of referral from MSK including independent 
providers. 

• Referrals sent direct to orthopaedic secondary care including 
both NTHFT and Independent Providers would be returned to 
GPs. 
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Up to December 2016 this has resulted in a significant increase in referrals to MSK 
across both localities however waiting times have not increased and are consistent 
at an average of 4 weeks. 

An impact is also being seen in orthopaedic Day Case and new activity with a 
combined reduction in both activity and cost.  This has also had an impact on 
Referral to Treatment times with orthopaedic figures showing an improvement since 
the implementation of the single point of access MSK service. 

Stakeholder engagement 

Work is ongoing with stakeholders in both primary care and the community 
service.  Regular meetings have taken place with the MSK service to discuss 
progress and understand potential issues or concerns at an early stage to find 
a solution.  The MSK service is very keen to engage with Primary Care and 
happy to accept queries / comments from GP practices direct. 

Engagement with GP practices, including Practice Managers and key admin 
staff, took place ahead of the launch date for the Single Point of Access and 
has continued with further GP lunchtime engagement sessions booked for 
April and May.  GP practices can raise queries either with their aligned 
Commissioning Support Officer (CSO) or direct with the MSK service to 
ensure early resolution.  There remain a number of direct referrals to 
orthopaedics from GP practices however this is steadily decreasing. 

Working in partnership with the orthopaedic department, the MSK team receive 
“rejected” referrals from orthopaedics i.e. those referrals received direct from GP 
practices that have not been triaged through MSK.  The MSK service then send a 
report of these referrals to commissioners and work is planned with individual GP 
practices where required to ensure understanding of the new pathway. 

Regional Back Pain Programme 
We are part of the North of England Regional Back Pain Programme. The 
programme will involve implementing an evidence-based, comprehensive care 
pathway that integrates care from the GP surgery through to the specialists in 
hospital. 

Cancer Services 
We continue to achieve high standards with regard to meeting cancer waiting time 
targets. We are proud of these performance figures, but also recognise that 
opportunities exist to improve the outcomes of those affected by cancer in 
Darlington. To support this process, a review of cancer services has been started 
and is initially focusing on improvements regarding the earlier diagnosis and quicker 
treatment of lung cancers, and increasing local outcomes for colorectal cancers. The 
review is working across primary and secondary care to develop these 
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improvements, so that patients are diagnosed, treated and supported more 
effectively and have better outcomes.   

The aim of the review is to improve the outcomes for those affected by cancer and 
ensure that the CCG’s future commissioning plans are sustainable, of high quality, 
and consistent with changing national requirements to ensure we are able to deliver: 

• improved outcomes for people affected by cancer in Darlington through the 
commissioning of effective and efficient cancer services provision in the area; 

• increased quality of services for people affected by cancer and improving patient 
experiences of cancer services throughout their journey; and 

• improved outcomes relating to <75 years mortality rates 

Frail Elderly 
In order for the CCG to better manage and support frail older people we continue to 
implement the agreed 5 year Frail and Elderly Strategy (agreed in 2014/15). We 
work closely with GP practices to identify those people who are frail, using a simple 
assessment to identify the level of frailty for patients over the age of 65.  

Care Home Quality Incentive Scheme 

To complement the current quality assurance audit process undertaken across the 
adult nursing residential homes an incentive scheme was developed that will reward 
nursing care home providers for demonstrating improvements in the quality of clinical 
care provided.  

The aim of the Quality Incentive Scheme (QIS), which went live 1st April 2016, is to 
drive up the clinical quality of care that is being delivered across adult nursing 
residential homes in Hartlepool and Stockton supported by a Clinical Quality 
Assessment Tool (CQA). Following an assessment within the nursing residential 
home an action plan is developed in discussion with the care home manager and 
Clinical Quality Assessor.  

The scheme aims to improve clinical quality across the following clinical domains: 
Care planning, medication, continence, end of life, falls, dementia, infection, 
pressure care management, nutrition and hydration, patient experience, activities, 
and supervision and leadership. 

Upon delivery of the action plan providers will receive an additional 5% of the FNC 
rate for increasing the quality of care being delivered to the targets set out in the 
QIS. Nursing residential homes must sign up to all elements of the scheme including: 
an initial assessment visit, the production of the action pan, delivery of the action 
plan and evidence submission/assessment. 

In addition to improving quality of care, the other outcomes of this scheme are: 
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• Health and wellbeing and independence should be promoted 
• Residents and carers will be supported to self-manage their condition and to 

maintain a healthy lifestyle 
• A reduction in the number of avoidable admissions to hospital 
• Improved resident experience 

 

End of Life 
The CCG continues to progress and address the priorities set out in the five year 
Strategy for End of Life Care which set out the vision and plan to improve the 
services and experience for people across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees who are 
nearing the end of life.  Key initiatives and schemes delivered in 16/17 include: 

• Ensuring the ‘Care of the Dying Patient’ documentation is being effectively 
used across all key organisations including the hospital, primary care, 
ambulance service and care homes 

• Development of a Palliative Care Transformation and Locality Group to 
ensure that end of life care for across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees is 
personalised and well-co-ordinated, enabling real choice for individuals 

• A Care Home Training and Education Programme which includes specific 
sessions on End of Life to increase confidence and the quality of care 
provided  

• A second year of the Primary Care End of Life Education Programme for GPs 
which focused on a number of key topics 

• Visits by the CCG Macmillan GP to all GP practices to share best practice, 
promote the early identification and improve the care of End of Life patients 

• Additional investment in mental health services for care home residents with 
dementia to facilitate informed decision making relating to future care 
including end of life care 

 

Health and Wellbeing 
We continue to work with our local partners to promote healthier lifestyles and to 
support the longer term wellbeing of all our patients. In particular we have worked 
with the Voluntary Development Agencies through grant funding to support the 
VCSE sector to commission a range of projects to contribute to improving physical 
and mental health. These projects accept referrals from numerous sources and 
provide advice and support on a range of issues such as housing, health, welfare, 
social and community. 

Partnership working is a key element for the CCG and this year we have worked with 
Cleveland Fire Brigade so that they can conduct “safe and well” visits. These 
structured contacts allow vulnerable members of the community to have their homes 
fire assessed as well as directed to health and social care services that can help to 
maintain their health and well-being. We have also worked to raise the profile of 
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domestic abuse and the impact of smoking and alcohol on our patients in the 
medium and longer term. 

We know that many of our patients have existing long-term conditions such as 
respiratory disease or diabetes that will require support. The best way for many 
patients to look after themselves and their independence is to make them feel 
confident that they can manage their own condition. We have therefore 
commissioned a number of support programmes for patients, which they can access 
at various stages of their diagnosis and condition. We are also aware that many 
practices also provide similar advice and support to patients on an on-going basis. In 
addition we are one of nine national demonstrator sights for Integrated Personal 
Commissioning, this initiative will support people with COPD to hold their own budget 
and take control of their care planning.  

In addition to the above we have worked with our partners to bid for national 
transformation funding for diabetes and cancer. These bids if successful will allow 
the CCG to progress our plans at pace so for example we can enhance earlier 
diagnosis for key tumours and improve the support given to people after their cancer 
treatment has ended.  

The prevalence of obesity in England is increasing at all ages; almost two-thirds of 
adults and one-third of children are either overweight or obese. It is directly 
associated with many different illnesses, chief among them insulin resistance, type 2 
diabetes, metabolic syndrome, hypertension and several types of cancer. Following 
the launch of the national Childhood Obesity: A Plan for Action, earlier this year, we 
will now work towards an effective weight management pathway along the whole life 
course. 

Flu Campaign  

As a CCG, we supported the NHS Flu campaign encouraging those who were 
eligible for the free flu vaccination to take up the offer. It was predominantly targeted 
at those with long-term health conditions, pregnant women and parents of children 
aged 2-4. The message was promoted through planned media including 
supplements in local newspapers as well as in GP columns, via the CCG website 
and e-bulletins to key stakeholders.  

Better Health at Work Award  

Ensuring the health and wellbeing of CCG staff is a high priority for the CCG and to 
this end in 2016 we were successful in achieving the Better Health at Work Silver 
award. 

Prescribing 
The decision to prescribe is the most common intervention in the NHS.  Hartlepool & 
Stockton-on-Tees CCG work collaboratively with other health professionals and 
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social care providers to deliver evidence-based cost effective use of medication to 
maximise patient outcomes from medication prescribed to them. This is facilitated 
through the Tees Medicines Governance Group (TMGG) and the Northern 
Treatment Advisory Group (NTAG). Within the last year, these processes have 
produced key clinical guidance for our prescribers for example in chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease which has high prevalence within our CCG. 

All CCG member practices receive practice-based prescribing support which 
includes audit work to support implementation of NICE guidance and medication 
related issues in general practice, support to encourage prescribing decisions in line 
with the Tees formulary and monitoring and analysis of prescribing patterns.  Over 
the past year practices have been supported to review repeat prescribing systems 
and processes, focusing on reducing avoidable waste, which will continue into 
2017/18.  

Medication review is a key element of the practice-based workplan, where 
pharmacists and technicians work with practices and care homes to ensure the safe 
and effective use of medicines and to reduce the likelihood of medication-related 
hospital admissions.  To the end of quarter 3 2016/17, over 2600 individual patient 
medication reviews had been carried out by the team, generating over £171,000 of 
annual medication savings. 

A prescribing support tool, Optimise Rx, provides pop-up information messages to 
support decision making at the point of prescribing, based on local and national best 
practice guidance, clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness.  The Tees formulary 
and medicines optimisation websites are also available to support clinicians.  

Clinical engagement of healthcare professionals is key to the delivery of the 
medicines optimisation agenda and longer term strategy.  The CCG medicines 
optimisation workstream leads on local implementation of medicines related issues 
and provides guidance to local prescribers.  This past year has been challenging in 
managing prescribing costs within primary care.  The CCG has a QIPP 
implementation plan for medicines optimisation as well as horizon scanning for future 
budgetary pressures.  This plan includes reviewing prescribing opportunities 
highlighted by NHS RightCare.  To the end of quarter 3, the QIPP plan had achieved 
over £1.2million of savings.   

All practices receive monthly prescribing reports, detailing performance against 
budget and prescribing cost growth.   The CCG medicines optimisation workstream 
review practice level performance on a monthly basis and where this is at variance 
with other CCG member practices, a detailed analysis of prescribing is carried out 
following which action plans are developed to support practices to improve 
prescribing practices and processes. 
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Practices receive quarterly antimicrobial prescribing reports, in line with the 
Department of Health's UK Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy and NICE 
recommendations.  Assurance around the safe management of controlled drugs is 
provided to the CCG via quarterly prescribing reports presented to the CCG 
medicines optimisation workstream, ensuring robust procedures are in place within 
primary care.  Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG is also a member of the NHS 
England Local Intelligence Network for Controlled Drugs. 

IT/Digital 
As part of the CCG’s Local Digital Roadmap we are currently working on the 
development of an Integrated Digital Care Record.  We have taken a 3 phase 
approach to this: 

• The 1st phase was to implement the Medical Interoperability Gateway (MIG) in 
the out of hours GP service. This would enable the service to view 10 data sets 
from the patients GP record with the patients consent. This is now in place and 
being used.  

• The 2nd phase is to implement the MIG in urgent and emergency care settings 
for example A&E, Mental Health crisis teams and emergency social care teams.  
To implement this we are linking with the North East Urgent and Emergency 
Care Vanguard and intend to have this in place by December 2016 ready for the 
winter period.  

• The 3rd phase is to be able to share appropriate health and care information 
across all providers and to be fed from all systems. One of the benefits of this 
system would be to support the patient flow across broader geographies and we 
are linking with the Great North Care Record to implement this phase. To 
support the implementation of the MIG we are going to use the Information 
Sharing Gateway (ISG) tool for the information sharing agreements. This will 
replace the existing paper based processes and we believe it will reduce the 
administrative burden on both health and care providers. 

 
We have recently implemented the simple telehealth system ‘Florence’ in the 
respiratory Hospital at Home service. The mobile phone text based tool should 
support patients in being able to manage their respiratory condition and build 
confidence in being able to self-manage. The tool should also support the service in 
providing patient care and free up resources to focus on patients that require more 
detailed care. The pathway the system uses has been jointly developed with the 
service and the patients to ensure it is most effective.  Patients are now being setup 
and registered onto the system and we are following the progress closely to inform 
the further roll out of the system across other service areas. 

Primary Care 
Improving quality in General Practice (QIS) 
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The CCG has in place a primary care strategy, approved in 2014/15 which identifies 
a key priority for the CCG to continue to support GP practices to consider how they 
can reduce unwarranted variation and improve quality in primary care. Each practice 
works with a Commissioning Support Officer to identify where practices appear to 
have different outcomes to comparable practices and then develop and implement 
action plans to support changes and ensure the best use of healthcare resources 
and improve care pathways and patient outcomes. 

Evaluation of the Quality Improvement Scheme (QIS) for 2015/16 
 
In 2015/16 a Quality Improvement Scheme (QIS) was offered to GP practices, with 
the aim of improving GP Practice engagement, improving patient experience and 
outcomes for patients through improved quality of care, including early identification 
of illness.  Within the scheme 11 improvement areas were identified and practices 
were requested to choose 3 of these to focus on.  A recent evaluation of the scheme 
has established that all practices made progress in their chosen indicators, including: 

• 634 patients identified as having Hypertension 
• 58 patients identified as having CHD 
• 11 patients identified as having Atrial Fibrillation 
• 910 face-to-face medication reviews 
• An increase in referrals to IAPT for patients suffering with Depression 
• The development of a Frailty Register 
• A reduction in antibacterial prescribing 
• A reduction in hypnotic prescribing 
• A total saving of £53,320 as a result of reducing medicines waste. 

 
Building on the success of the above scheme a further Quality Improvement Scheme 
has been developed and offered to practices in 2016/17. 
 
Practice Medicines Co-ordinator Training  
 
The CCG are looking to upskill practice reception staff to become ‘practice 
medicines co-ordinators’ (PMCs).  Whilst the majority of current and past prescribing 
strategies concentrate on specific cost-effective switches or therapeutic areas, it is 
recognised that significant cost and time savings can be achieved through waste 
reduction as a result of more efficient management of repeat prescribing and other 
medicines related processes within GP practices.  Repeat prescription clerks already 
undertake a critical role in terms of patient safety, quality and cost-effectiveness of 
prescribing, however training is not routinely available. 
 
A local training programme for PMCs has been developed and will run from 18th 
October 2016 - 14th March 2017, with sessions covering the following topics: 

• Introduction and overview of prescribing 
• Role of the pharmacist and pharmacy teams, self-care and antibiotics 
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• Medicines for care home patients and hospital discharges 
• Controlled drugs and prescription fraud 

 
PMCs would be a dedicated non-clinical member of staff who would take on 
administrative tasks and system management activities related to repeat prescribing 
management, reducing waste and improving quality and safety, and will work to: 

• Improve the quality of repeat prescribing and medication review systems 
• Manage repeat prescribing systems 
• Help reduce medication errors 
• Make savings by reducing/containing costs 
• Reduce medicines waste 
• Synchronise prescription quantities 
• Ensure dose instructions appear against all repeats 
• Remove unnecessary repeats from repeat lists 
• Ensure that unnecessary “prn” medicines are not issued 
• Realise dose optimisation and brand to generic or generic to brand switch 

opportunities 
• Liaise with community pharmacy regarding “managed repeat” systems 
• Develop of appropriate policies and protocols 
• Liaise with MMT leads 
• Interface with patients / patient groups 
• Improve satisfaction for patients and staff 
• Lead for innovation around practice medicines management 
• Provide training and guidance to other practice staff 
 

Delegated Commissioning 

The CCG see primary care co-commissioning as a fundamental part of its wider 
strategy to transform services via the integration of out of hospital services based on 
the needs of local people he aim being to improve access to sustainable and high 
quality primary care services and a wider set of out of hospital services, both with 
improved outcomes and better patient experience. 
 
As can be seen from the following sections the CCG is now using its delegated 
responsibilities to engage with partners to provide improved primary care via better 
use of resources within contracts. The CCG does this following public engagement 
with local GPs and the wider community (including high vulnerable communities 
such as substance misusers and asylum seekers). 
 
The CCG moved to level 3 co-commissioning on 1 April 2016 and have reviewed a 
number of procurements and contract expiry issues in Q1. 
 
Fens Medical Centre, Hartfields Medical Practice and Wynyard Road Primary 
Care Centre  
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Fens Medical Centre, Hartfields Medical Practice and Wynyard Road Primary Care 
Centre are three of the 15 practices in the Hartlepool area.  Each practice has a 
contract which delivers essential, additional and enhanced services to a combined 
registered list of approximately 7,200 patients under APMS contracts.  All contracts 
had been extended several times, with the Hartfields contract expiring at 31 March 
2016 and the other two on 31 March 2017.  
 
An unsuccessful procurement exercise for Hartfields Medical Practice was 
undertaken in 2015, which resulted in the contract being extended with the existing 
provider to bring it into line with The Fens and Wynyard Road contracts.   
 
The CCG and NHSE undertook a formal consultation with patients in Hartlepool to 
gain their views on current services, what they felt could be improved and potential 
sustainable models going forward. The CCG Primary Care Co-Commissioning 
Committee met on 25 October 2016 and following review of all information available 
determined; 

• Option 2 – one provider on the two sites of Hartfields and Wynyard Road 
is to be progressed to procurement 

Hartlepool Borough Council referred this decision to the Secretary of State Jeremy 
Hunt. The decision went to an independent re-configuration panel and in March 2017 
the Secretary of State decided that a full review was not needed with regard to 
closing Fens medical practice.  

We will now move quickly to finalise the procurement process to secure a provider to 
offer GP services at Wynyard Rd and Hartfields. Patients of the Fens Medical 
Practice will have the opportunity for their care to automatically transfer to the new 
provider of services at Wynyard Rd Primary Care Centre and Hartfields; 
alternatively, they can choose to register with an alternative practice if they wish to 
do so. 

Stockton NHS Health Centre (Tithebarn) 

Stockton NHS Health Centre (Tithebarn) is a GP practice in Stockton which delivers 
essential, additional and enhanced services to a registered list of 2,085 patients (as 
of 1st January 2017) from Tithebarn House in the Hardwick area of Stockton on 
Tees. 

The contract was originally commissioned under the Equitable Access to Primary 
Medical Care Scheme; the contract commenced on 1 April 2009 and had an original 
end date of 31 March 2014 but has been extended on a number of occasions in 
order to undertake engagement with patients and stakeholders regarding the future 
of the service. 
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The current provider also delivers services to unregistered patients for urgent care. 
However, the urgent care element of the service is due to move to the new 
integrated urgent care centres at University Hospital of North Tees and University 
Hospital of Hartlepool from 1st April 2017. 

The CCG has agreed a period of engagement activity in relation to the registered 
element of the contract. The APMS contract is currently commissioned by the CCG. 
The registered patients at this practice currently have ‘extended’ access to services 
between 8 am and 8 pm, seven days a week as a result of the co-location of the 
urgent care service. 

Between 18 July and 24 August 2016, the CCG supported by NHS North of England 
Commissioning Support (NECS), conducted engagement work with local 
stakeholders and patients at the practice with the objective of informing them that 
from 1 April 2017:- 

 Services for registered and walk-in patients would be separated 
 That services to registered patients would be retained in the Hardwick area via 

a branch surgery of an existing GP practice 
 That the opening hours of the surgery would be 8.00am – 6.30pm Monday to 

Friday 

The CCG then invited local practices to apply to provide the branch surgery, with 
opening hours between 8am and 6.30pm, Monday to Friday. Unfortunately no 
applications were received. 

The CCG has therefore extended the existing contract for a further three months, 
with Elm Tree GP practice providing GP services from Stockton NHS Healthcare 
Centre on a temporary basis from 1st April 2017 until 30th June 2017. 

The final option to maintain GP services at Stockton NHS Healthcare Centre beyond 
June 2017 is to secure a provider to run a part-time branch service. The temporary 
extension of the contract will allow time for further engagement with patients to gain 
their views on the times and days that a part-time branch service would best meet 
their needs. 

A letter and survey will be sent to all patients aged 16 and over who are registered at 
Stockton NHS Healthcare Centre (Tithebarn). The letter will inform patients of the 
current position and the survey will give them the opportunity to say what days and 
times they would most value access to a part-time branch service. 

There will also be 2 patient information sessions that will allow patients to discuss 
the future of the practice in more detail and ask any questions they may have. 

If the CCG is unable to secure a provider for a part-time branch service, there may 
be no option but to close the practice and ask patients to register with another GP 
practice. However, this is not the preferred option and the CCG will do its upmost to 
secure a provider for a part-time branch service. 
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The Community Hub Model 
The Community Hub Model in Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees is a 3-phased 
approach. 

 
Phase 1: from April 2016 the focus has been on health and social care integration in 
older persons (based on BCF plans), with plans for a Multi-agency children hub 
(MACH) functional by April 2017. 
 
Phase 2: from April 2017 the focus will be on an integrated urgent care hub, sited 
with the Multi-Disciplinary Service (MDS) in Stockton and the Early Intervention 
Service (EIS) in Hartlepool (phase 1). This work will expand from the older person 
and include individuals who are raising risk across health and social care. The 
ambition of the integrated urgent care service is to re-educate patients for self-care 
and signposting to appropriate in-hours care for long term condition management. 
The reduction of urgent care access points to two sites is to enable this change in 
patient behaviours. 
 
Phase 3: April 2018/19 – builds upon phase 1 and 2 regarding early intervention and 
prevention utilizing new care models and contracting mechanisms i.e. Multi-Specialty 
Community Provider (MSCP). Scoping work will be undertaken throughout 16/17 as 
co-location with existing hubs will be considered, however due to the geography 
across both locations, an expansion in number of hubs may be necessary to enable 
proactive care closer to home. 

Our Plans for 2017/18 and beyond 

Transformation – Five Year Forward View (FYFV)  
The CCG has a transformational five year strategic vision up to 2019 which is 
articulated through a number of key strategies such as primary care, urgent care, 
cancer, dementia, end of life, learning disabilities and mental health. All of these 
strategies have been reviewed against FYFV and demonstrate that they fit 
comfortably. All CCG strategies have been cross-referenced to inform 
commissioning intentions for 16/17 and beyond. Plans are being delivered in relation 
to strategies during 15/16 and are monitored on a monthly basis. The CCG is clear 
that it cannot deliver the transformational change required in isolation. The CCG 
works within a wide range of partnerships across Stockton-on-Tees and Hartlepool, 
the Tees Valley and the wider North East Region and is engaged in a number of 
transformational projects: 

• Better Health Programme (BHP)  
• Children and Young People Transformation 
• Learning Disabilities Transformation 
• Hartlepool Plan  
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Transformation with the acute sector cannot be sustainable without corresponding 
changes to meet the needs of our growing elderly population. The CCG’s vision to 
develop outstanding, innovative, equitable, excellent and value for money health and 
social care services for Frail Older people is at the heart of Better Care Fund 
processes across Stockton-on-Tees and Hartlepool.  

Alongside the above work the CCG will continue to implement its five year plan for 
Urgent Care, which will deliver a fully integrated 24/7, seamless urgent care 
provision across both Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees from April 1st 2017. Following 
the previously mentioned pause the CCG will commission integrated urgent services 
that incorporate GP OOH, MIU and WIC activity within a wider paradigm of 7 day 
General Practice delivering minor ailment and injury services in hours.  

The CCG has also begun to respond to the key messages of the NHS England 
Planning Guidance Delivering the Forward View: NHS planning guidance 2016/17 – 
2020/21, which was published in December. The CCG has begun development of a 
five year Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), which will drive delivery of 
the Five Year Forward View via a Trans-CCG unit of planning that will fit with the 
scope of the Better Health Programme and the Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan (STP).  

Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STP) 

There are now 44 STP footprints across the country with NHS Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees CCG a part of the Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby plan 

This plan will describe our shared local vision for 2021 regarding care both inside 
and outside our hospitals underpinned by better integration with local authority 
services in respect of prevention, early intervention and social care. The first version 
was published at the end of November. 

We now need to work together with partners to design the next steps such as: 

• How we can better collaborate on prioritising prevention despite many 
financial cuts and other challenges  

• Enabling the out of hospital sector to be stabilised and strengthened as 
demand grows  

• Optimising the acute hospital sector to get the best quality within the 
resources it has  

Better Health Programme 

The Better Health Programme is about providing a consistently high standard of 
hospital care, in the right place at the right time, for the 1.1m people living in Durham 
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Dales, Easington, Sedgefield, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire & 
Whitby. 

Experienced clinical staff from the local NHS – including hospital consultants and 
GPs - have been looking at how we do this, in discussion with their colleagues, 
stakeholders and patient representatives.  

Some of the discussions have been around ensuring that people with serious or life 
threatening needs receive the right level of specialist care to maximise their chances 
of survival and a good recovery – even if it means going past the nearest hospital. 

In July 2016 the programme announced that this could mean specialist emergency 
care being provided from fewer sites in the future. The programme is looking 
seriously at the development of proposals for how hospital services could be 
provided in the future to ensure they meet national standards and provide the best 
possible care to give patients, particularly those with life threatening conditions. 
Proposals could impact on each of the three hospitals in Darlington, Durham and 
Tees.  

Meanwhile the NHS Five Year Forward View set out a requirement for local NHS 
organisations to work with partner organisations on the development of Sustainability 
and Transformation Plans (STPs), which must focus on four areas for improvement:  

• Preventing ill health and increasing self-care (this will mean a much greater 
focus on supporting people to stay) 

• Health and care in communities and neighbourhoods (this will result in better 
access to local services and much more care being provided in communities 
and in people’s own homes to reduce avoidable hospital admissions and 
support people to stay independent) 

• Quality of care in our hospitals (this will be delivered through the “Better 
Health Programme”) 

• Use of technology in health care.  
 
Health and care in communities and neighbourhoods  
In the past, the majority of care was only provided in hospital. Thanks to 
improvements and changes, we can now manage many long-term health problems – 
such as heart or breathing problems, or diabetes – with fewer visits to hospital and 
fewer, shorter, hospital stays. Over the last few years, NHS organisations have 
worked together with local councils on services to support people to live as 
independently as possible. 

What patients have been telling us  
NHS staff have been visiting communities to talk about what the NHS does well, and 
where it could improve. Many people were concerned about access to their local 
doctor and the national and local shortage of doctors. We are working on plans to 
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improve our recruitment of doctors, and to develop new roles to support them in 
caring for their patients. We are also looking at how GP practices and other services 
can work together more effectively. People were also concerned about access to 
mental health services, and felt that more support should be available locally. We 
asked people what issues we should consider when services need to change. They 
thought the most important issues were: 
 
Over the next few months, more work will be done to develop the draft STP plan, 
working with local councils and other partners including the voluntary sector, with the 
Better Health Programme continuing as an important part of the process. 
 
Another important theme was information and communication. People didn’t feel 
they understood the services that were available, which they should use, and when. 
This was a problem in urgent care and emergency care. They also expressed 
frustration at the frequent need to retell the background to their illness and care 
when they came across a new professional. People were surprised that hospitals did 
not have routine access to GP records that would provide this background – 
particularly in an emergency. They were supportive of the NHS sharing their records, 
where this would improve their care, and with safeguards and opt-outs in place. 
 
Consultation is expected to begin in the Summer of 2017. To find out more about the 
Better Health Programme please email necsu.betterhealthprogramme@nhs.net. To 
find out more about the STP in Durham Dates, Easington, Sedgefield, Darlington, 
Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire & Whitby please email necsu.stp@nhs.net.  
 
A summary booklet explaining the STP can be found on 
the www.nhsbetterhealth.org.uk website under the header ‘About Better health’. 

North East Urgent and Emergency Care Network 
All NHS organisations in the North East are part of the North East Urgent and 
Emergency Care Network. In 2016/17 the network received £2.9m from NHS 
England’s New Care Models programme to implement various schemes across the 
North East. 

Some of these schemes included: 

• Respond - simulation training package for mental health crisis care which 
rolled out across the region following its successful launch in September. 
Its aim is to transform professional responses to mental health crisis 
through better collaboration and knowledge 

• Under 5 app (NHS child health) – the app gives easy to understand 
guidance on childhood illnesses and recognising when your child is unwell, 
as well as advice on when and where to seek treatment 

mailto:necsu.betterhealthprogramme@nhs.net
mailto:necsu.stp@nhs.net
http://www.nhsbetterhealth.org.uk/
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• Behavioural analysis - A key element of the network’s approach is 
undertaking high quality market research to understand the views and 
behaviours of patients and NHS staff in relation to urgent and emergency 
care services 

• Great North Care Record - The Great North Care Record (also known as 
MIG – Medical Interoperability Gateway) aims to bring the region up to a 
common standard of information-sharing, saving time and improving 
patient safety. The MIG enables real-time access to key primary care 
patient information at the point of care (emergency departments, GP out of 
hours services, mental health trusts, NHS 111 and the ambulance service) 

• Flight deck - a real-time application displaying the current status of 
emergency care across the region as well as predicting the like scenario 
four to twelve hours ahead 

• Clinical hub - the clinical hub involves Emergency Department consultants 
working within the hub on Monday and Friday 6–10pm and Saturday and 
Sunday 8am– 4pm to provide enhanced clinical assessment of patients 
who would otherwise be directed to their nearest Emergency Department 

Performance summary 
Measuring our performance helps us to ensure our services are delivered to a quality 
standard and provide value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to 
manage performance against the range of indicators including a mechanism to work 
with internal and external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and implementation of 
action plans to mitigate these. This ensures improvements in performance are 
delivered.  
 
Throughout the year, reports are provided to our Governing Body setting out our 
performance against the agreed local and national measures. This ‘Quality, 
Performance and Finance Report’ describes how, in partnership with our providers, 
we are meeting the CCG’s commitment to ensure that the commissioning decisions 
and actions we take improve healthcare for the people of Hartlepool and Stockton-
On-Tees and ensure patients receive the highest quality of care.  
 
NHS England has a statutory duty to make an annual assessment of each CCG’s 
performance. It meets this duty through its CCG Improvement and Assessment 
Framework and CCG performance dashboard. 
 
The Five Year Forward View, NHS Planning Guidance, and the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans (STPs) for each area, are all driven by the pursuit of the “triple 
aim”: (i) improving the health and wellbeing of the whole population; (ii) better quality 
for all patients, through care redesign; and (iii) better value for taxpayers in a 
financially sustainable system. 
 
In HaST we have worked with our partners and stakeholders to ensure that the 
health and wellbeing of patients remained a priority and to improve performance 
against national and local targets and the requirements of the NHS Constitution. 
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Performance against NHS Constitution targets 
 
Referral to treatment 
 
Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant-led treatment within a 
maximum of 18 weeks from referral. 
 
Year to date CCG performance to January 2017 for referral to treatment incomplete 
pathways treated within 18 weeks is above target, reporting 93.4% against the 92% 
threshold. 
 
No patients should be waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment. HaST CCG has 
reported one breach up to January 2017. This is the same as was reported in the 
previous year. 
 
Diagnostic test waiting times 
 
No more that 1% of patients should wait over 6 weeks for a diagnostic test.  
 
HaST CCG has achieved this target for 8 of the 10 months in 2016/17 to January 
2017. For diagnostic tests the latest available 2016/17 performance is 0.30% of 
HaST patients waiting over six weeks. 
 
The target was also met by the main provider NTHFT reporting 0.00% in January 
2017. 
 
Cancer waiting times 
 
HaST CCG has met the year-to-date to Jan-17 targets for eight out of the nine 
categories for cancer waiting times. Performance against the Cancer 62 day wait for 
urgent GP referral is the area that is reported under target. 
 
Performance for the 62 day wait urgent GP referral category remains the main 
concern, currently reporting the year-to-date position as 81.6% against the 85% 
target. This standard has remained non-compliant in eight of the ten months in 
2016/17. 
 
Patient level breach analysis is being undertaken to try and identify any trends within 
the breach reasons which can then inform further actions with the Trusts. 
Although there are some capacity issues there are an increasing number of complex 
pathways which seriously impact Trusts ability to achieve the target. Performance 
continues to be monitored through contract meetings and the CCG performance 
framework. 
 
Ambulance response times 
 
All ambulance trusts are expected to respond to 75% of immediately life threatening 
calls within eight minutes. The performance of the North East Ambulance Service 
against this indicator is reported as 62.6%. 
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Where onward transport is required, 95% of life-threatening calls will receive an 
ambulance vehicle capable of transporting the patient safely within 19 minutes of the 
request for transport being made. The performance of the North East Ambulance 
Service against this indicator is reported as 89.3%. 
 
A comprehensive action plan is in place which is monitored through the Contract 
Management Board along with the Clinical Quality Review Group. The action plan is 
broken down into three main areas/themes: 

• Demand 
• Capacity 
• Efficiency 

 
The action plan will deliver incremental improvements on performance over the 
coming year. 
 
Healthcare associated infection 
Reducing healthcare associated infection remained a key challenge for the CCG and 
the local NHS throughout the year. 
 
• MRSA (methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus) 
There is a zero tolerance of MRSA which means that all commissioner and provider 
targets are zero. The CCG have reported 2 cases in year, 1 in April 2016 and 1 in 
June 2016. 
 
• Clostridium difficile 
The YTD position to 16th March 2017 for the CCG shows 101 cases in total against a 
trajectory of 72, the CCG was therefore over its annual target. 
 
Accident and emergency (A&E) performance 
 
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency care. One 
key target is that 95% of patients should wait no longer than four hours for treatment 
in an emergency department. Although this is not one of the CCG‟s constitutional 
indicators, it is unfortunately an area where performance against the target has not 
been achieved due to it not being met by the CCGs main provider, NTHFT. 
 
The Trust achieved the target in Q2, but was non-compliant in Q1 and Q3. This is a 
trend experienced both at a regional and national level as a result of increased 
pressures and rise in demand for emergency care. Performance is expected to 
improve in February and March 2017 and we anticipate that NTHFT will achieve the 
indicator in Q4. 
 
A number of proactive steps have been put in place to help prepare for surges, and 
ensure robust arrangements for reviewing and challenging performance. 
 
The CCG is not complacent about the performance of our providers as this seriously 
impacts on the experience of our local population. Whilst we expect that the final 
16/17 performance to be an improvement from 15/16 the challenges have been so 
great that we have not seen the improvements we wish to see. This will be an area 
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of continued focus for 2017/18 with plans in place to improve delivery during the 
year. 
 
6 Clinical Priority Areas 
The Forward View and the planning guidance set out national ambitions for 
transformation in 6 clinical priority areas: 

• mental health 
• dementia 
• learning disabilities 
• cancer 
• maternity 
• diabetes 

 
The CCG progress against these areas is reported to NHSE through quarterly 
updates on the Improvement and Assessment Framework. Further information on 
CCG performance on these measures can be found at https://www.nhs.uk/service-
search/performance-indicators/organisations/ccg-better-care 
 
The current CCG performance against each of these indicators is set out below: 
 
Mental health 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/performance-indicators/organisations/ccg-better-care
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/performance-indicators/organisations/ccg-better-care
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Dementia 
 

 
 
Learning disabilities 
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Cancer 
 

 
 
Maternity 
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Diabetes 
 

 
 

Performance analysis   
CCG performance is reviewed by NHS England to ensure that CCGs are delivering 
quality outcomes for patients, both locally and as part of the national standards. The 
following pages set out areas performing particularly well and some that still require 
improvement. 

Indicators described include: 
 

• A&E four hour waits 
• Ambulance Response times 
• Ambulance handovers 
• Cancer waiting times 
• Reduction in avoidable emergency admissions 
• Healthcare associated infections (MRSA and Clostridium difficile) 
• Referral to treatment times 
• Friends and Family Test 

 
 
The indicators are set out in the following layout: 
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Urgent Care Performance 
 
Four Hour Waits in Accident & Emergency: 
 

 
In 2016/17, 5.5% of patients who required A&E services waited over 4 hours to be seen. This is a 0.5 
percentage point below standard.  2015/16 results indicate the CCG were 0.4 percentage points 
below standard. 
 
Ambulance Response Times: 
We commission ambulance services from North East Ambulance Service NHS FT (NEAS) and specify 
that they comply with operational standards. 
 

Annual Comparison – 
standard line in red 

 

Statistics 
shown in 

central table 

Quarterly trend analysis. 
Green is at or above 

standard and red is below 
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During 2015/16, a third (29.8%) of Cat A Red  1 patients who required an ambulance urgently 
because their condition was considered immediately life threatening waited over 8 minutes for an 
ambulance to arrive. This is a 0.4 percentage point decrease from last year. 
HAST CCG was 5.2 percentage points below standard in 2015/16 and is now 4.8 percentage points 
below standard in 2016/17. 
 

 
 
During 2016/17, a third (35.8%) of Cat A Red 2 patients who required an ambulance urgently 
because their condition was considered immediately life threatening waited over 8 minutes for an 
ambulance to arrive. This is 6.7 percentage points increase from last year. 
The CCG was 4.1 percentage points below standard in 2015/16. 2016/17 results indicate the CCG is 
10.8 percentage points below standard. 
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In 2016/17, 9.8% of people who required a fully equipped ambulance to attend urgently but did not 
have a condition considered immediately life threatening waited over 19 minutes for the ambulance 
to arrive. This is 3.6 percentage points higher than last year. 
 
The CCG was 1.2 percentage points below standard in 2015/16 and is now 4.8 percentage points 
below standard. 
 
Cancer Waiting Times 
 

 
During 2016/17, 6.6% of patients waited more than two weeks for an outpatient appointment when 
referred by their GP urgently with suspected cancer. This was a decrease of 0.4 percentage points 
from 2016/17. 
 
HAST CCG was 0.1 percentage points below standard in 2015/16. 2016/17 results indicate an 
increase in performance to 0.4 percentage points above standard. 
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In 2016/17, 3.5% of people who were referred urgently for an outpatient appointment with breast 
symptoms waited more than two weeks for an appointment. This is a 2.2 percentage point increase 
from 2016/17 (5.7%).  
 
The CCG has been over standard for three consecutive years. 
 

 
During the year 2016/17, 1.8% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days for 
treatment to commence. This is a decrease of 0.3 percentage point from 2015/16. 
 
The CCG has been over standard for three consecutive years. 
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In 2016/17, 3.4% of people diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days for surgery to commence.  
This is a decrease of 2.3 percentage points from last year. 
 
HAST CCG has been over standard for 4 consecutive years.  
 

 
There were only 0.5% of patients diagnosed with cancer who waited over 21 days for drug treatment 
to commence in the last three years. 
 
The CCG has been over standard for four consecutive years. 
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Throughout 2016/17, 1.6% of people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days for 
radiotherapy to commence.  This has increased 0.7 percentage points from last year. 
 
Results indicate that the CCG has been well above standard for four consecutive years.  
 

 
In 2016/17, 17.5% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for treatment to 
commence, following an urgent referral from their GP. This was a 3.1 percentage point decrease 
from 2015/16. 
 
HAST CCG was 2.5 percentage points below standard in 2016/17. 
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In 2016/17, 5.1% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for treatment to 
commence following referral from an NHS screening service. This is an improvement of 0.4 
percentage points from last year. 
 
The CCG has been over standard for four consecutive years, with the CCG being 4.9 percentage 
points above standard in 2016/17.  
 

 
During 2015/16, 8.3% of people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for treatment 
to commence, following a consultant’s decision to upgrade the priority of the patient. This was a 4.9 
percentage point improvement from 2015/16.  
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Reduction in Avoidable Emergency Admissions 
 

 
Between 2014/15 to 2015/16 there was a decrease of 44 avoidable emergency admissions per 
100,000 population for HAST CCG. Between 2015/16 and 2016/17 there has been an increase of 279 
per 100,000 population. 
 
Healthcare Associated Infections 
 
All CCGs have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England. There is a zero tolerance of MSRA (Methicillin 
resistant Staphylococcus Aureus), which means that all commissioners and providers targets are 
zero.  
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There has been an increase in cases of C.difficile among HAST CCG patients in the last year.  
 
Mixed-Sex Accommodation 
 
Under the NHS constitution, providers of NHS funded care are expected to eliminate mixed sex 
accommodation.  
There have been no breaches of the mixed sex accommodation standard in the last three years. 
 
Referral to Treatment 
 

 
During the year 2016/17, 13.0% of patients admitted for elective treatment started treatment more 
than 18 weeks from referral. This is an increase of 0.5 percentage points since 2015/16. 
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In 2016/17, 4.4% of patients who received treatment without requiring admission to hospital waited 
more than 18 weeks for treatment, an increase of 1.6 percentage points from last year. 
HAST CCG has been above standard in the last four years, though 2015/16 results indicate a 
decrease in performance. 
 

 
At the end of 2016/17, 6.5% of patients who continued to wait for treatment had waited in excess of 
18 weeks. This is a 1.4 percentage point increase from 2015/16. 
HAST CCG has been well above standard in the last four years, though 2016/17 results indicate a 
decrease in performance. 
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During the year 2016/17, 4 patients admitted for non-urgent consultant-led treatment received their 
treatment after more than 52 weeks.  
 
Friends and Family Test 
 
The friends and family test is intended to be a simple metric against which to measure patient 
experience.  
 
FFT Inpatients Response: 
 

 
2016/17 shows a decline in response rates. 
 
  



Page 59  
 

FFT Inpatients % Recommended: 
 

 
The satisfaction score remains above the national target for both providers, with increased scores in 
2016/17. 
 
 
FFT A&E Response: 
 

 
Response rates for A&E patients vary between the two providers. Both providers show a response 
rate above standard.  
 
FFT A&E % Recommended: 
 

 
The satisfaction score remains above standard  for both providers. 
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Key issues and risks 
During 2016/17 the CCG has been managing a number of identified issues and 
risks, all of which have been actively managed.  As part of the implementation of the 
joint management structure for Darlington and HaST CCG’s, both CCG’s risk 
registers were fully reviewed in Q4 2016/17 to ensure that all risks are up to date. 
There are no risks out of exception due to this review of the risks in place and the 
next step is to review with the executive both CCG’s ‘risk appetite’ and reassess all 
residual risks against this defined appetite. A comparison was been undertaken of 
the two risk registers and a number of risks are replicated across both CCGs as 
would be expected.  

The key risks themes on the CCG’s risk register relate to clinical engagement, 
winterbourne, deprivation of liberties, public engagement, financial position and 
delivery, working with commissioning partners particularly local authorities and 
performance issues with regards to constitutional standards.  

As at the end of the year, the CCG was actively managing 19 corporate risks. All of 
these risks have key controls identified against them and also the delivery of both 
external and internal assurance regarding these risks. They also include mitigating 
actions where appropriate and are subject to an action plan.  The Governing Body 
discussed the CCG’s risk register on 30 March 2017 confirming that they agreed that 
all risks were being actively managed and appropriate mitigations were in place. 
However, the CCG’s risk register is a dynamic document and is constantly subject to 
update and change in order to reflect the nature of the risks the CCG faces. 
 
 
A number of new risks were identified during 2016/17 and added to the CCG’s 
corporate risk register and these are detailed below: 
 

• CCG does not currently have a Designated Medical Officer (DMO) for Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) which is good practice in 
accordance with the SEND strategy. 

• Failure to secure a new provider for the APMS services delivered from Fens, 
Hartfields and Wynyard Road from the 1st April 2017. 

• Judicial Review process brought against the CCG as a result of an Individual 
Funding request decision. 

• CCG does not deliver the Sustainability and Transformation Plan due to 
conflicting partner priorities and negative public perception 

• System Resilience plans do not mitigate the demands on the system. 
• The plans do not adequately enable the system to cope with peaks in demand 

over the winter months and surge generally 
• Failure to commission assisted reproduction services for the Hartlepool and 

Stockton-on-Tees populations. 
 
During the year only two risks were classified as high (red risks): 
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• Failure to secure the appropriate number of high quality nursing care beds in 
all residential settings where the CCG is the responsible commissioner. 

• Deprivation of Liberty Processes are not put in place in relation to Continuing 
Healthcare Cases. Those deprived of liberty could take legal action and cases 
could be brought against the CCG 

 
Both risks have been reclassified during Q4 and are no longer noted as a high risk to 
the CCG due to the controls and actions that have been put in place.  
 
The Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Assurance Framework has also been 
reviewed and all strategic objectives have aligned strategic risks and these have 
been mapped to the CCG improvement and assessment framework 2016/17. The 
Assurance Frameworks were presented to the Audit and Risk Committee’s on 
7th March 2017 and Governing Body on 30th March 2017. 

Going Concern 
The accounts within this report have been prepared on the going concern basis. 
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of 
the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of 
financial provision for that service in published documents. Where a CCG ceases to 
exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the 
same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the 
concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will 
continue to be provided the Financial Statements are prepared on the going concern 
basis. 
 
Financial Summary 
Financial performance 
  
The financial accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS 
Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
Robust systems of financial governance and financial management monitored by the 
CCG’s Finance Committee have ensured that financial risks were appropriately 
identified and managed during the year enabling the delivery of all financial targets. 
 
Financial Allocations 
 
CCGs are set resource limits on an annual basis and must contain their expenditure 
within these limits. Separate resource limits are set for revenue and capital 
expenditure, with revenue expenditure limits further split between programme spend 
and running (management and administrative) costs: 
 

• Programme Budget Allocation – funding for direct healthcare expenditure. The 
CCG allocation for programme spend was £405.9 million; 

• Running Cost Allowance – funding for the administrative costs of running the 
CCG. The CCG allocation for running costs was £6.4 million. 

• Primary Care delegated Allowance was £39.2 million  
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Financial targets and performance for the year 
 
In accordance with NHS England financial planning guidance, the CCG is required to 
deliver a surplus of at least 1% (£5.1 million) of available resources (excluding 
delegated Primary Care). The CCG has delivered a surplus of £9.4 million (2.3%) in 
line with the plan submitted to NHS England. 
  
As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 
percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the 
monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was 
intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation 
priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively 
mitigated through other means. 

In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS 
England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be 
spent.  Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-
Tees CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional 
surplus for the year of £4.366m.  This additional surplus will be carried forward for 
drawdown in future years. 

Due to prudent financial planning and management, the CCG’s financial 
performance in 2016/17 has delivered the plan surplus as was the case for 2015/16. 
  
The CCG has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 
Our performance against these duties is included in note 23 of the full annual 
accounts which are published with this report. 
 
The CCG’s results in 2016/17 are set out in the table below with further detail 
included in note 23 of the full annual accounts. 
 
Target Outcome Delivered Target 

Achieved 

Deliver surplus on revenue budgets of at 
lease 1% plus uncommitted funding of 1% 

Surplus of £9.4m on 
revenue allocation of 
£451.6m 

 

Maintain Running Costs within allowance 

Running cost spend of 
£5.5m against allowance 
of £6.4m 

 

Maintain Capital spending within capital 
resource limit 

No capital resource 
allocated to the CCG 
and no spend incurred 

 

Ensure cash spending is within the cash 
limit set 

Cash managed within 
available resources  
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The chart below indicates how the CCG’s funding was split across the services we 
commission: 
 

 
 
 
Compliance with Better Payment Practice Code 
 
The CCG signed up to the Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) in 2013/14.  The 
code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices within 30 days of receipt of a 
valid invoice, or the due date if later. 
 
The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within 
agreed contract terms. Details of the CCG’s compliance with the code are shown in 
note 5.1 to the Financial Statements. 
 

Non NHS   NHS   

Target 95.0% Target 95.0% 

Result by Number 98.0% Result by Number 99.8% 

Result by Value 99.1% Result by Value 100.0% 
 
Performance against the target is monitored by the CCG on a monthly basis with 
performance maintained at over 95% of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt 
measured against both total invoice value and overall volume of invoices. 
 
Looking Forward 
 
The coming years will present significant financial pressures to Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees CCG as the need for health services is expected to grow faster 
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than our funding. It is clear that the existing models and pattern of service provision 
are unlikely to sustain service quality and reasonable access in the light of 
foreseeable financial settlements.  
 
In order to secure the continuity of high quality healthcare services for the population 
of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees, we plan to manage system wide service 
transformation across Darlington, Durham and Tees via the Better Health 
Programme integrating this work with the North East wide Urgent & Emergency Care 
Vanguard, the North East & Cumbria LD Transformation programme and our local 
service development plans. This is an established programme involving our partners 
in Local Government, Health Education England, NE Ambulance Service, GP 
organisations and the Voluntary Sector.  
 
The Better Health Programme has two main elements: 

• A major planned acute reconfiguration driven by standards, outcomes and 
workforce 

• A major investment in more appropriate lower cost care in a non-acute 
settings 

 
The health and social care leadership team is committed jointly to developing 
options, based on work involving 100+ clinicians, with full public engagement, 
enabling consultation to take place in autumn 2016 for planned commencement of 
implementation in 2017 
 
Following on from 2015/16, the Better Care Fund (BCF), two pooled budgets across 
the CCG and two local authorities designed to enable transformation in integrated 
health and social care will also be a key enabler for Hartlepool and Stockton-on-
Tees.  

Sustainable Development  
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to 
work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission 
and procure healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well, 
the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient 
communities.  By making the most of by making the most of social, environmental 
and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term 
even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. Spending money well and 
considering the social and environmental impacts is enshrined in the Public Services 
(Social Value) Act (2012). 
 
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the 
environment by working hard to minimise our footprint. 
 
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, 
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 
28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by 
reducing our carbon emissions 28% by 2020 using 2013 as the baseline year. 
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Modelled Carbon Footprint       
The majority of the environmental and social impacts are through the services we 
commission. Therefore, the following information uses a scaled model based on 
work performed by the Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) in 2014/15. More 
information available here: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-
carbon-footprint.aspx 
 
Resulting in an estimated total carbon footprint of 31 tonnes of carbon dioxide 
equivalent emissions (tCO₂e). The majority of this impact is from the services we 
commission. 
 

Category % CO2e 

Energy 75% 

Travel 25% 

Procurement 1% 

  Commissioning 0% 

 

 
 

74% 

25% 
1% 0% 

Proportions of Carbon Footprint 

Energy

Travel

Procurement

Commissioning

http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx
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Policies         
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in 
our process and procedures sustainability features. 
One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the 
use of a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP). We will be putting 
together an SDMP in the near future for consideration by the Governing Body. 
 
Partnerships         
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract 
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS 
policy framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate 
in a sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will 
need to be provided in part through contracting mechanisms. 
 
We have not currently established any strategic partnerships.    
 
Travel          
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by 
promoting active travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and 
public that use the services we commission.  
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Carbon Footprint 
CO2e baseline to 2020 with Climate Change targets 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees CCG Modelled 1990 baseline

Modelled 2007 baseline 10% target from 2007

Trajectory to 2020 Modelled forecast

Climate Change Act Trajectory 34% target from 1990 baseline

50% target from 1990 baseline 64% target from 1990 baseline

80% target from 1990 baseline
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Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies 
across the board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for 
active travel to improve staff wellbeing and reduce sickness. 

Category Mode 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Business Travel 
miles 8,870 24,207 6,692 0 

tCO2e 3.28 8.89 2.42 0.00 

Staff commute 
miles 19,281 28,819 21,134 21,134 

tCO2e 7.12 10.59 7.64 7.64 
          

Energy 
         Resource 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

    
Gas 

Use 
(kWh) 0 67,007 83,552 30,692 

    tCO2e 0 14 17 6 
    

Oil 
Use 
(kWh) 0 0 0 0 

    tCO2e 0 0 0 0 
    

Coal 
Use 
(kWh) 0 0 0 0 

   

 tCO2e 0 0 0 0 
    

Electricity 
Use 
(kWh) 0 24,436 77,185 31,733 

    tCO2e 0 15 44 16 
    

Green 
Electricity 

Use 
(kWh) 0 0 0 0 

    tCO2e 0 0 0 0 
    Total Energy CO2e 0 29 62 23 
    Total Energy Spend  £            -     £            -     £                -     £                -    
     

 
 
Waste 
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Waste 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 
    Recycling/ 

reuse 
(tonnes) 0 0 0 0 

    tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
    

Other 
(tonnes) 0 0 0 0 

    tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00   

  
Landfill 

(tonnes) 0 0 0 0 
    tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
    Total Waste (tonnes) 0 0 0 0 
    % Recycled or Re-

used         
    Total Waste tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
    

          

 

       
 

Water   2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 
  

 Mains 
m3 469 428 1,081 180 

  
 

tCO2e 0.43 0.39 0.98 0.16 
  

 

Water & Sewage 
Spend  £                -     £                -     £             -     £              -    
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Improve quality  
 
The CCG has a responsibility to ensure that we commission safe, good quality and 
effective services that result in positive experiences for patients.  
 
We understand that securing continuous quality improvement in our commissioned 
services is an ongoing process and to ensure we remain sighted on all aspects of 
quality and are able to constructively challenge, scrutinise and assess individual 
provider’s performance and service delivery, we have established robust internal and 
external quality assurance mechanisms.  
 
These mechanisms are described in our Quality Strategic Framework. It outlines the 
CCG’s approach to quality detailing how it manages and champions the local clinical 
quality agenda to ensure compliance with the CCG improvement and assessment 
framework.  
 
In order to effectively address quality issues with our commissioned services and 
seek assurance, we systematically undertake a range of activity. This activity informs 
and shapes the CCG Quality and Safeguarding (Q&S) annual Work Programme. 
 
Each of the priorities identified have been positively progressed through proactive 
collaboration with partners. Monitoring, evaluation and scrutiny of these areas of 
work have been completed through implementation of the CCG Quality Strategic 
Framework.   
 
In relation to the range of quality assurance activity undertaken by the CCG in 
2016/17, this includes face-to-face contact, listening to concerns, analysis of provider 
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data and information, and the sharing of intelligence with relevant NHS 
commissioners, local authority organisations, Healthwatch and regulatory bodies.  
 
This is described as follows: 
 
Quality, Performance and Finance Committee (QPF) 
Their role is described within the annual governance statement later in the report. 
 
Clinical Quality Review Groups (CQRGs) 
In working with our four main NHS provider Trusts - North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust (NTHFT); South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (STHFT); 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWVFT); and North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEASFT) to monitor, evaluate and drive 
forward quality standards we have held or contributed to regular CQRG meetings 
involving CCG GPs and Trust clinicians. This enables productive dialogue and 
provides an opportunity for the Trusts to identify innovation, best practice, areas for 
improvement and evidence of increasing patient outcomes. It also enables the CCG 
through analysis of specific quality indicators, to gain an insight into the quality of 
care delivered to local people as well as share and promote lessons learned from 
other parts of the health economy.  
 
The CQRGs are action orientated and have sought to examine specific areas of 
concern through in-depth analysis and discussion.  
 
Site visit Assurance Programme  
An important part of seeking assurance from our providers is undertaking announced 
and unannounced visits to services which serves as a valuable opportunity to meet 
patients and their families as well as liaise with Trust staff.  
 
The CCG’s Executive Nurse has led this Programme and involved CCG clinicians; 
this is considered an integral part of the contract management and quality assurance 
processes.  
 
Prior to arranging the visit, intelligence is gathered from a range of sources to inform 
and identify and target the key service areas to visit including:  

• Soft intelligence from GP practices and patient complaints. 
• Quality Surveillance Groups chaired by NHS England. 
• Regular review and monitoring meetings as described above. 
• Regular liaison between the CCG Chief Officer and provider Chief Executives. 
• Regular communication between the CCG Executive Nurse and Directors of 

Nursing. 
 
Following each visit, a report is compiled by the CCG with support from the North of 
England Commissioning Support Service (NECS) and shared with the Trust. Any 
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actions identified and required as a result of the visit are monitored as part of CQRG 
processes to ensure implementation. All Trusts have engaged positively in this 
process and responded well to the clinical challenge, scrutiny and constructive 
feedback.    
 
Quality Surveillance Groups  
The CCG is a member of the local Quality Surveillance Groups (QSGs) which are 
led and coordinated by NHS England. They bring together regulators, 
commissioners and providers of services to explore quality by sharing intelligence, 
particularly that which could help identify early signs of service failure or poor quality.  
 
During 2016/17, intelligence has been shared in relation to a spectrum of services, 
including acute and community, specialist mental health and learning disability, care 
homes and primary care services such as GP practices, dentists, pharmacists and 
optometrists.  
 
The QSG provides an opportunity to raise any concerns or risks associated with 
providers meeting quality standards at a local level as well as gain an insight into 
regional and national quality issues pertaining to providers.  
 
Safeguarding Forum 
The CCG have shared information and intelligence at the Safeguarding Forum, a 
health commissioner sub group of the Quality Surveillance Group which has enabled 
focused attention on specific quality issues in relation to adult and children’s 
services, and generated local solutions, and opportunities for collaborative working 
across the North Durham, Durham, Dales Easington and Sedgefield, Darlington 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees and South Tees CCG areas.   
 
Serious Incidents (SIs) 
Healthcare systems and processes can have weaknesses which can lead to errors. 
Responding appropriately when things go wrong is a key part of the way that the 
NHS aims to continuously improve services. The CCG is responsible for gaining 
assurance that when serious incidents occur; either within the providers or within the 
CCG; there are measures in place which safeguard patients; and that incident 
investigations are undertaken to ensure that lessons learnt are shared and 
embedded in improvements to practice. 
 
The incident investigations and outcomes are reviewed by the CCG. The CCG has 
robust governance processes in place which monitor the serious incidents through a 
serious incident panel. This panel is led by the CCG Executive Nurse who ensure 
that sufficient rigor has been applied to the investigation. Serious incident reports 
and action plans are reviewed and signed off during these panels once appropriate 
assurances have been gained by the CCG. The CCG also monitors serious incident 
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themes and trends across the year and works with providers to manage and improve 
any emerging themes. These are subject to debate and scrutiny both during the 
serious incident panel and during the Quality Review Group meetings held with key 
providers regularly throughout the year. 

Patient and Public Involvement 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG listen’s carefully to the views of our 
population including patients, carers, the general public, the voluntary and 
community sector and is committed to acting on the feedback we receive. By 
contributing their opinions about our current services and future needs, the 
community can take a greater role in decisions about healthcare provision in our 
area. During 2016/17 we have encouraged our communities to get involved in a wide 
variety of ways: 

Community Health Ambassadors 

Our Community Health Ambassadors, set up in 2015 continue to go from strength to 
strength. Recruited from the local community the health ambassadors help us to 
effectively engage with local people. They are people with the local knowledge of 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees and the diverse population that lives in that area. In 
2016 they have been involved in talking to local people about the Better Health 
Programme, implementing the MIG (Medical Interoperability Gateway) and 
Information Sharing Gateway (ISG) and how to access urgent care services 
appropriately. 

Engagement events 

The CCG has held a number of engagement events in 2016/17 asking local people 
to get involved in local CCG decision making. These included; 

• A series of engagement events as part of a public consultation regarding the 
future delivery of services at Fens, Hartfields and Wynyard Road practices 
that ran from Monday 1 August to Friday 23 September 2016 

• Engaging with local people regarding the future of Stockton NHS Health 
Centre at Tithebarn in August 2016 

• A series of events as part of a formal public consultation with regard to the 
Assisted Reproduction Service in Hartlepool between 31st May and 15th July 
2016.  

• In January and February 2017 the CCG held engagement events regarding 
Transforming Care: Review of Respite Services for People with Learning 
Disabilities and Complex Needs 

• To support the Better Health Programme pre-engagement the CCG has also 
been actively involved in taking part and promoting these engagement events 
to local people. 

My NHS 



Page 73  
 

By signing up to My NHS, local people can influence decisions about their 
healthcare, receive updates about local services and receive invitations to events. 
My NHS currently has 753 members. 

Governing Body and Annual General Meeting (AGM) 

We hold our Governing Body meetings and our AGM in public. In 2016, the AGM 
was held on the 21 June 2016 which also included a range of stalls including 
information on the Community Health Ambassadors, Integrated Personal 
Commissioning and Urgent Care. At each Governing Body meeting we hold a 
‘question time’ when members of the public can ask questions and make comments 
on items on the agenda. In addition, our Governing Body includes a lay member with 
responsibility for patient and public engagement that ensures that the interests of 
patients, the public and community are included in the heart of discussions.  

Website 

Our website includes up-to-date information on local news and campaigns, key 
documents and objectives. The website also promotes opportunities for local people 
to have their say via local events and surveys. 

Social Media 

The CCG has a Facebook page and Twitter feed to keep our followers up to date 
with health and CCG information. Follow us on Facebook 
at www.facebook.com/HASTCCG or on Twitter @HaSTCCG. 

Patients and Families 

Through the Commissioner Assurance Visits programme the CCG also actively 
engages with patients, families and carers that are currently in receipt of services. 
This valuable source of information is used to validate the Friends and Family Test 
information as well as ensuring feedback in relation to information about quality and 
patient experience.  

Equality and Diversity 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010, the Public 
Sector Equality Duty and the Health and Social Care Act 2012. We have 
demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights into 
account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing 
people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our 
work as evidenced below: 
 
Equality Duties 
The Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2)  
 

http://www.facebook.com/HASTCCG
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We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have 
been using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core 
business functions to support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
and to improve our performance for the community, patients, carers and staff with 
protected characteristics that our outlined within the Equality Act 2010. 
 
This has been an opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain 
insight into the local population’s diverse health needs and we have reviewed and 
updated our Equality Objectives to reflect this. 
 
The Audit and Risk committee and Governing Body approved plans detailing actions 
we will take to ensure that individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably. 
Progress against these action plans is reported to the Audit and Risk committee on a 
quarterly basis. 
 
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
In accordance with the PSED and the NHS Equality and Diversity Council agreeing 
measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) backgrounds 
have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the 
workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce Race Equality Standard 
(WRES). 
 
We have collated staff data as outlined within the updated WRES reporting template 
for 2016. We aim to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels 
for black and minority ethnic staff. 
 
Equality Analysis 
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core 
business processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, 
patients and staff’s diverse health needs.  
 
The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 
(Race, Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and 
Civil Partnership and Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and 
Carers.  
 
Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, 
procedures and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts 
identified we will take immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the Action 
Plan set out in the tool to make sure equity of service delivery is available for all as 
well as the opportunity to continuously monitor progress against challenges identified 
to monitor and reduce inequality for our local population. 
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The tool also now includes checks in relation the Accessible Information Standard to 
aid compliance with the Standard when commissioning services to ensure that 
information is provided to all service users and patients in a way they can 
understand. 
 
Our staff has been offered interactive training on how to complete the document as 
well as process guidance within the EIA itself.  

Reducing health inequality 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG recognises the need to reduce 
inequalities between patients in accessing health services for our local population. 
  
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint 
strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data 
including local health profiles as well as qualitative data through our local 
engagement initiatives which aim to engage hard to reach groups. 
 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG serve a population of approximately 
300,000 people. 
 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) highlights the main health and 
wellbeing priorities for the residents of Stockton-on-Tees and Hartlepool taking 
account of data and information on inequalities within and between communities. A 
range of plans, strategies, and policies have been developed to help us work 
effectively in partnership to make a difference to the lives of residents. 
 
The JSNA states the health conditions that most affect people in Hartlepool 
and Stockton-on-Tees include: 
 
• Cardiovascular disease – including heart disease and strokes 
• Cancer 
• Smoking-related illness 
• Alcohol related illness 
• Mental health including dementia 
 
Health Inequalities are spread across the CCG and localities e.g. smoking 
prevalence varying from 16% to 48%, and emergency admissions for heart 
disease two and a half times more likely in the most deprived wards than in the 
least deprived. 
 
The life expectancy of males is 77.4 years and women 81.7 years. The life 
expectancy is 17.3 years lower for men and 11.4 years lower for women in 
comparison to the most and least deprived areas of Stockton-on-Tees and 10.8 
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years lower for men and 8.6 years lower for women in Hartlepool. 
 
Deprivation overall is slightly higher than the national average of 14.7% with 
income deprivation in Hartlepool and Stockton being at 18.5%. 
Bad general health in the Hartlepool and Stockton region is slightly higher than the 
national average with 6.9% of the local population reported as having general bad 
health compared with the average national value of 5.5%. 
Unemployment is also higher with 6.5% of the population being unemployed 
compared with the national average of 3.8%. 
 
Through our Equality Analysis process we carry out evidence based service reviews 
impacting the risks for our protected groups when reviewing and developing our 
services. Our EIA tool is developed to make these considerations at the beginning 
of the decision making process and throughout all of the appropriate stages of work. 
 
The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Governing 
Body is required for monitoring and completion. 
 
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector 
organisations and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local 
community we serve to improve health and healthcare for the local population.  
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual 
feedback/input, consultations, working with other organisations and community 
groups, attendance at community events and engagement activity including patient 
surveys, focus groups and Healthwatch. 
  
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services 
that are purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We 
appreciate that to deliver this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of 
all our stakeholders.  We aim to ensure that comments and feedback from our local 
communities are captured and, where possible, acted upon and give local people 
the opportunity to influence local health services on their terms and enable people 
to have their say using a variety of methods; from completing surveys to attending 
events and providing feedback either online, via post, text or telephone. We invite 
people to be involved as little or as much as they like, enabling them to help shape 
and influence the way NHS health services are commissioned.  
 
This year, through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work 
closely with other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has 
been a legacy of the Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads 
Meetings. Also nationally we have been awarded NHS Employers E&D Partner 
status for 2016/17.  
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Governance 
Equality and Diversity is governed and reports into the Audit and Risk committee and 
the Governing Body. The Governing Body ensures we are compliant with legislative, 
mandatory and regulatory requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops 
and delivers national and regional diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, 
provides a forum for sharing issues and opportunities, functions as a two-way 
conduit for information dissemination and escalation, monitors progress against the 
Equality Strategy and supports us in the achievement of key equality and diversity 
objectives. 
 
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the Audit and Risk 
committee outlining relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 
 

 
 

 
Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer  
30 May 2017 
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Accountability Report 

Corporate Governance report 

Members report 
 
Member practices 
In 2016/17 the CCG was made up of 36 member practices which are: 

Alma Medical Centre Queens Park Medical Centre 
Bank House Surgery Queenstree Practice 
Birchtree Practice Riverside Medical Practice 
Chadwick Practice Roseberry Practice 
Densham Surgery Seaton Surgery 
Eaglescliffe Medical Practice Dr S Rasool 
Elm Tree Medical Centre Stockton NHS Health Care Centre 
Gladstone House Surgery Tennant Street Medical Practice 
Hart Medical Practice The Arrival Medical Practice 
Hartfields Medical Practice The Dovecot Surgery 
Havelock Grange Practice The Fens Medical Centre 
Kingsway Medical Practice The Headland Medical Centre 
Drs Koh and Trory Thornaby and Barwick Medical Group 
Marsh House Medical Centre West View Millennium Surgery 
McKenzie House Woodbridge Practice 
Melrose Surgery Woodlands Family Medical Centre 
Norton Medical Centre Wynyard Road Primary Care Centre 
Park Lane Surgery Yarm Medical Centre 

 
The Council of Members 
The Council of Members is the mechanism through which the individual member 
practice representatives come together for collective decision-making as a member 
organisation.  This ensures active participation by each member practice in the 
functions of the CCG in accordance with its constitution, standing orders and 
scheme of reservation and delegation. Each practice nominates a representative of 
the practice to participate in meetings that take place twice a year. 
 
The Governing Body and Directors Profiles 
The Governing Body is responsible for reviewing decisions, formally approving CCG 
plans, and for making sure its budget is spent as efficiently as possible to provide 
high quality healthcare for the entire population. Members of the Governing Body 
are: 
 
Dr Boleslaw Posmyk, Chair 
Dr Posmyk qualified as a doctor in Leeds in 1981 and became a GP in Hartlepool 
from 1986 where he still practices while living in Wolviston.  He gradually became 
interested in medical management via the Diabetes Local Implementation Team, and 
then joined the Hartlepool PCT Professional Executive Committee. He then became 
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a representative on the Hartlepool PBC Group prior to becoming Chair.  Dr Posmyk 
was elected to be the Locality GP Representative and Chair of the then Hartlepool 
Shadow Pathfinder Committee and has now been elected to his third term as the 
Chair of the Governing Body for the CCG.   
 
Ali Wilson, Chief Officer 
Ms Wilson has worked in the public sector for more than 30 years, the last ten of 
those on Teesside. Ali has many years’ experience in health services commissioning 
working at Board level.  This is informed by a background that includes health 
services research, service improvement, medical education, and in hospital and 
general practice based clinical practice.  Ali was one of the country’s first Master’s 
nurse practitioner graduates. As a former Fulbright Fellow in the University of 
Minnesota, USA, Ali maintains a keen interest in patient and public participation, the 
focus of her Fulbright experience.  She was appointed as (Accountable) Chief Officer 
in January 2013. 
 
Graeme Niven, Chief Finance Officer 
Mr Niven is an experienced NHS Executive Director and has worked Teesside since 
2003. He qualified as a Chartered Institute of Management Accountant in 1994. He 
was appointed as Chief Finance Officer in April 2013 following a period as Chief 
Finance Officer Designate for the CCG. He has worked in the NHS for 32 years in 
varying roles including in a community and mental health provider, regional role and 
commissioning roles  
 
Jean Golightly, Director of Quality and Nursing 
As a Registered Nurse, Ms Golightly has previous experience of working in areas 
from across the healthcare landscape, including time spent overseas. Following this, 
she returned to the NHS to work in a number of large hospital Trusts, holding posts 
in Clinical Governance and management of a variety of clinical services, prior to 
joining the CCG. Ms Golightly’s role is a joint appointment with South Tees CCG.  As 
the CCGs’ Executive Nurse, in addition to Child and Adult Safeguarding, her portfolio 
includes monitoring the quality and safety of patient care, as well the experiences 
that patients have when receiving care from our commissioned services. 
 
Dr Paul Williams, Stockton-on-Tees locality lead and GP member (up until 30th April 
2016) 
Dr Williams qualified as a doctor in Newcastle-upon-Tyne in 1996, where he also 
obtained a Master’s degree in Public Health. He is currently a GP at Tennant Street 
Medical Practice and A&B Medical Practice, Stockton-on-Tees. Paul is the GP lead 
for the Stockton locality on the Governing Body. 
 
Dr Saleem Hassan, Stockton-on-Tees locality lead and GP member (from 1st June 
2016) 
Dr Hassan qualified as a doctor in Aberdeen in 2000 and completed the Northumbria 
GP vocational training scheme in 2005.  He has been working as a GP in a large 
Stockton surgery since then.  He also performs minor surgery within his practice.  He 
joined the CCG in June 2016.  He also has extensive experience of working in local 
urgent care services for many years.      
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Dr Nick Timlin, Hartlepool locality lead and GP member  
Dr Timlin qualified as a doctor in Manchester in 1984 and completed the Cleveland 
vocational training scheme, starting work as a GP principal in 1990. Nick is also a 
fully qualified forensic medical examiner and occupational physician and has worked 
for Cleveland police and local firms. He is also a GP trainer, working at Durham and 
Tees Valley Vocational Training Scheme. He currently practices as a GP in 
Hartlepool. 
 
Dr David Hodges, GP member  
Dr Hodges works as a full-time GP at Alma Medical Centre in Stockton- on-Tees.  
 
Dr Salvi Patel, GP member  
Dr Patel qualified from The University of Liverpool in 2007, after this she obtained a 
diploma in Obstetrics and Gynaecology, qualifying as a GP in 2012. After this she 
worked as a GP in inner city Liverpool before moving back to the North East.  She is 
a GP at Seaton Surgery in Hartlepool. Salvi is a non-executive board member for 
Hartlepool on the Governing body.  
 
Hilary Thompson, Lay Member (patient and public involvement) – Deputy Chair 
Mrs Thompson taught for many years in nursery and primary schools in both 
Stockton and Hartlepool. In 1993, she became a full-time lecturer in Early Years at 
New College, Durham and later taught part-time at Middlesbrough College and New 
College. In 2009, Hilary was elected Hartlepool Borough Councillor for Elwick Ward 
and held cabinet posts with responsibility for Culture, Leisure and Tourism and 
Performance and Adult Services and Public Health, before stepping down in 2012. 
Hilary has special responsibility for patient and public involvement and serves as 
Deputy Chair of the Governing Body. 
 
Steve Smith, Lay Member (audit and governance) (up until 31st May 2016) 
Mr Smith, upon leaving university, qualified as a Chartered Accountant with a ‘Big 
Four’ firm before moving into industry. In 1987 Steve joined Northgate plc, and over 
the next 23 years led a team that grew the business to become the largest van rental 
business in both the UK and Spain, with a turnover of over £600 million and around 
3,500 employees. Steve retired as CEO in March 2010.  
 
John Flook, Lay Member (Audit and Governance) (from 1st August 2016) 
As lay member for Governance and Audit, John will draw on his wealth of NHS and 
financial expertise. John has significant experience in the NHS, having worked as a 
Director of Finance in the North East for 20 years. 
 
Andie MacKay (from 1st August 2016) 
Andie served as a firefighter with over 28 years‟ gaining strategic management 
experience with the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service. Andie 
has recently joined Stockton BC as a senior manager leading change within the 
technical and commercial section of the council.   
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Dr Charles Stanley, Secondary Care Consultant 
Dr Stanley is a consultant child and adolescent psychiatrist and currently undertakes 
this role in Leeds. He is an honorary senior lecturer in child and adolescent 
psychiatry at the University of Leeds. He is also an associate medical director at 
Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust. Prior to training in psychiatry, he worked 
as a hospital-based paediatrician. Charles is the Secondary Care Consultant on the 
Governing Body. 
 
Lisa Tempest, Director of Planning and Assurance (from 1st Jan 2017) 
Lisa joined Darlington CCG from South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, where 
she was Chief Operating Officer for the Community Services Division.  Prior to 
joining the NHS in 2008, Lisa worked for BASF plc, National Power plc and Nike Inc. 
 
Karen Hawkins, Director of Commissioning and Transformation (from 1st Jan 2017) 
Karen has spent her entire career in public service, she took up the joint post of 
Director of Commissioning and Transformation across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-
Tees and Darlington CCGs in December 2016. Before this she was Associate 
Director for Commissioning and Delivery for Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 
CCG.  Karen has a strong commissioning and contracting background and has held 
a variety of senior positions in the NHS, across both primary and acute care.  
 
Audit and Risk Committee 
An Audit and Risk Committee has operated throughout the year, chaired by Steve 
Smith, Lay Member for audit and governance until 31st May 2016 and by John Flook, 
Lay member for audit and governance from 1st August 2016. (Please note there was 
no meetings between 1st June 2016 and 31st July 2016) 
 
Other members of the Audit and Risk Committee are: 
Hilary Thompson     Lay Member (patient and public involvement) 
Dr David Hodges  GP Governing Body member 

 
Other committee structures are referenced fully in the Governance Statement and 
the Remuneration and Staff Report details members of the Remuneration 
Committee.  
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Register of Interests: 
Name Position within 

or relationship 
with the CCG 

Name of organisation 
and nature of its 
business 

Position held  / nature of 
interest 

Personal interest Date from Date until 

Dr Boleslaw 
Posmyk 

Chair Havelock Grange 
Practice, Hartlepool 

Partner Nil 01/04/16 31/03/17 

Brierton Medical Centre Ownership via partnership 
in Havelock Grange 
Practice 

 01/04/16 31/03/17 

Hartlepool and Stockton 
Health limited (HASH) 

Practice part of GP 
Federation 

 01/04/16 31/03/17 

Ms Ali Wilson 
 

Chief Officer Community Ventures 
(LIFT) Company - No 
payment received and 
represents NHS 

Public Sector Directorship 
 
 

Nil 01/04/16 31/10/16 

Academic Health Science 
Network - No payment 
received 

Director  01/04/16 25/05/16 

Member of Ad Astra 
Academy Trust - No 
payment received 

Member  01/04/16 31/03/17 

NHS Darlington Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Interim/Acting 
Accountable Officer 

 01/04/16 30/04/16 

NHS Darlington Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Chief Officer  01/05/16 31/03/17 

NHS North East 
Leadership Academy 

Chair  22/08/16 31/03/17 

Mr Graeme 
Niven 
 

Chief Finance 
Officer 
 

NHS Darlington Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Chief Finance Officer Nil 01/01/17 31/03/17 

Community Ventures 
(LIFT) Company - No 
payment received and 
represents NHS 

Public Sector Directorship 
 
 

Nil 01/11/16 31/03/17 

Ms Jean 
Golightly 

Executive Nurse South Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Executive Nurse for South 
Tees CCG (job share 
HaST and South Tees 
CCGs) 

Nil 01/04/16 31/03/17 
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Name Position within 
or relationship 
with the CCG 

Name of organisation 
and nature of its 
business 

Position held  / nature of 
interest 

Personal interest Date from Date until 

Dr Paul 
Williams 

Governing Body 
Member, Locality 
Lead (Stockton-
on-Tees) (up until 
30th April 2016) 

A&B Medical Practice GP Partner  01/04/16 30/04/16 
Tennant Street Medical 
Practice 

GP Partner  01/04/16 30/04/16 

Hartlepool and Stockton 
Health GP Federation 

Director   01/04/16 30/04/16 

Friends of Bwindi 
Community Hospital 
(company limited by 
guarantee)  

Director   01/04/16 30/04/16 

Stockton Arts Centre 
(Trading) Ltd  

Director   01/04/16 30/04/16 

Arc, Stockton Arts Centre Board Member  01/04/16 30/04/16 
Catalyst Stockton Board Member  01/04/16 30/04/16 
Redcar and Cleveland 
Borough Council (Tees 
Valley Public Health 
Shared Services) 

 Partner employed 
by Tees Valley 
Public health 
Shared Services 

01/04/16 30/04/16 

Arrival Medical Practice  Father - Partner in 
Arrival Practice 

01/04/16 30/04/16 

Hartlepool and Stockton 
Health limited (HASH) 

Director  01/04/16 30/04/16 

Dr David 
Hodges 

GP Member  Alma Medical Centre GP Partner  01/04/16 31/03/17 
Hartlepool and Stockton 
Health limited (HASH) 

Practice part of GP 
Federation 

 01/04/16 31/03/17 

  Wife - GP Partner 
within Queens 
Park Medical 
Centre 

01/04/16 31/03/17 

  Wife - Salaried 
GP Northern 
Doctors OOH 

01/04/16 31/03/17 
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Name Position within 
or relationship 
with the CCG 

Name of organisation 
and nature of its 
business 

Position held  / nature of 
interest 

Personal interest Date from Date until 

Dr Saleem 
Hassan 
 

Governing Body 
Member, Locality 
Lead (Stockton-
on-Tees) (from 1st 
June 2016) 

Woodlands Family 
Medical Centre 

GP Partner   01/06/16 31/03/17 

Hartlepool and Stockton 
Health limited (HASH) 

Practice part of GP 
Federation 

 01/06/16 31/03/17 

Dr Nick 
Timlin 

Governing Body 
Member 
Locality Lead 
(Hartlepool)  
 

McKenzie Group 
Practice 

Senior Partner  01/04/16 31/03/17 

Able UK Ltd Occupational / Physician  01/04/16 31/03/17 
Tascor Services Ltd  Forensic Medical Examiner    01/04/16 31/03/17 
Royal College of GPs Member   01/04/16 31/03/17 
British Medical 
Association 

Member   01/04/16 31/03/17 

Durham and Tees 
Valley GP Training 
Scheme 

GP Trainer  01/04/16 31/03/17 

Hartlepool and Stockton 
Health limited (HASH) 

Practice part of GP 
Federation 

 01/04/16 31/03/17 

  Brother – Timlins 
Optician based in 
Hartlepool 

01/04/16 31/03/17 

  Nephew is a drug 
company 
representative for 
CreoPharma 

01/04/16 31/03/17 

Dr Salvi Patel GP Member Seaton Surgery GP  01/04/16 31/03/17 
Hartlepool and Stockton 
Health limited (HASH) 

Practice part of GP 
Federation 

 01/04/16 31/03/17 

Dr Charles 
Stanley 

Secondary Care 
Consultant 

Leeds Community 
Health Care NHS Trust 

Medical Manager / 
Associate Medical Director 

  01/04/16 31/03/17 

North East Courts Medico-legal Consultant  01/04/16 31/03/17 
Market Place - a 
counselling charity for 
young people in Leeds 
 

Trustee  01/04/16 31/03/17 
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Name Position within 
or relationship 
with the CCG 

Name of organisation 
and nature of its 
business 

Position held  / nature of 
interest 

Personal interest Date from Date until 

Mrs Hilary 
Thompson 
 

Lay Member 
Patient and Public 
Involvement, 
Deputy Chair of 
Governing Body 

Hartlepool Travel 
Agency  

Company Secretary Nil 01/04/16 31/03/17 

Elwick Parish Council Parish Councillor  01/04/16 31/03/17 
Tees Valley Rural 
Community Council 

Trustee  01/04/16 31/03/17 

Hartlepool Families First Board Member  01/04/16 31/03/17 
Mr Andie 
MacKay 
 

Lay Member, 
Finance (from 1st 
August 2016) 

Stockton-on-Tees  
Borough Council 

Technical and Commercial 
Services Manager 

Nil 01/08/16 31/03/17 

NHS Darlington Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Lay Member - Finance  01/08/16 31/03/17 

Mr Steve 
Smith 

Lay Member Audit 
And Governance 
(up until 31st May 
2016) 

Nixon Hire Ltd Non-exec director Nil 01/04/16 31/05/16 
Transflex Vehicle Rental 
Ltd 

Non-exec director / 
Shareholder 

 01/04/16 31/05/16 

Procomm Site Services 
Ltd 

Non-exec director / 
Shareholder 

 01/04/16 31/05/16 

Kitwave Ltd Chairman (Non-Exec)  01/04/16 31/05/16 
Mr John 
Flook 
 
 
 

Lay Member Audit 
And Governance 
(from 1st August 
2016) 

Darlington CCG Lay Member Governance  Nil 01/08/16 31/03/17 
NHS Professionals Ltd Senior Non Executive 

Director 
 01/08/16 31/03/17 

Sport England 
 

Independent Member Audit 
Committee 

 01/08/16 31/03/17 

British Orienteering Board Member  01/08/16 31/03/17 
 

Lisa Tempest Director of 
Performance, 
Planning & 
Assurance (from 
1st Jan 2017) 

Darlington CCG Director of Performance, 
Planning & Assurance 

Sister employed 
by North Tees 
and Hartlepool 
Foundation Trust 
in a clinical 
capacity 

01/01/2017 31/03/17 
 

Karen 
Hawkins 

Director of 
Commissioning & 
Transformation 
(from 1 Jan 2017 

Darlington CCG Director of Commissioning 
& Transformation 

 01/01/2017 31/03/17 
 

 



Page 86  
 

Disclosure of personal data related incidents 

As per the Governance Statement, there has been one level 2 serious personal data 
incidents during this period within the CCG. Following the publication of the Urgent 
Care procurement for the CCG on 5 August, NECS procurement team were notified 
by an incumbent provider that Names and Dates of Birth (DoB) of staff had been 
issued as part of the TUPE information which formed part of the tender documents, 
resulting in a breach of the Data Protection Act 1998. 

 The incident level was assessed by the CCG in accordance with the ‘Checklist 
Guidance for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information Governance and 
Cyber Security Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation V5.1 – 29th May 2015’ and 
the incident was rated as a level 2 incident. The incident was reported to and 
investigated by the ICO who concluded they would not be taking any action due to 
the corrective actions already undertaken by the CCG to ensure this situation did not 
reoccur. 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms:  

• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the 
purposes of their audit report  

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order 
to make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.  
 

Modern Slavery Act  
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG fully supports the Government’s 
objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking. Our Slavery and 
Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year ending 31 March 2017 is 
published on our website at  
http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/publications/policies/safeguarding/ 

 

 

 

Ali Wilson 

Accountable Officer 

30 May 2017 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/publications/policies/safeguarding/


Page 87  
 

Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the 
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable, for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets 
(and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
 
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the ‘Manual for Accounts’ issued by the Department of 
Health and in particular to: 
 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis. 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis. 
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the ‘Manual for 

Accounts’ issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements. 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 
 
I also confirm that:  

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
entity’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all 
the steps that I ought to have taken to make himself or herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware 
of that information.  

• that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report 
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and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, 
balanced and understandable  

 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer 
30 May 2017 
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Governance Statement  
  
1. Introduction  

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is a body corporate established by 
NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is 
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health 
service in England.  The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision 
of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the 
reasonable requirements of its local population.   
 
As at 1 April 2016, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any 
directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006. 
  

2. Scope of responsibility  
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am 
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in 
Managing Public Money.  I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my 
CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 
I am also responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.  

 
3. Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

 
3.1.1 The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has 
made appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically and complies with such generally 
accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 
 
3.1.2 The CCG has a Constitution based on the Department of Health’s Model 
Template. The Constitution was reviewed during 2016/17 in order to ensure it 
remained legally compliant and took into account any guidance provided and legal 
requirements put in place since its adoption.  Review of the CCG’s Constitution 
confirms that it complies with the elements of the self-certification checklist, 
including: 
 
• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its 

functions; 
• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the 

functions of the Governing Body; 
• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions; 
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• the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health 
services are being or may be provided pursuant to its commissioning 
arrangements are involved; 

• arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of 
registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests; 

• arrangements made by the CCG for securing that there is transparency about 
the decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 

 
3.2 During 2016/17 the CCG has continued to operate with a governance 
structure which reflects guidance and best practice. In light of the implementation 
of a shared management structure for NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-tees CCG 
and NHS Darlington CCG, the governance arrangements have been reviewed to 
ensure there was efficiency between the two organisations, whilst ensuring each 
delivered its statutory responsibilities including the requirement to have a 
Governing Body, Audit  Committee and Remuneration Committee.  
 
Also in 2016/17, the CCG was delegated responsibility from NHS England to 
undertake primary care commissioning and to this extent a Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee has been in operation.  
 
For the period 1st April 2016 to 31st December 2016, the below governance 
structure was in place: 
 

 
 
For the period 1st January 2017 to 31st March 2017, the below governance 
structure was in place: 
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3.3 Description of the established bodies and committees 

 
3.3.1 The roles of each of the Clinical Council of Members, the Governing Body 
and its associated committees are set out broadly below.   
 
3.3.2 Clinical Council of Members 
The Council of Members is the mechanism through which the individual member 
practice representatives come together for collective decision making as a 
member organisation, ensuring active participation by each member practice in 
the functions of the group in accordance with its Constitution, standing orders 
and scheme of delegation. Through two-way communication, it holds to account 
the Governing Body and Executive about the overall performance of the CCG 
and enables practices to influence the strategic direction and priorities of the 
group. There have been four meetings of the Council during this year and the 
main areas covered by the Council include: 
 

• approval of the CCG’s revised Constitution; 
• agreement on appointment to Governing Body roles and timing of 

elections to the Governing Body for the CCG; 
• CCG Financial Plans; 
• Primary Care Co-commissioning; and 
• Planning for 2017/18 including Sustainability and Transformation Plans. 

 
The Council of Members delegate approval of a range of functions to the 
Governing Body as set out in paragraph 3.3.3. The Council have agreed to seek 
nominations for Chairmanship of the Council for each meeting rather than 
appoint a permanent Chair. 
 
The Council of Members undertook a review of its effectiveness as part of its 
review of the CCG Function at their meeting on 7 February 2017. The results of 
the Council of Members’ assessment of its own effectiveness are that it remains 
compliant with its terms of reference, which were reviewed at their meeting held 
in February 2017. The Council of Members recognised that the papers it 
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received could be streamlined in order to receive appropriate information and 
that further review of the membership and Chairmanship of the Council needed 
to take place. 

 
Membership of the Council of Members consists of the healthcare professional 
nominated by each member practice to act on its behalf in dealings with the 
CCG and to represent that member practice at meetings of the Council of 
Members. Attendance at the meeting held in June 2017 was 12/36 (33%) and in 
February 2017 was 11/36 (31%). 
 
3.3.3 Governing Body 
The Governing Body has the following functions conferred on it by sections 
14L(2) and (3) of the 2006 Act, inserted by section 25 the 2012 Act, together with 
any other functions connected with its main functions as may be specified in 
regulations or in its Constitution. The Governing Body also has functions of the 
CCG delegated to it by the Council.  Our Governing Body has responsibility for: 
 

• ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise 
its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance 
with the CCG’s principles of good governance (its main function); 

• identifying strategic risks and developing an Assurance Framework; 
• approving the commissioning strategy which takes into account financial 

targets and forecast limits of available resources; 
• approving consultation arrangements for the CCG’s commissioning plan; 
• engaging with partners and stakeholders; 
• reviewing compliance with the public involvement Statement of Principles; 
• approving the level of non-pay expenditure on an annual basis; 
• approving reports showing the total financial allocations received and their 

proposed distribution including any sums to be held in reserve including 
regular updates on significant changes; 

• receiving and reviewing reports on financial performance against budget 
and plan, including explanations for variances; 

• receiving reports detailing actual and forecast expenditure and activity for 
contracts; 

• receiving reports which outline the reasons for seeking tenders from firms 
not previously pre-qualified to provide goods/services; 

• determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to 
employees or other persons providing services to the CCG and the 
allowances payable under any pension scheme it may establish under 
paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by Schedule 2 
of the 2012 Act; 

• approving a timetable for producing the annual report and accounts; and 
• approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations. 

 
The Governing Body has an agreed annual cycle of business which enables it to 
discharge the duties set out above. During 2016/17, the Governing Body has 
discharged it duties under the responsibilities above. The Governing Body met 
on twelve occasions and has held all of its meetings in public with the exception 
of ‘In Committee meetings’ which discuss work in progress and items of a 
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confidential nature prior to public disclosure at the earliest convenience. Full 
details of the membership and attendance of the Governing Body is included at 
Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record. 
 
Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record 

 

 

Agendas are structured to deal with strategic, performance, quality assurance, 
risk and governance issues. The arrangements meet the requirements of best 
practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a strong 
accountability framework has been established. They reflect the public service 
values of accountability, probity and openness and specify as Accountable 
Officer my responsibility for ensuring that these values are met within the CCG. 
The Governing Body duties are contained within the CCG’s Constitution, within 

Members Attendance Record  Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 2016/17 
Name Title Audit and 

Risk 
Committee 

Governance 
and Risk 
Committee 

Quality, 
Performance 
and Finance 
Committee 

Governing 
Body  

Remuneration 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

John 
Flook 

Lay Member- Audit and 
Governance (from 1st 
August 2016) 

3/3 (Chair)   7/9 1/1  

Jean 
Golightly 
 

Executive Nurse   5/6 9/12  2/8 

Dr Saleem 
Hassan 

GP Governing Body 
Member Stockton-on-
Tees Locality Lead 
(from 1st June 2016) 

  5/5 8/11  5/7 

Dr David 
Hodges 

GP Governing Body 
Member 

3/5 2/3  10/12   

Andie 
MacKay 

Lay member (from 1st 
August 2016) 

   5/9  5/6 

Graeme 
Niven 

Chief Finance Officer  3/3 5/6 11/12  8/8 

Dr Salvi 
Patel 

GP Governing Body 
Member 

   5/12   

Dr 
Boleslaw 
Posmyk 

 Chair/ GP    9/12 3/4  

Steve 
Smith 

Lay Member- Audit and 
Governance (until 31st 
May 2016) 

2/2 (Chair)   1/1 1/3  

Dr 
Charles 
Stanley 

Secondary Care 
Consultant 

   10/12 3/4 2/2 

Hilary 
Thompson 

Lay Member- 
Patient and Public 
Involvement 

4/5 3/3 (Chair)  11/12 4/4 (Chair) 8/8 (Chair) 

Dr Nick 
Timlin 

GP Governing Body 
Member Hartlepool 
Locality Lead 

  5/6 (Chair) 9/12  3/8 

Dr Paul 
Williams 

GP Governing Body 
Member Stockton-on-
Tees Locality Lead (until 
30th April 2016) 

      

Ali Wilson Chief Officer   6/6 12/12  3/8 
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the standing orders under meetings of the CCG, which is available on the CCG’s 
website. 
 
Key areas that the Governing Body has focussed on during the year include: 
 

• Receipt, review and approval of a range of strategies. 
• Finance and Performance. 
• Quality Performance including safeguarding. 
• Governance and Assurance Performance. 
• Better Care Fund development and plans. 
• Better Health Programme/ Sustainability and Transformation Plans. 
• CCG Operational Plan and Strategic Plans. 

The Governing Body also receives confirmed minutes from each of its 
committees to enable the Governing Body to consider the work and 
effectiveness of the respective committee and to receive assurance relating to 
delivery of their aims and objectives.  
 
During the year, the Governing Body undertook a process of ‘critique’ to review 
at each meeting the effectiveness of the meetings. This process ensures 
continuous learning and development to improve effectiveness. An external 
review of the CCG’s Governance arrangements has been undertaken in line with 
compliance requirement of the Corporate Governance Code. 

 
3.3.4 Remuneration Committee 
The committee is established to advise/recommend to the Governing Body the 
appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer and other 
staff paid through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework. The committee also 
advises/recommends to the Governing Body remuneration for the role of Chair, 
remuneration and terms of service of Governing Body clinical representatives 
and any independent lay members and reviews any business cases for early 
retirement and redundancy. Full details of the membership and attendance of the 
Committee is included at Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings 
Attendance Record.  The committee’s terms of reference are referenced within 
the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website. The committee 
considers its effectiveness on an ongoing basis and has produced an annual 
report of its work. 
 
Key areas that the Committee have focussed on during the year include: 
 

• Terms and Conditions and contracts for clinicians 
• Terms and Conditions and contracts for executives 
• Terms and Conditions and contracts for Lay Members 
• Reporting of appraisals of Governing Body members 
• Shared Management Structure and Shared Accountable Officer role 

 
3.3.5 Audit and Risk Committee 
In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS 
Codes of Conduct and Accountability, the committee provides the organisation 
with an independent and objective review of their financial systems, financial 
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information and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the 
NHS.   
 
Full details of the membership and attendance of the Committee is included at 
Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record.  The 
committee’s cycle of business includes review of the CCG Governing Body 
Assurance Framework and corporate risk register.  The committee Chair is a lay 
member of the Governing Body and has no executive powers, other than those 
specifically delegated in its terms of reference. The committee’s terms of 
reference are referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the 
CCG’s website. Annually, the committee also carries out a self-assessment of its 
effectiveness which is undertaken with support from Internal Audit and the 
committee considered itself to be operating effectively. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee as part of its terms of reference provides an 
Annual Report of its work to the Governing Body. The most recent report 
available covers 2016/17. The principal purpose of the report is to give the 
Governing Body assurance as to the work carried out by the Committee. The 
Committee’s cycle of business enables it to carry out its key objectives 
necessary to support its assurances regarding the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s internal controls.  
 
Significantly during the year through its cycle of business, the Audit and Risk 
Committee have received the following assurances: 
 
• Internal Audit Progress Reports 
• External Audit Progress Reports 
• Chief Finance Officer Reports 
• Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
• Approval of Audit and Counter Fraud Plans 
• Review of Risk Register and Assurance Framework  
• Annual Report and Accounts 

 
As part of the revised governance arrangements, responsibility for monitoring 
risk and governance has passed to this Committee from the Governance and 
Risk Committee 
 
3.3.6 Governance and Risk Committee – Committee ceased to meet on 31st 
December 2016 
 
The principal purpose of the Governance and Risk Committee was to exercise 
on behalf of the Governing Body the functions that are delegated to it in respect 
of the development, implementation and monitoring of integrated risk and 
governance. In particular, by providing assurance on the systems and processes 
by which the Governing Body leads, directs and controls its functions in order to 
achieve its organisational objectives. It had overall responsibility for reviewing 
the CCG Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Registers, (together with 
the Audit aCommittee), and upon which reports were made to the Governing 
Body. Full details of the membership and attendance of the Committee is 
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included at Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance 
Record.   
 
Significantly during the year through its cycle of business, the Governance and 
Risk Committee considered the following risk and governance issues; 
 
• Information Governance Toolkit including sign off of submission 
• Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance Framework 
• Emergency Planning and Business Continuity  
• Health and Safety Strategy and implementation plan 
• Assurance on Equality, Diversity and Human Rights arrangements and 

review of key equality duties and objectives 
• Relevant policy approval including Safeguarding, HR, Information 

Governance and Corporate policies  
• Corporate Risk Register and Assurance Framework including Deep Dive 

exercises on individual responsible directors specific risks 
 

As explained under the Audit and Risk Committee section, as part of the revised 
governance arrangements, responsibility for monitoring risk and governance has 
passed to this Committee from the Governance and Risk Committee. The 
responsibility for the development and implementation of governance and risk 
has passed to the executive team.  
 
 
3.3.7 Quality Performance and Finance Committee 
The purpose of the Committee is to provide assurance to the Governing Body of 
effective management of risk in relation to finance, contracts, performance and 
quality, including the delivery of Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Performance (QIPP). The Committee’s cycle of business includes overseeing 
that commissioned services are being delivered in a high quality and safe 
manner and performance is managed according to the agreed terms of the 
Service Level Agreements and Legally Binding Contracts and that appropriate 
corrective action is being taken to address areas of underperformance, including 
changes to future contracts where necessary. Full details of the membership and 
attendance of the Committee is included at Figure 1: Governing Body and 
Committee Meetings Attendance Record. The Committee’s terms of reference 
are referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s 
website.  
 
One of the Quality, Performance and Finance Committee’s key responsibilities is 
to seek assurance that the CCG is commissioning safe care for patients and this 
is undertaken by monitoring provider performance and adherence to quality 
standards. 
 
Significantly during the year through its cycle of business, the Quality 
Performance and Finance Committee and its associated sub-committees have 
considered the following issues; 
 
• Quality monitoring reports on provider commissioned services, including the 

reporting of serious untoward incidents 
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• Provider reports in relation to complaints, claims and untoward incidents  
• Provider Healthcare Acquired Infections 
• Achievement of QIPP 
• Performance Monitoring of Provider contracts 
• Monitoring delivery of the 2016/17 financial plan 
• Operational and Financial Plans 
• Delivery of commissioning intentions 

 
The committee reviews its effectiveness on an ongoing basis and has produced 
an annual report of its work. 
 
3.3.8 Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
The Committee has a primary purpose of commissioning primary medical 
services for the people of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees. 
 
The role of the Committee shall be to carry out the functions relating to the 
commissioning of primary medical services under Section 83 of the NHS Act, 
except those relating to individual GP performance management, which have 
been reserved to NHS England.  This includes the following activities: 
 

(a)  GMS, PMS and APMS contracts, including:- 
• the design of PMS and APMS contracts; 
• monitoring of contracts; 
• taking contractual action such as issuing breach/remedial notices; 
• removing a contract; 

(b)  Directed Enhanced Services; 
(c) Design of GP services as alternatives to the Quality Outcomes 

Framework [QOF]; 
(d)  Approving practice mergers, boundary changes and list closures; 
(e)  Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area; 
(f) Making decisions on “discretionary” payment (e.g. returner/retainer 

schemes) 
 
In performing its role the Committee will exercise its management of the 
functions in accordance with the agreement entered into between NHS England 
and the CCG, which will sit alongside the delegation and terms of reference. 
 
3.3.9 Funding Panel 
The Funding Panel, which is a collaboration between CCGs and is accountable 
to the CCG’s Governing Body, considers all Individual Funding Requests and 
decides whether or not to support individual requests on the basis of the 
information provided with the request to the committee. Requests will be 
assessed for access to treatment within the commissioning authority of the CCG 
and the membership through the delegation and reservation arrangements. 
 
During the course of the year, it has developed and agreed protocols for 
accessing services or treatment outwith core commissioned services, either for 
NHS or non-NHS providers where a service level agreement or contract does 
not exist. The Governing Body has approved and keeps under review the terms 
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of reference for the Funding Panel which includes information on the 
membership of the committee.  
 
3.3.10 Sustainability and Transformation Plan/ Better Health Programme Joint 
Committee  
The Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning Groups (hereafter referred to as 
the Joint Committee) is a joint committee of: NHS Darlington CCG, NHS Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG, NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and 
Whitby CCG, NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG, and NHS South Tees 
CCG with the primary purpose of arranging formal public consultation in relation 
to service reconfiguration. 
 
The Joint Committee’s primary purpose is to arrange and undertake the formal 
public consultation and then make decisions on the issues relating to 
reconfiguration. 

The role of the Joint Committee therefore shall be to carry out the functions 
relating to making decisions about future acute service configuration and service 
change, undertaking formal public consultation and making decisions on the 
issues which are the subject of the consultation in relation to the STP. 

This includes the following key responsibilities: 

• Determine the options appraisal process, including agreeing the 
evaluation criteria and weighting of the criteria 

• Determine the method and scope of the engagement and consultation 
process 

• Act as the formal body in relation to the public consultation with the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees established for it by the relevant Local 
Authorities 

• Make any necessary decisions arising from a Pre-Consultation Business 
Case (and the decision to run a formal consultation process) 

• Approve the Consultation Plan 
• Approve the text and issues on which the views of the public are sought in 

the Consultation Document 
• Take or arrange for all necessary steps to be taken to enable the CCGs to 

comply with their public sector equality duties 
• Approve the formal report on the outcome of the consultation that 

incorporates all of the representations received in response to the 
consultation document in order to reach a decision 

• Make decisions about future service configuration and service change, 
taking into account all of the information collated and representations 
received in relation to the consultation process. This should include 
consideration of any recommendations made by the Programme Board or 
views expressed by the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
any other relevant organisations. It should also include consideration of 
the implications of the  decisions in relation to potential risk to the 
sustainability and viability of the Foundation Trusts included in the remit of 
the Programme 
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3.3.11 Other committees on which the CCG is a partner  
The CCG is a member of both the Hartlepool Borough Council and Stockton-on-
Tees Borough Council Health and Wellbeing Boards and membership is in 
accordance with the respective Council’s governance arrangements. Together 
with all other CCGs across the North East and Cumbria, the CCG is a member 
of the Northern CCG Forum which is supported by a memorandum of 
understanding. 
 
The CCG is also a statutory member on the Hartlepool Borough Council Local 
Safeguarding Children Board, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Local 
Safeguarding Children Board, Hartlepool Borough Council Safeguarding Adults 
Board, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Safeguarding Adults Board and the 
Tees-wide Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Board.  These bodies are led by our 
local authority partners. 
 
The CCG has entered into joint arrangements with the CCGs in the North of 
England to determine commissioning for health gain policies and to review and 
approve individual funding requests, including conducting an appeals process. In 
accordance with the CCG’s Constitution, where the CCG has established a 
partnership with others, the CCG has provided details in its Scheme of 
Reservation and Delegation of the individual who has delegated authority to 
make decisions on its behalf, although the CCG retains responsibility for the 
decision. Please also see detail at 3.3.9. 
 
Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code  
3.4 We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. 
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by 
drawing upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG. Whilst the 
detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code are not mandatory for 
public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be good practice.   

 
Discharge of Statutory Functions 
3.5.1 During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and 
explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with 
extensive expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with all the relevant 
legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for the Council 
of Members and Governing Body decisions and the scheme of delegation. No 
further guidance or legal advice has superseded this process. 
 
3.5.2 In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory 
duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can 
confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with 
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 
restrictions on delegation of those functions.  
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead 
director. Directorates have confirmed that their structures and those supporting 
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structures provided by NECS provide the necessary capability and capacity to 
undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 

 
4.  Risk Management arrangements and effectiveness 

4.1.1 The Risk Management Framework provides a number of ways in which we 
identify and mitigate risks. We have an established corporate policy set which 
informs our knowledge, and guides our actions and behaviours. These policies 
ensure we conduct our business appropriately, comply with legal requirements 
and protect our patients and staff from avoidable harm. Policies included are a 
Risk Management Strategy and procedures, a Health and Safety Strategy, 
Policy and procedures and an Incident Management Policy. 
 
4.1.2 A Risk Management Strategy is in place, which was approved by the 
Governing Body in May 2015, which takes into account current guidance on risk 
management best practice and is consistent with the principles contained within 
the NHS England’s Risk Management Strategy and Risk Management Policy 
and Procedure issued in July 2013. The Risk Management Strategy sets out the 
CCG’s approach to the way in which, in general terms, risks are managed. This 
is achieved by having a thorough process of risk assessment in place, providing 
a useful tool for the systematic and effective management of risk, and informing 
and guiding staff as to the way in which all significant risks are identified and 
controlled. 
 
4.1.3 Our staff also participate in mandatory training to support them to acquire 
the essential knowledge and skills to fulfil their roles. Throughout 2016/17, 
executive directors and senior manager leads have been held to account for the 
mandatory training compliance rates within their areas. Mandatory training 
requirements include Fire Safety, Equality and Diversity, Information 
Governance and Counter Fraud. 
 
4.1.4 Executive directors and senior manager leads are assigned to each of our 
operational and strategic risks in line with their portfolio and are responsible for 
ensuring their effective assessment and management. They are held to account 
by the Governing Body and its sub-committees, namely the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Quality, Performance and Finance Committee as well as 
more regular one-to-one line management arrangements. There is evidence of 
the Audit and Risk Committee challenging the assessment of risk and controls 
and actions in place to manage risks, acting in accordance with their terms of 
reference to provide assurance to the Governing Body. 
 
4.1.5 The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) enables the 
Governing Body to be sighted on the risks to the delivery of the organisation’s 
strategic objectives and to ensure that effective controls and assurance are in 
place. The Governing Body Assurance Framework was formally agreed at the 
Governing Body on 28 March 2017. 

 
Risk Assessment 

 
4.2.1 Risk is identified in accordance with the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy 
and risk management is embedded in the organisation via a number of 
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mechanisms. Risk identification is undertaken in a number of ways, through 
horizon scanning by the executive team, through identification by sub-
committees of the Governing Body, through identification and escalation by 
individual executive directors and also by the Governing Body. 
 
4.2.2 Identified risks are included in the Corporate Risk Register which identifies 
current and prospective risks to the organisation. The Corporate Risk Register is 
initially reviewed by the Executive Team and provided to the Governing Body. 
Strategic Risks are also reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee in order to 
provide assurance to the organisation.  Active steps are taken to ensure that it is 
regularly updated and updates are provided quarterly to the Audit and Risk 
Committee in line with the Constitution and scheme of delegation. In addition, all 
CCG policies and reports are assessed for risks and equality impact. 

 
4.2.3 Furthermore, the incident reporting system identifies the risks that have 
already (or nearly) occurred from incidents or near misses. Our strategic 
planning system ensures that all organisational objectives are rated for risks to 
achievement of delivery; and our performance management system rates all 
objectives for risk to delivery. In addition, all Governing Body reports are 
assessed for equality impact and all reports are assessed to provide evidence of 
assurance for the Assurance Framework and/or mitigate risk included on the 
CCG’s Risk Register. 
 
4.2.4 As at the end of the year, the CCG was actively managing 19 corporate 
risks. All of these risks have key controls identified against them and also the 
delivery of both external and internal assurance regarding these risks. They also 
include mitigating actions where appropriate and are subject to an action plan.   
 
4.2.5 None of the risks have been assessed as impacting upon the CCG’s 
licence or governance, risk management and internal control processes. The 
Audit and Risk Committee discussed the CCG’s risk register on 7 March 2017 
confirming that they agreed that all risks were being actively managed and 
appropriate mitigations were in place. However, the CCG’s risk register is a 
dynamic document and is constantly subject to update and change in order to 
reflect the nature of the risks the CCG faces. 

 
5. Other sources of Assurance 
 

Internal Control Framework 
 
5.1 A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place 
in the CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed 
to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 
5.2 The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable 
level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
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5.3 Our system of internal control is detailed within our Constitution, in particular 
within the scheme of reservation and delegation, the CCG standing orders and 
the CCG’s prime financial policies. The following internal control mechanisms 
are in place within the CCG: 
 
• A Governing Body which ensures that the CCG has appropriate arrangements 

in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in 
accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance. 

• A committee structure, as described in section 4, in which each have a vital 
role in contributing to the establishment of an effective governance 
infrastructure and for both identifying and interpreting information relating to 
risks to the fulfilment of our objectives and vision; the safety of patient care; 
high quality commissioning; our role as an employer. 

• An appointed Accountable Officer who is responsible (amongst other duties) 
for ensuring that the CCG fulfils its duties to exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically thus ensuring improvement in the quality of 
services and the health of the local population whilst maintaining value for 
money. By working closely with the Chair of the Governing Body, the 
Accountable Officer will ensure that proper constitutional, governance and 
development arrangements are put in place to assure the members (through 
the Governing Body) of the organisation’s ongoing capability and capacity to 
meet its duties and responsibilities. 

• An appointed Chief Finance Officer who is responsible for (amongst other 
duties) overseeing robust audit and governance arrangements leading to 
propriety in the use of the CCG’s resources. 

• Appointed internal and external auditors who also measure the effectiveness 
of internal control through their efforts. They assess whether the controls are 
properly designed, implemented and working effectively, and make 
recommendations on how to improve internal control which the CCG acts 
upon. 

• Finally, all staff members are responsible for reporting operational problems, 
monitoring and improving their performance, and monitoring non-compliance 
with the corporate policies and various professional codes, or violations of 
policies, standards, practices and procedures. Their particular responsibilities 
are documented in their own objectives and role and responsibilities.  

 
5.4 The CCG is responsible overall for its system of internal control, however it is 
reliant on others for provision of services and therefore their respective systems 
of internal control: 

 
NECS - A number of functions of the CCG are carried out by the North of 
England Commissioning Support Unit under a service level agreement; however 
the CCG retains the delegated responsibilities as per its agreed Constitution. 
The services provided by the CSU are:  
 

• Service Planning 
• Service Reform 
• Procurement and Market Management 
• Provider Management 
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• Joint Commissioning  
• Continuing Healthcare  
• Medicines Optimisation  
• Clinical Quality 
• Governance including Risk Management and Incident Reporting 
• Research and Development  
• Commissioning Finance 
• Financial Control 
• Financial Accounting  
• Business Information Services  
• Business Information Services Information Communication Technology 

(ICT) 
• Human Resources  
• Organisation Development  
• Communications and Engagement  

 
Secondary User System (SUS) – national system, repository for the acute 
activity and is used to generate the financial charges to Foundation Trusts. 
 
Payroll – provided by Northumbria Healthcare Foundation Trust, a payments 
system for staff salaries and travel expenses. 
 
Prescribing spend – national system ran by Business Services Authority, 
payment mechanism to dispensing pharmacies for issuing GP prescriptions. 
 
Electronic Staff Record (ESR) – national system ran by McKesson – records 
relevant information for employed staff and links to information used for payroll. 
 
Procurement and creditor payment systems. National system ran by Shared 
Business Services – ordering of good and services, and payment of invoices. 
 
General Ledger system – national system Oracle, providers’ financial 
management information and information for annual accounts.  
 

5.5 Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS 
England has published a template audit framework.  
 
An annual internal audit of conflicts of interest has been carried out by the CCG’s 
internal auditors in accordance with the template audit framework. Reasonable 
assurance has been provided by the internal auditors to the CCG. Further areas 
for development identified by the audit included the provision of training to all 
members of staff and ensuring all members of the CCG has fully completed 
declarations of interest. 
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Information Governance (IG) 

 
5.6 The CCG actively manages its data security risks through our Information 
Governance Framework and is assessed through our IG Toolkit work. The 
Governance and Risk Committee have received quarterly updates on progress 
against the IG Toolkit and the CCG achieved a satisfactory rating for level 2 of 
the IG Toolkit. 

 
5.6.1 The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and 
procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and 
employees, in particular personal identifiable information.   The NHS Information 
Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and 
the annual submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other 
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, 
securely, efficiently and effectively. The CCG has in place a Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO), (Graeme Niven, Chief Finance Officer) and a Caldicott 
Guardian (Dr Kai Sander, GP IT Lead). 

 
5.6.2 We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information 
governance systems and processes in place to help protect information.  We 
have an Information Governance Framework in place comprising an approved 
strategy and a suite of approved policies and procedures in line with the 
Information Governance Toolkit.  We have ensured all staff undertake annual 
information governance training and have implemented a staff information 
governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance 
roles and responsibilities.   

 
5.6.3 There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of 
serious incidents.  This process outlines the scope of responsibilities and details 
the reporting procedures to be used in the event of a data security breach.  We 
are continuing to develop information risk assessment and management 
procedures and a programme is being established to fully embed an information 
risk culture throughout the organisation. 
 
5.7 Data Quality  
The CCG has an approved Data Quality Policy which clearly defines data and 
explains data standards and the importance of data validation.  Assurance on 
the quality of data is provided through the data quality procedures and policies 
put in place including NHS number compliance, pseudonymisation, compliance 
with new ISNs, Reference Cost Audits, Information Governance Toolkit data 
quality requirements. Data Quality requirements are also built into contract with 
providers and within the SLA in place with NECS. Any data provided to the 
Governing Body is verified by directors’ responsible for those areas before it is 
formally presented.  
 
5.8 Business Critical Models  
The Commissioning Support Unit holds all the business critical models that are 
used by the CCG.  The CCG has received assurance that an appropriate 
framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of business 
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critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report. 
Further assurance has been given that all business critical models have been 
identified and that information about quality assurance processes for those 
models has been provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee, chaired by the 
Chief Analyst in the Department of Health. 
 
5.9 Data Security 
There has been one level 2 serious personal data incidents during this period 
within the CCG. Following the publication of the Urgent Care procurement for the 
CCG on 5 August, NECS procurement team were notified by an incumbent 
provider that Names and Dates of Birth (DoB) of staff had been issued as part of 
the TUPE information which formed part of the tender documents, resulting in a 
breach of the Data Protection Act 1998. 

 The incident level was assessed by the CCG in accordance with the ‘Checklist 
Guidance for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information Governance 
and Cyber Security Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation V5.1 – 29th May 
2015’ and the incident was rated as a level 2 incident. The incident was reported 
to and investigated by the ICO who concluded they would not be taking any 
action due to the corrective actions already undertaken by the CCG to ensure 
this situation did not reoccur. 

 
The CCG has submitted the Information Governance Toolkit and has been 
assessed as being 75% overall compliant, which confirms the organisation’s 
rating as overall ‘satisfactory’ in this regard. Significant assurance has been 
given in respect of the CCG’s Information Toolkit submission following a review 
by Internal Audit. 
 
The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. 
During the year, the CCG received 280 FOI requests under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 and 4 subject access requests under the Data Protection 
Act 1998. All the requests were responded to within the statutory timescales. 
 
5.10 Third party assurances 
 
As a result of the support service arrangements provided by NECS under a 
signed service level agreement, the CCG will receive a number of assurance 
reports covering the 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017.  These will be reviewed 
and form part of the overall head of audit opinion. 
  
The CCG has received a Service Auditor Report from NECS covering the period 
1st April 2016 to 30th September 2016.  
 
The report covers control objectives in relation to those services provided to the 
CCG: 

• Accounts Payable; 
• Accounts Receivable; 
• Treasury and Cash Management; 
• Financial Ledger; 
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• Financial Reporting; and 
• Payroll. 

 
The Deloitte audit opinion was a qualified one, on account of five exceptions 
noted in the control environment. These exceptions related to review of payroll 
and financial ledger journals, authorisation of purchase orders, training for 
finance staff, and production of forecast outturn reports. Remedial action has 
been put in place by NECS to address these minor control exceptions. The 
report provides reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would 
be achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the year.  
 
Work is currently ongoing to produce the second report covering the second half 
of the year, and at the time of producing this report, it had not been issued. In 
addition, Service Auditor Reports are currently awaited for business continuity 
and contract management. A separate report has been produced in the year 
covering Continuing Health Care processes.  

 
The CCG will also have access to a service auditor report from Shared Business 
Services for finance and accounting and procurement controls; and a separate 
service auditor report for payroll. However, at the time of producing this report, 
the remaining assurances are not available to us and as such have not been 
considered as part of our draft opinion. 
 

6.   Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources  
 

6.1 The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing 
its resources. The Quality, Performance and Finance Committee have 
continuously monitored the financial position of the CCG throughout the year and 
highlighted risks to the Governing Body regarding the effective and efficient use 
of resources. 
 
6.2 The Governing Body approved the CCG’s financial plans for 2016/17 and 
have received an updated financial position, as part of the Finance and 
Performance report, at each of their Governing Body meetings. This includes the 
opportunity to ask questions of the Executive relating to assurance of the 
delivery of the CCG’s financial objectives. By combining the finance and 
performance report into one report, this illustrates the wider considerations 
between cost and performance and allows challenge of the executive to be 
made. They have also actively sought assurance from the Quality, Performance 
and Finance Committee as well as from the Audit and Risk Committee via 
internal and external audit reports that the CCG is ensuring value for money in 
the use of its resources. In year performance is monitored by the CCG’s Finance 
Committee.  
 
6.3 Central management costs, known as the CCG’s running cost allowance was 
£6.4m for 2016/17. The CCG operated within the running cost allowance during 
the year, totalling a running cost of £5.5m.  
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6.4  As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to 
hold a 1 percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by 
setting aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-
recurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year 
Forward View transformation priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of 
risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means. In the event, 
the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England 
has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be 
spent.  Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS HaST CCG has 
released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for 
the year of £4.366m.  This additional surplus will be carried forward for 
drawdown in future years. Due to prudent financial planning and management, 
the CCG’s financial performance in 2016/17 has delivered the planned surplus 
as was the case for 2015/16. 
 
6.3 Internal Audit reports have been undertaken in relation to financial 
management arrangements and performance reporting to NHS England, and 
financial planning and budget setting. Significant assurance has been provided 
in relation to these areas. However, the CCG has also recognised that there are 
a number of risks that it has had to manage in-year in order to ensure it delivers 
its resources, namely: 
 
• Failure to manage continuing healthcare costs. 
• Failure to manage prescribing costs. 
• Failure to deliver QIPP. 

 
These risks are actively managed under the CCG’s risk and control framework 
as described in section 5. 
 
6.4 As part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to 
satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this 
by examining documentary evidence and through discussions with senior 
managers. Their audit work is made available to and reviewed by the Audit and 
Risk Committee. 
 
6.5 The CCG’s performance is routinely monitored by NHS England and this 
includes a well-led assessment, the most recent data of which is included in the 
table below: 
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The latest results available on my NHS are from Q2 2016/17. The year end 
results for the indicator will be available from July 2017 at www.nhs.uk/service-
search/scorecard/results/1175 
 

7.   Delegation of functions 
This is covered under the section Third Party Assurances at 5.10  

8.   Counter fraud arrangements 
8.1 The CCG is required to have counter fraud provision to meet its statutory 
financial reporting duties and in year financial reporting requirements and has in 
place clear counter fraud arrangements and access to appropriate, accredited 
counter fraud support.  

 
8.2 The CCG meets these requirements within their resource constraints via a 
nominated and accredited LCFS (via service level agreement with Audit One) 
and policies and procedures which have been fraud proofed in conjunction with 
the LCFS. Fraud alerts are regularly circulated and followed up and links to our 
newsletter are periodically distributed. In addition an anti-fraud e-learning module 
has been successfully adopted. Efficiencies are achieved through centralisation 
of core services. Proactive work has been undertaken and is ongoing in respect 
of risks identified. 

 
8.3 The Standards for Commissioners 2016/17 were posted on the NHS Protect 
website in March 2016 and the CCG noted some changes from last year, mainly 
the removal of the requirement to review providers’ organisational crime profiles. 
Working with the counter-fraud team, the CCG completed the Self-Review Tool 
(SRT) and submitted a completed return to NHS Protect by 31st May 2016 in 
accordance with the guidance. The CCG Audit and Risk Committee receives a 
report against each of the Standards for Commissioners on annual basis as part 
of the counter-fraud annual report. 

 

http://www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175
http://www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175
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8.4 Counter-Fraud has undertaken work this year in respect of the Bribery Act 
and Continuing Healthcare, and in addition assisted the CCG with their 
participation in the 2016/17 National fraud initiative (NFI).  

 
8.5 The Chief Finance Officer of the CCG is the executive lead for counter-fraud 
matters. Any issue relating to tackling fraud, bribery and corruption is supported 
by the Chief Finance Officer who in accordance with the Counter-Fraud policy 
would reported such incidents to the Audit and Risk Committee. Additional days 
must also be purchased over and above the core days in the plan, in the event of 
any referrals or identification of any potential frauds. All such amendments to the 
plan will be discussed and agreed with the Chief Finance Officer in the first 
instance. 

  

9.   Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the 
CCG, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, 
governance and internal control: 
 
The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the 
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which 
underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual 
Governance Statement. 

My opinion is set out as follows: 

 

1. Overall opinion; 
2. Basis for the opinion; 
3. Commentary. 
 
1   Overall Opinion 
 
 

 
 
 
 

2   Basis for the Opinion  
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of 
risk; 

 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing good 
assurance that the system of internal control has been designed to meet the 
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being consistently 
applied.  
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2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit 
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses; 

 
3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances; 
 
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit 

recommendations; and 
 
5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 

 
3. Commentary 
 
The below commentary provides the context for my opinion and together with the 
opinion should be read in its entirety. 

 
Opinion Area 

 
Commentary 

Design and operation of 
the Assurance 
Framework and 
supporting processes 

The Governing Body Assurance Framework has been 
updated throughout 2016/17, and presented to both the 
Audit and Risk Committee and the Governing Body during 
the year.  
 
Our review of the CCG’s governance and risk 
management arrangements identified no issues of 
concern.  The follow up review of our previous 
governance and risk management arrangements audit 
was assigned ‘substantial assurance’ and our review of 
the joint governance arrangements put in place with 
Darlington CCG was assigned ‘good assurance’. On this 
basis we are content that the Board Assurance 
Framework provides a reasonable basis to support the 
CCG’s Annual Governance Statement. 

Outturn of Internal Audit 
Plan 
 
 

During the year 2016/17 we have undertaken our work in 
accordance with the Internal Audit annual plan.  We have 
reported our findings to the Chief Finance Officer and 
Chief Officer (and other Executive colleagues where 
applicable).  Our progress reports to the Audit and Risk 
Committee set out the areas covered by internal audit 
work during the year, our results and matters arising. 
 
All final reports issued during the year to date have been 
issued with an assurance level of either good or 
substantial; and no significant issues have been 
identified.  The CCG should review our findings in order to 
satisfy itself that any significant control issues have been 
recognised and appropriately disclosed in its Governance 
Statement.   
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Opinion Area 
 

Commentary 

At the time of compiling this report one draft report has 
been issued to management, and is being progressed in 
accordance with the Internal Audit Protocol.  The report, 
relating to conflicts of interest, has been assigned 
reasonable assurance.  This draft report has been 
considered as part of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion.  
Assignments in progress and where the audit field work 
has been satisfactorily completed have also been 
considered as part of this process. 
 
By way of commentary it should also be noted that there 
have been no ‘limited assurance’ final reports issued for 
2016/17.  

Brought forward Internal 
Audit assurances 

A ‘significant assurance’ Head of Audit opinion was given 
for the year ended 31 March 2016, and there are no 
material outstanding matters brought forward that will 
impact on the Head of Audit Opinion for 2016/17. 

Response to Internal 
Audit recommendations 
 
 

There is a formal process in place to follow up on 
outstanding actions to address issues identified in internal 
audit reports. Progress against outstanding actions is 
reported in regular progress reports to the Audit and Risk 
Committee, with specific attention drawn to any actions 
where the target date has been deferred, or where no 
update has been received from officers within the CCG.  
There are no significant outstanding issues that impact 
upon the overall opinion.    

Significant factors 
outside the work of 
internal audit 
 
 

Whilst the Head of Internal Audit Opinion provides the 
CCG with assurances in relation to the areas covered by 
the internal audit plan, it is only one of the sources of 
assurance available to the CCG.  As the CCG outsources 
many of its functions, assurances from third parties are 
equally as important when the CCG is preparing its 
Annual Governance Statement.  Although we have 
reviewed the third party reports available, we have not 
taken account of these in providing our overall Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion.  
 
It is for the CCG to decide if any of the weaknesses 
identified in the issued reports should be included within 
the CCG’s Annual Governance Statement, and that they 
provide the CCG with sufficient assurance that these key 
controls were operating throughout the year. 
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10.   Review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal control 
 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control within the CCG. 

 
10.1 Capacity to handle risk  
 
10.1.1 As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility for: 

• ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management strategy, 
including effective risk management systems and internal controls; 

•  the development of the corporate governance and assurance framework; 
• meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance 

towards our strategic objectives. 
 

10.1.2 Each of the executive directors and senior manager leads of the CCG are 
responsible for: 

• co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the 
Risk Management Strategy; 

• ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken 
to implement improvements; 

• ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk 
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management Strategy; 

• incorporating risk management as a management technique within the 
performance management arrangements for the organisation. 
 

10.1.3 All managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the risk 
management strategy within their span of control and for ensuring that staff 
understand and apply the relevant policy and strategy in relation to risk 
management. All staff within the CCG are responsible for assisting in the 
implementation of the Risk Management Strategy and for highlighting any areas 
of risk through the incident reporting procedures, a principal means through 
which the CCG manages risk and learns lessons.  
 
10.1.4 The risk management process has been implemented in accordance with 
agreed policy by the Chief Finance Officer supported by the Corporate 
Governance and Risk Manager. Additionally, the Scheme of Delegation clearly 
sets out the individual level responsibilities held at director level in relation to risk 
management. 
 
10.2 Review of effectiveness 
 
10.2.1 My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed 
by the work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical 
leads within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance 
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by 
the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.  
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10.2.2 The Governing Body Assurance Framework itself provides me with 
evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG 
achieving its objectives have been reviewed.  

 
10.2.3 I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit 
and Risk Committee, and the Governance and Risk Committee, and plans to 
address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system are in 
place.  
 
10.2.4 The Corporate Management Team also make a significant contribution to 
the overall effectiveness of the system. Each director and senior executive has 
provided an annual assurance statement which describes any significant issues 
and confirms the work undertaken to manage risk and comply with duties. 
Furthermore, it has enabled me as Accountable Officer to gain on-going 
assurance regarding compliance with statutory duties and risk. 
 
10.2.5 The CCG commission and receive support from a number of systems and 
from a number of organisations.  The CCG can seek assurance via a Service 
Auditor Report, and/or seeking internal audit assurance and/or placing its own 
internal controls. During the year, the Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed 
these risks and have provided assurance that systems are in place to minimise 
the risks and I have placed reliance on them to form this Annual Governance 
Statement.  
 
 

• SUS  
• NECS System  
• Payroll   
• Prescribing Spend  
• ESR  
• Procurement and Creditor Payments  
• General Ledger  

 
10.3 My review for 2016/17 is also informed by: 
 

• Regular executive reporting to my delivery team (senior executive 
meeting) and to the Governing Body and escalation processes through 
the Audit and Risk Committee. 

• Third Party Assurance provided for the functions carried out on behalf of 
the CCG.  

• NHS England Assurance processes. 
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11. Conclusion  
My review confirms that NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG has a 
sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, 
aims and objectives. Where weaknesses have been identified, actions have 
been put in place for 2016/17. 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer  
30 May 2017 
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Remuneration and Staff Report  

Remuneration report 
 
Remuneration Committee (not subject to audit): 
The Remuneration Committee was established to advise the Governing Body about 
pay, other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer and other senior 
staff, including the clinical staff of the CCG.  
 
The Remuneration Committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s 
constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegation. The committee is made up 
as follows: 

• Hilary Thompson, Lay Member (Patient and Public Involvement) - Chair of 
Remuneration Committee 

• Steve Smith, Lay Member (Audit and Governance) (up until 31st May 2016) 
• John Flook, Lay Member (Audit and Governance) (from 1st August 2016)  
• Dr Boleslaw Posmyk, Chair of the Governing Body 
• Dr Charles Stanley, Governing Body Secondary Care Consultant 

 
The Remuneration Committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to 
make recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for 
employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the CCG. The Chief 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have provided advice and guidance to the 
committee in relation to pay rates and terms and conditions for its clinical members, 
although they were specifically excluded from discussions in relation to their own pay 
rates and terms and conditions. Legal advice was also sought from Hempsons which 
was obtained in relation to contractual type for GP members of the Governing Body; 
this was obtained on a regional basis across the North East CCGs. 
 
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.  
 
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is 
reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review payments made to 
any senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments 
in future years. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of 
service and guidance issued by the Department of Health. 
 
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG 
are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either 
party. 
 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service, and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made 
during the year to past senior managers.  
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For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of ‘senior managers’ is 
taken from the CCG Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England:  
 
Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group. This means 
those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the decisions 
of individual directorates or departments. It is considered that the Governing Body 
voting members represent the senior managers of the CCG. 
 
It is considered that the Governing Body voting members represent the senior 
managers of the CCG.  
 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG Senior Officers 2016/17 Declarations of 
Interests (not subject to audit): 
 

These are included in the Accountability Report at page 82.
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Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG Senior Officers Salaries & Allowances 2016/17 (subject to audit): 
 

Name  Title 2016/17 

    

Salary & 
Fees 

(bands of 
£5000) 

 
£000 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable  to 
nearest £00) 

 
£00 

 Performance 
Pay and 

Bonuses 
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Long-term 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

 
All 

Pension 
Related 

Benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500) 
 

£000 

 
 
 

Total (bands 
of £5,000) 

 
£000 

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 65-70 13 n/a n/a 0 65-70 

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 55-60 0 n/a n/a 5-7.5 60-65 

Dr Charles Stanley Governing Body Member, 
Secondary Care Doctor 10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Graeme Niven Chief Finance Officer 90-95 68 n/a n/a 45-47.5 145-150 

Hilary Thompson Governing Body Lay Member 
(Patient and Public Involvement) 10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Dr Nick Timlin Hartlepool Locality Lead  20-25 n/a n/a n/a 0-2.5 25-30 

Dr Paul Williams 
(up until 30th April 2016) 

GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality Lead 0-5 n/a n/a n/a 0 0-5 

Dr Adam Hassan 
(from 1st June 2016) 

GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality Lead 20-25 n/a n/a n/a 0 20-25 

Steve Smith 
(up until 31st May 2016) 

Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 0-5 n/a n/a n/a 0 0-5 

John Flook 
(from 1st August 2016) 

Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 0-5 n/a n/a n/a 0 0-5 

Andie Mackay Governing Body Lay Member 0-5 n/a n/a n/a 0 0-5 

Jean Golightly Executive Nurse 40-45 n/a n/a n/a 30-32.5 115-120 

Dr David Hodges GP Member 0-5 n/a n/a n/a 0-2.5 5-10 

Dr Salvi Patel GP Member 5-10 n/a n/a n/a 0 5-10 
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Lisa Tempest Director of Performance, 
Planning & Assurance 15-20 n/a n/a n/a 5-7.5 20-25 

Karen Hawkins Director of Commissioning  & 
Transformation 75-80 n/a n/a n/a 55-57.5 125-130 

 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG Senior Officers Salaries & Allowances 2015/16: 

 
Name  Title 2015/16 

    

Salary & 
Fees 

(bands of 
£5000) 

 
£000 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable  to 
nearest £00) 

 
£00 

 Performance 
Pay and 

Bonuses 
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Long-term 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

 
All 

Pension 
Related 

Benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500) 
 

£000 

 
 
 

Total (bands 
of £5,000) 

 
£000 

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 120-125 20 n/a n/a 252.5-255 400-405 

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 85-90 50 n/a n/a 0 95-100 

Dr Charles Stanley Governing Body Member, 
Secondary Care Doctor 10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Graeme Niven Chief Finance Officer 95-100 70 n/a n/a 32.5-35 130-132.5 

Hilary Thompson Governing Body Lay Member 
(Patient and Public Involvement) 10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Dr Nick Timlin Hartlepool Locality Lead  15-20 n/a n/a n/a 0 25-30 

Dr Paul Williams GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality Lead 55-60 n/a n/a n/a 7.5-10 62.5-65 

Steve Smith Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Jean Golightly Executive Nurse 40-45 n/a n/a n/a 2.5-5 45-50 

Dr David Hodges GP Member 5-10 n/a n/a n/a 0 5-10 

Dr Salvi Patel GP Member 5-10 n/a n/a n/a 0 5-10 
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Notes: 
 
The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and receive no remuneration from the CCG for their role as 
Governing Body members: 
 
 Louise Wallace Director of Public Health Hartlepool 
 Jane Humphries Director of Adult & Children Services Stockton 
 
Staff Sharing – South Tees CCG 
 
The following Senior Officer is employed by Hartlepool and Stockton CCG but also works for South Tees CCG as part of a 
50/50 staff sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed above shows the full remuneration. Their banded total 
remuneration in the financial year 2016/17 was £85,000 to £90,000. 
 
Jean Golightly     Executive Nurse  
 
Staff Sharing – Darlington CCG 
 
The following Senior Officer is employed by Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG but has also worked for Darlington 
CCG for the full year, as interim Chief accountable officer until 30th April 2016, and as Chief Officer for the rest of the year 
as part of a 50/50 staff sharing arrangement. 
 
Ali Wilson 
 
The following Senior Officers have worked across Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG and Darlington CCG as part of a 
joint management structure.  
 
Graeme Niven - Chief Finance Officer 
Lisa Tempest - Director of Performance, Planning & Assurance 
Karen Hawkins - Director of Commissioning & Transformation 
 
The following Senior Officers are employed by Darlington CCG but have worked for Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees 
CCG in a joint role from 1st August 2016 as part of a 50/50 staff sharing arrangement. 
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John Flook - Lay Member 
Andie Mackay - Lay Member 
 
The tables above show the Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG share of all the above staff sharing arrangements with 
Darlington CCG. The following table shows total remuneration across the two CCG's: 
 
Name  Title 2016/17 

    

Salary & 
Fees 

(bands of 
£5000) 

 
£000 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable  to 
nearest £00) 

 
£00 

 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Long-term 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

 
All Pension 

Related 
Benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

 
£000 

 
 
 

Total 
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 
Ali Wilson Chief Officer 140-145 26 n/a n/a 0 140-145 

Graeme Niven Chief Finance Officer 95-100 73 n/a n/a 45-47.5 150-155 

John Flook Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Andie Mackay Governing Body Lay Member 10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Lisa Tempest Director of Performance, 
Planning & Assurance 90-95 n/a n/a n/a 25-27.5 115-120 

Karen Hawkins Director of Commissioning  & 
Transformation 80-85 n/a n/a n/a 55-57.5 130-135 

 
Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office 

No payments have been made for Loss of Office. 

Payments to past members 

No payments have been made to past senior managers.
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Pay Multiples (subject to audit) 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation's workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the governing body in Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG in the 
financial year 2016/17 was £90,000 to £95,000. This was 1.85 times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£50,467. 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It 
does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  2016/17 values have been 
calculated after annualising the Governing Body members. 
 

  2016/17 
2015/16 

Restated 
  

 
 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 90-95 120-125 
    
Median Total Remuneration (£) 50,467 38,961 
    
Ratio 1.85 3.11 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Page 122 of 130 
 

 

 

 

 

Revised Pay Multiples (excluding Lay Members and Non-Executive GPs) 
 

  2016/17 
2015/16 

Restated 
  

 
 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 90-95 120-125 
    
Median Total Remuneration (£) 50,467 32,530 
    
Ratio 1.85 3.73 
  

 
 

 
 
There has been a difference between 2015/16 and 2016/17 regarding the Band of Highest Paid Director’s Total Remuneration; this 
is due to the Chief Officer role under the joint working arrangement between Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees and Darlington 
CCGs, so now the highest paid role is the Chief Finance Officer. The Median Total Remuneration has increased by £17,937 
between 2015/16 and 2016/17 when all pay information is considered.  
 
The CCG by its very nature employs and calls on the services of Lay members and Non-Executive GPs. These individuals work 
between 1 and 2 sessions for the CCG a month and therefore this can distort the median total remuneration. Presented in the table 
above are pay multiples without these individuals as well as other Governing Body members. The ratio remains static at 1.85.  
 
The ratio change for 2015/16 to 16/17 is a reduction of 1.88. This ratio has altered for the following reasons 

• The change of band of highest paid director as noted above 
• adjustment to the number or composition of the general workforce – partly in relation to shared management arrangements 

with Darlington CCG (Subject to Audit) 
• Agenda for Change terms and conditions staff subject to a 1% pay award.  
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Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2016/17 (subject to audit): 
 

Name and Title Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

pension at age 
60 (bands of 

£2500) 

 Real increase 
/ (reduction) in 
Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 
60 (bands of 

£2500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2017 (bands of 

£5000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2017 
(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at  31 March 

2016 

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value 

at 31 March 
2017 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

value at 31 
March 2017 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

A Wilson 
Chief Officer 

0 0 50-55 155-160 1,207 4 1,211 20 

G Niven 
Chief Finance Officer 

2.5-5 2.5-5 40-45 110-115 673 17 690 14 

Boleslaw Posmyk 
Chair of Governing Body 

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 35-40 248 0 0 3 

Charles Stanley 
Governing Body Member 
Secondary Care Doctor 
 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Hilary Thompson 
Governing Body Lay Member 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Nick Timlin 
Locality Lead  

0-2.5 0 10-15 30-35 198 16 214 4 

Paul Williams 
Governing Body Member 
(up until 30th April 2016) 

0 0 5-10 
 

15-20 
 

228 0 114 1 

Dr Adam Hassan 
(from 1st June 2016) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Steve Smith 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(up until 31st May 2016) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

John Flook 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(from 1st August 2016) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Andie Mackay 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(from 1st August 2016) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Jean Golightly 
Executive Nurse 

0-2.5 5-7.5 15-20 50-55 283 46 329 12 

Dr David Hodges 
GP Member 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Dr Salu Patel 
GP Member 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Lisa Tempest 0-2.5 0 0 0 128 23 151 13 

Karen Hawkins 2.5-5 2.5-5 15-20 35-40 171 42 213 12 
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The tables below show the employee costs of the CCG for 2016/17 and 2015/16. 
 
 
 2016-17 Total  Admin  Programme 

Total 
£’000 

Permanent 
Employees  

£’000 
Other 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Permanent 
Employees  

£’000 
Other 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Permanent 
Employees  

£’000 
Other 
£’000 

Employee Benefits          

Salaries and wages 1,017 997 20 876 855 20 142 142 0 

Social security costs 103 103 0 95 95 0 7 7 0 
Employer Contributions to NHS 
Pension Scheme 117 117 0 113 113 0 4 4 0 

Terminations Benefits 80 80 0 80 80 0 0 0 0 
Net employee benefits 
expenditure 1,317 1,297   20 1,164 1,143 20 153 153 0 

 
 
 
 2015-16 Total  Admin  Programme 

Total 
£’000 

Permanent 
Employees  

£’000 
Other 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Permanent 
Employees  

£’000 
Other 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Permanent 
Employees  

£’000 
Other 
£’000 

Employee Benefits          

Salaries and wages 957 953 4 863 862 1 94 91 3 

Social security costs 90 90 0 83 83 0 7 7 0 
Employer Contributions to NHS 
Pension Scheme 128 128 0 123 123 0 5 5 0 

Terminations Benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Net employee benefits 
expenditure 1,175 1,171    4 1,069 1,068 1 106 103 3 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (subject to audit) 
 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a 
member at a particular point in time.  The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension 
payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another 
pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in their former 
scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and 
the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of 
their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within the guidelines 
and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 
Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (subject to audit) 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to 
inflation, contributions paid by the employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) 
and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months (not 
subject to audit): 
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 Number 
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017 

 

0 
Of which, the number that have existed:  

 

for less than one year at the time of reporting  
 

0 
for between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 
for between two and three years at the time of reporting 0 
for between three and four years at the time of reporting  
 

0 
for four or more years at the time of reporting 0 

 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board 
members, and/or senior officers with 
significant financial responsibility, during the 
year  

0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed 
board members, and/or senior officers with 
significant financial responsibility during the 
financial year. This figure includes both off-
payroll and on-payroll engagements 

13 

 
Pension liabilities 
Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the accounting policies and pension costs notes in the CCG’s 
financial statements (notes 1.9 and 4.5 respectively). Further details of directors’ pension benefits can be found on 123. 
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Workforce Overview 2016/17 
 
Details of staff numbers are included in note 4.2 of the financial statements. 
 
Sickness Absence Data: 
 
Details of sickness absence data are included in note 4.3 of the financial statements. 
 
The CCG monitors its sickness absence and follows an approved policy. 
 
Gender makeup of the CCG: 
 
 Male Female 
Governing Body members including all very senior managers 7 6 
CCG employees (excluding Governing Body Members) 5 18 
 
Note: All senior managers are included in the Governing Body members including very senior managers. 
 
Staff policies and equal opportunities for staff 
We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels 
of pay and related terms and conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal 
value, being entitled to equal pay. 

Expenditure on consultancy 
There has been no expenditure on consultancy in 2016/17. 
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Two Tick Disability Symbol  
The CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a Two Tick Disability employer for 2016/17. The symbol, awarded by 
Jobcentre Plus, demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff.  
 
As a Two Tick Disability Symbol employer we have displayed five commitments regarding recruitment, training, retention, 
consultation and disability awareness: 
 

•To interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job vacancy and to consider them on their abilities. 
•To discuss with disabled employees, at any time but at least once a year, what both parties can do to make sure disabled 
employees can develop and use their abilities. 
•To make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in employment. 
•To take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of disability awareness needed to make these 
commitments work. 
•To review these commitments each year and assess what has been achieved, plan ways to improve on them and let 
employees and Jobcentre Plus know about progress and future plans. 

 
 
 

Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer  
30 May 2017 
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is not required to produce a 

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent 

liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as 

notes in the Financial Statements of this report at Appendix 1. An audit certificate 

and report is also included in this Annual Report at Appendix 2. 

 



Financial statements Appendix 1

Page Number

The Primary Statements:

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017 1
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2017 2
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended 31 March 2017 3
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2017 4

Notes to the financial statements
Accounting policies 5
Other operating revenue 10
Employee benefits and staff numbers 11
Operating expenses 13
Better payment practice code 14
Income generation activities 14
Investment revenue 14
Other (gains) and losses 14
Finance costs 14
Operating leases 15
Trade and other receivables 16
Cash and cash equivalents 17
Trade and other payables 17
Provisions 17
Contingencies 17
Commitments 18
Financial instruments 18
Operating segments 19
Pooled budgets 19
Related party transactions 20
Events after the end of the reporting period 21
Losses and special payments 21
Financial performance targets 21

CONTENTS

NHS Hartlepool & Stockon-on-Tees CCG Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 March 2017



1

NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016/17 2015/16
Note £000 £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 3.1 1,316                1,175        
Other costs 4 441,247            398,073    
Other operating revenue 2 (426)                  (150)          
Net operating costs before interest 442,137            399,098    

Investment revenue 7 -                        -                
Other (gains)/losses 8 -                        -                
Finance costs 9 -                        -                
Net operating costs for the financial year 442,137            399,098    

Of which:
Administration costs
Gross employee benefits 3.1 1,163                1,069        
Other costs 4 4,299                4,939        
Other operating revenue 2 -                        -                
Net administration costs before interest 5,462                6,008        

Programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 3.1 153                   106           
Other costs 4 436,948            393,134    
Other operating revenue 2 (426)                  (150)          
Net programme expenditure before interest 436,675            393,090    

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 442,137            399,098    
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2017

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Note £000 £000

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 11 1,598                 1,872                
Cash and cash equivalents 12 371                    246                   
Total current assets 1,969                 2,118                

Total assets 1,969                 2,118                

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 (21,362)              (21,782)             
Provisions 14 (3)                       (305)                  
Total current liabilities (21,365)              (22,087)             

Total assets less total current liabilities (19,396)              (19,969)             

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund (19,396)              (19,969)             
Total taxpayers' equity (19,396)              (19,969)             

The notes on pages 5 to 21 of the Annual Report form part of this statement

Ali Wilson
Accountable Officer
    May 2017

The financial statements on pages 1 to 21 of the Annual Report were approved and authorised for issue by the Governing 
Body on 30 May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17:

Balance at 1 April 2016 (19,969) (19,969)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17
Net operating costs for the financial year (442,137) (442,137)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (442,137) (442,137)

Net Parliamentary funding 442,710 442,710

Balance at 31 March 2017 (19,396) (19,396)

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015/16:

Balance at 1 April 2015 (18,908) (18,908)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2015/16
Net operating costs for the financial year (399,098) (399,098)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (399,098) (399,098)

Net Parliamentary funding 398,037 398,037
Balance at 31 March 2016 (19,969) (19,969)
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016/17 2015/16
Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating costs for the financial year (442,137)        (399,098)        
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables 11 274                (775)               
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables 13 (420)               1,856             
(Decrease) / increase in provisions 14 (302)               53                  
Net cash outflow from operating activities (442,585)        (397,964)        

Net cash outflow before financing (442,585)        (397,964)        

Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received 442,710         398,037         
Net cash inflow from financing activities 442,710         398,037         

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12 125                73                  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 246                173                

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 371                246                



5

NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of the 
Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 issued by the Department of 
Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM 
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual 
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the 
particular circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The 
particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with 
items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set 
of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided, the financial statements are prepared on the 
going concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 
transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual 
does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger 
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in 
the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within 
the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 
20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.5 Pooled Budgets

The CCG is party to a pooled budget arrangement in relation to the loan of community equipment.  The pool is 
hosted by Middlesbrough Council.  As a commissioner of healthcare services, the CCG makes contributions to the 
pool that are used to purchase healthcare services.  Annual contributions to the pool 2016/17 £353,628 (2015/16: 
£170,967).

The CCG is also party to two other pooled budgets, one with Hartlepool Borough Council and one with Stockton-on-
Tees Borough Council for the Better Care Fund.  Contributions to Hartlepool Borough Council in 2016/17 were 
£6,273,000 (2015/16: £6,651,000), and contributions to Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council in 2016/17 were 
£11,496,000 (2015/16: £12,882,000).

1.6 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are 
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

1.6.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has 
made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements:

•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme 
expenditure; 
•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets; and
•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future 
obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment 
spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date;    
•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services; and                             •  to 
estimate an accrual for two months of prescribing expenditure based on the ten months of actual charges received 
from the Prescription Pricing Division.

1.7  Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.8 Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of 
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.9 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The CCG as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. 
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

•                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (2015/16: minus 1.55%)
•                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (2015/16: minus 1%)
•                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2015/16: plus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to 
the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to 
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases 
the legal liability remains with the CCG.

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014/15, a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim 
periods prior to 31 March 2013.  Any claims after the 31 March 2013 are managed as part of the CCGs normal 
business.  Under the scheme, CCGs contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required 
to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent 
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.17 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of 
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
•                Held to maturity investments;
•                Available for sale financial assets; and
•                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

All CCG assets have been classified as loans and receivables.

1.17.1 Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair 
value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment 
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.18 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the CCG becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired.

1.18.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from the Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.19 Value Added Tax

1.20 Losses and Special Payments

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

2. Other Operating Revenue
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Non-patient care services to other bodies -                     426                426                150                
Total other operating revenue -                     426                426                150                

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or 
passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 
handled.

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is 
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Programme revenue is revenue received that is directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and 
credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

•                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)

•                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH group bodies)

•                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contracts with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016/17, were they applied in that year.

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016/17, all of 
which are subject to consultation:

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which 
would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 
included as normal revenue expenditure).

•                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1.1 Employee benefits 2016/17

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,017            997                   20                  875                855                20                  142                142                -                     
Social security costs 102                102                   -                     95                  95                  -                     7                    7                    -                     
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 117                117                   -                     113                113                -                     4                    4                    -                     
Termination benefits 80                  80                     -                     80                  80                  -                     -                     -                     -                     
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,316            1,296                20                  1,163            1,143            20                  153                153                -                     

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year (2015/16: none).

3.1.1 Employee benefits prior year 2015/16

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 957                953                   4                    863                862                1                    94                  91                  3                    
Social security costs 90                  90                     -                     83                  83                  -                     7                    7                    -                     
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 128                128                   -                     123                123                -                     5                    5                    -                     
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,175 1,171 4 1,069 1,068 1 106 103 3

3.2 Average number of people employed
2015/16

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Number Number Number Number

Total 23                  22                     1                    21                  

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2015/16: none).

3.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements (Restated)
2016/17 2015/16
Number Number

Total Days Lost 237 45
Total Staff Years 26 24
Average working days lost 9 2

The staff sickness absence data for 2016/17 is based on the 12 months ended 31 December 2016 (2015/16: 12 months ended 31 December 2015).

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2015/16: none).

3.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Number £ Number £ Number £
£50,001 to £100,000 1                    80,000              1 80,000 0 0
Total 1 80,000 1 80,000 0 0

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Scheme.  Where the CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional 
costs are met by the CCG and not the NHS Pension scheme.

2015/16
Total

Admin ProgrammeTotal

Total Admin Programme

2016/17

2016/17 2016/17
Compulsory redundancies Total



12

NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the Scheme is 
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. 
An outline of these follows:

3.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its 
recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such 
valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to 
that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

For 2016/17, employer's contributions of £116,977 (2015/16: £128,126) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of
pensionable pay. The Scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation
Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government
website on 9 June 2014. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of Note 3.1.
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4. Operating expenses
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16

Admin Programme Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 828              153              981              732              
Executive governing body members 335              -                   335              443              
Total gross employee benefits 1,163           153              1,316           1,175           

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 3,622           8,674           12,296         11,695         
Services from foundation trusts -                   268,072       268,072       262,073       
Services from other NHS trusts -                   813              813              669              
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies -                   69,171         69,171         70,218         
Chair and Non Executive Members 101              -                   101              148              
Supplies and services – clinical -                   936              936              929              
Supplies and services – general 256              -                   256              213              
Consultancy services -                   39                39                -                   
Establishment 31                141              172              188              
Transport 2                  -                   2                  4                  
Premises 92                648              740              851              
Audit fees 65                -                   65                72                
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Internal audit services 30                -                   30                30                
·          Other services -                   -                   -               3                  
Prescribing costs -                   50,406         50,406         49,724         
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS -                   37,847         37,847         -                   
Other professional fees excl. audit 255              6                  261              297              
Clinical negligence 5                  -                   5                  5                  
Education and training -                   -                   -                   34                
Provisions (160)             (142)             (302)             53                
CHC Risk Pool contributions -                   337              337              842              
Other expenditure -                   -                   -                   25                
Total other costs 4,299           436,948       441,247       398,073       

Total operating expenses 5,462           437,101       442,563       399,248       
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5.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16
Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 15,687 109,176 8,134 75,274
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 15,370 108,224 8,008 74,687
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 97.98% 99.13% 98.45% 99.22%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 2,188 284,269 2,100 274,416
Total NHS Trade invoices paid within target 2,184 284,261 2,094 274,359
Percentage of NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.82% 100.00% 99.71% 99.98%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

6. Income Generation Activities

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities (2015/16: none).

7. Investment revenue

There was no investment revenue in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

8. Other (gains) and losses

There were no other (gains) and losses in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

9. Finance costs

There were no finance costs in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of 
a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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10. Operating Leases

10.1 As lessee

10.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 715                  14                    729                  853         
Total 715                  14                    729                  853         

10.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Payable:
No later than one year 67                    9                      76                    76           
Between one and five years -                       11                    11                    87           
Total 67                    20                    87                    163         

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars, none of which are 
individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of 
arrangement involved.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited.  The charges shown in note 10.1.1 from 
NHS Property Services Limited are intended to reflect the cost of occupancy, or void space, attributable to the CCG.  During 
2015/16, this was calculated on a cost recovery basis by NHS Property Services Limited.  For 2016/17 this charging mechanism 
changed with charges from NHS Property Services Limited now based on market rents.

The CCG has a lease with NHS Property Services Limited for the occupation of Billingham Health Centre.  In respect of all other 
properties, while our arrangements with Community Health Partnership's Limited and NHS Property Services Limited fall within 
the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note only 
includes future minimum lease payments for Billingham Health Centre and not for these other arrangements.
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11.  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current
31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 1,128                 -                         1,423                 -                         
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 169                    -                         330                    -                         
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 246                    -                         34                      -                         
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income -                         -                         11                      -                         
Provision for the impairment of receivables -                         -                         (19)                     -                         
VAT 55                      -                         92                      -                         
Other receivables -                         -                         1                        -                         
Total Trade and other receivables 1,598                 -                         1,872                 -                         

Total current and non current 1,598                 1,872                 

11.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

By up to three months 22                      176                    
By three to six months 8                        -                         
By more than six months 14                      4                        
Total 44                      180                    

£24k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the Statement of Financial Position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: none).

11.2  Provision for impairment of receivables 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2016 (19)                     (19)                     

Amounts written off during the year 19                      -                     
Balance at 31 March 2017 -                     (19)                     

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

Receivables are provided at the following rates:
NHS debt 0% 0%
Non NHS - 1 specific case £19k 100% provision 0% 6%

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As CCGs 
are funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
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12. Cash and cash equivalents

2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 246 173
Net change in year 125 73
Balance at 31 March 371 246

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 371 246
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 371 246

Balance at 31 March 371 246

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2017 on behalf of patients (31 March 2016: £nil).

13. Trade and other payables
Current Non-current Current Non-current

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 3,424                 -                         3,704                 -                         
NHS accruals 1,278                 -                         3,339                 -                         
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 1,214                 -                         1,047                 -                         
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 15,061               -                         13,620               -                         
Social security costs 17                      -                         16                      -                         
Tax 21                      -                         21                      -                         
Other payables 347                    -                         35                      -                         
Total Trade and Other Payables 21,362               -                         21,782               -                         

Total current and non-current 21,362               21,782               

Other payables include £308k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: £25k).

14. Provisions

There is a £3k provision to recognise in the financial statements at 31 March 2017 for Continuing Healthcare claims (31 March 2016: £305k).

15. Contingencies

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: none).

At 31 March 2017, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years (31 
March 2016: none).
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16. Commitments

17. Financial instruments

17.1 Financial risk management

17.1.1 Currency risk

17.1.2 Interest rate risk

17.1.3 Credit risk

17.1.4 Liquidity risk

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 
expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to 
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG 
is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-
day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its 
activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 
activity is subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2017 which are 
not otherwise included in these financial statements (31 March 2016: none).
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17. Financial instruments (continued)

17.2 Financial assets

Loans and 
Receivables Total

Loans and 
Receivables Total

2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16
£000 £000 £000 £000

Receivables:
·          NHS 1,128             1,128             1,423             1,423             
·          Non-NHS 169                169                341                341                
Cash at bank and in hand 371                371                246                246                
Other financial assets -                    -                    1                    1                    
Total at 31 March 1,668             1,668             2,011             2,011             

17.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total Other Total
2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16

£000 £000 £000 £000
Payables:
·          NHS 4,702 4,702 7,043 7,043
·          Non-NHS 16,622 16,622 14,703 14,703
Total at 31 March 21,324 21,324 21,746 21,746

18. Operating segments

19. Pooled budgets

The CCG entered into a pooled budget in relation to the loan of community equipment with:

- Middlesbrough Council
- Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council
- Hartlepool Borough Council
- NHS South Tees CCG

2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Income 1,181 717
Expenditure (1,152) (677)
Net Underspend 29 40

- Hartlepool Borough Council (Better Care Fund) 2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Income 7,839 7,475
Expenditure (7,414) (7,475)
Net Underspend 425 0

- Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council (Better Care Fund) 2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Income 14,536 14,265
Expenditure (12,943) (14,265)
Net Underspend 1,593 0

The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2016/17 was £17,769k which was used to commission a range of 
health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of the Better Care Fund (2015/16: £19,533k).  The 
Better Care Fund provides a vehicle for furthering integration between health and social care to support the 
transformation that is required to address the sustainability in the  system.  This contribution to the Better Care Fund 
is recognised within the financial statements as CCG expenditure.

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its operating 
segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered to be the 'chief 
operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of 
performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population.  As a 
result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.

The CCG entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Hartlepool Borough Council and Stockton-on-Tees 
Borough Council in respect of the Better Care Fund, with effect from 1 April 2015, through a section 75 agreement.  

The pool for Tees Community Equipment Services is hosted by Middlesbrough Council.  Under the arrangement, 
funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the loan of community equipment. The memorandum 
account for the pooled budget is:
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20. Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body Role Dates Related Party

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

A Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017
Academic Health Science Network for the North East 
& North Cumbria Ltd 15 0 0 0

A Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017
County Durham & Darlington NHS FT (North East 
Leadership academy) 1,284 0 67 0

A Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 NHS Darlington CCG 131 0 136 123
Dr B Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Havelock Grange Practice 1,657 4 96 0
Dr B Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365 0 310 0
G Niven Chief Financial Officer 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 NHS Darlington CCG 131 0 136 123
Dr N Timlin GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 McKenzie House Surgery 1,953 39 128 0
Dr N Timlin GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365 0 310 0
Dr PD Williams GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 30/04/2017 Arrival Practice 325 0 38 0
Dr PD Williams GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 30/04/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365 0 310 0
J Golightly Executive Nurse 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 NHS South Tees CCG 6,516 153 0 43
Dr D Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Alma Medical Centre 1,238 0 38 0
Dr D Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365 0 310 0
Dr D Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Queens Park Medical Centre 2,415 10 19 0
Dr D Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Northern Doctors Urgent Care 2,144 0 0 0
Dr S Patel GP Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365 0 310 0
Dr S Patel GP Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Seaton Surgery 385 7 0 0
Dr S Hassan GP Governing Body Member 01/06/2016 - 31/03/2017 Woodlands Family Medical Centre 1,644 0 68 0
Dr S Hassan GP Governing Body Member 01/06/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365 0 310 0
A MacKay Governing Body Lay Member 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 16,569 36 85 0
A MacKay Governing Body Lay Member 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 NHS Darlington CCG 131 0 136 123
J Flook Governing Body Lay Member 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 NHS Darlington CCG 131 0 136 123

L Tempest
Director of Performance, Planning & 
Assurance 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 North Tees & Hartlepool NHS FT 179,869 0 314 0

L Tempest
Director of Performance, Planning & 
Assurance 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 NHS Darlington CCG 131 0 136 123

K Hawkins
Director of Commissioning & 
Transformation 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 NHS Darlington CCG 131 0 136 123

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

• NHS England (including North of England Commissioning Support Unit); • NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Foundation Trusts; • NHS Business Services Authority.
• NHS Trusts; • NHS Property Services.

2015/16 comparative figures:

Governing Body member Dates Related Party

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016
Academic Health Science Network for the North East 
& North Cumbria Ltd 12 0 0 0

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 27/05/2015 - 31/03/2016 NHS Darlington CCG 0 35 0 0
Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Havelock Grange Practice 316 4 0 0
Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Hartlepool and Stockton Health Ltd 369 0 0 0
Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Virgin Healthcare Hartlepool 1,589 0 220 0
Dr Nick Timlin GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 McKenzie House Surgery 421 1 0 0
Dr Nick Timlin GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Hartlepool and Stockton Health Ltd 369 0 0 0
Dr Paul Williams GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 A & B Medical Practice 23 0 0 0
Dr Paul Williams GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Catalyst Stockton on Tees Ltd 1,302 0 0 0
Dr Paul Williams GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Arrival Practice 42 0 0 0
Dr Paul Williams GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Hartlepool and Stockton Health Ltd 369 0 0 0
Ms Jean Golightly Executive Nurse 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 NHS South Tees CCG 4,182 151 601 30
Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Alma Medical Centre 169 0 0 0
Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Queen Park Medical Centre 346 0 0 0
Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Hartlepool and Stockton Health Ltd 369 0 0 0
Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Northern Doctors Urgent Care 1,595 0 2 0
Dr Savi Patel Governing Body Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Hartlepool and Stockton Health Ltd 369 0 0 0
Jane Humphreys Governing Body Lay Member 01/04/2015 - 31/03/2016 Stockton Borough Council 17,400 0 404 0

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

During 2015/16 the CCG undertook transactions with the following Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them:

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them:

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the 
Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been 
with Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council and Hartlepool Borough Council.

The increase in related parties disclosed in the table above relate to the Joint Management Structure from the 1st January 2017, where CCG Governing Members are jointly appointed across 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG and Darlington CCG.
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21. Events after the end of the reporting period

22. Losses and special payments

There were no losses or special payments identified in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

23. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16
Target Performance Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 451,564           442,137           405,859 399,098
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions -                  -                  -                       -                      
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 451,564           442,137           405,859            399,098           
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions -                  -                  -                       -                      

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions 39,273             37,671             -                       -                      
Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 6,403              5,462              6,884                6,008              

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 445,161           6,403                451,564           
Net operating cost for the financial year 436,675           5,462                442,137           
Underspend against revenue resource 8,486              941                   9,427              

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 398,974           6,884                405,858           
Net operating cost for the financial year 393,090           6,008                399,098           
Underspend against revenue resource 5,884              876                   6,760              

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.

The CCG received no capital resource during 2016/17 and incurred no capital expenditure (2015/16: none).

During 2016/17, all CCGs were mandated by NHS England to hold 1% of their total funding allocation uncommitted as a ‘risk 
reserve’.  For HAST CCG this equated to £4,366k.  In March 2017, NHS England confirmed that all CCGs were required to 
increase their surplus by the value of this risk reserve.  This has resulted in the increase in underspend against revenue 
resource in 2016/17 shown above.  



 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING 
BODY OF NHS HARTLEPOOL AND STOCKTON-ON-TEES CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 
Clinical Commissioning Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Statement 
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the 
related notes 1 to 23. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 
2016/17 HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual (“the 2016/17 FReM”) as 
contained in the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the 
Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the 
Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (“the 
Accounts Direction”). 
 
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is 
subject to audit, being:  
 

• the table of salaries and allowances of senior officers on page 117 and 
related narrative notes on pages 119 to 120; 

• the table of pension benefits of senior officers on pages 123 to 124;  

• the analysis of staff numbers on page 127 and 128; and 

• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on pages 121 and 122. 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Hartelpool 
and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with Part 5 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and for no other purpose as set out in 
paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies 
published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited.  Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the members as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set 
out on pages 87 and 88, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and 
is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. Our 
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.  We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the 
regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 (“the Code of Audit Practice”). 
 



 
 

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible 
for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
the CCG’s resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 
21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must 
not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of:  
 

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
Accountable Officer; and  

• the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual 
Report and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect 
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course 
of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
 
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have 
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions 
conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, 
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General in November 2016, as to whether the CCG had proper 
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources 
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The 
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to 
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG 
put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 
 



 
 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our 
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a 
view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. 
 
Opinion on regularity 
 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the 
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Opinion on the financial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2017 and of 
its net operating costs for the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012 and the Accounts Direction issued thereunder. 

Opinion on other matters 
 
In our opinion: 
 

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Directions made 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012); and 

• the other information published together with the audited financial statements 
in the Annual Report and Accounts is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We are required to report to you if: 
 

• in our opinion, the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance 
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board; or 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the 
CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision 
which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its 
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 



 
 

• we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the 
year ended 31 March 2017. 

We have nothing to report in these respects.  
 
Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit 
Practice. 
 
 
 
 
Nicola Wright  
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
   May 2017 
 
 
 
 
The maintenance and integrity of the NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning 
Group web site is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve 
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the web site. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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